CAPI THE CANADIAN AGRI-FOOD POLICY INSTITUTE

June 2021 Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

REPORT PREPARED FOR CAPI BY ADAMOWICZ, W., GODDARD, E, LUCKERT, M AND J. PATTISON-WILLIAMS, WITH A. OTERO GARCIA, D. MCKENZIE, J. AIKEN, G. DUROCHER, MERLIN UWALAKA, A. KLOTZ AND J. FLESCH.



The Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute 960 Carling Avenue, CEF Building 60 Ottawa, ON K1A 0C6 Telephone: 613-759-1027 www.capi-icpa.ca



Liability Statement

This report was developed based on current information and accepted disciplinary methodology. Users of the data and information contained herein are solely responsible for its use. The authors are not liable for any loss or damage arising from use of the information contained in this report.

Funding and Disclaimer

The report was prepared as information for the Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute. However, the views and opinions expressed in this report are not necessarily those of the Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank CAPI for the opportunity to develop this report and for their feedback and commentary. The authors would also like to thank the funding agencies who supported research that provided information reported in this manuscript. These agencies include the Alberta Prion Research Institute, Genome Alberta, Genome Canada, PrionNet and SSHRC. The authors would also like to thank collaborators at the University of Alberta, University of Calgary and government agencies for their support, collaboration and commentary on the analysis of the social science aspects of CWD, including, Brenda Parlee, Lusi Xie, Anne Hubbs, Evie Merrill, Hermann Schaetzl, Matt Besko and Margo Pybus.

The authors would like to thank Dr. Penny Greenwood of the CFIA for her valuable comments on an earlier draft of this report. We also wish to thank the participants in the CAPI workshops and the anonymous reviewers for comments. Remaining errors or omissions are the responsibility of the authors.

Suggested Citation

Adamowicz, W., Goddard, E, Luckert, M and J. Pattison-Williams, with A. Otero Garcia, D. McKenzie, J. Aiken, G. Durocher, Merlin Uwalaka, A. Klotz and J. Flesch. 2021. Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options. A Report Prepared for the Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) is a prion disease that affects cervid (deer) species and has been found in both wild and farmed populations in the U.S., Canada and abroad. In this report policy options that may be relevant to reducing the impact of CWD on the Canadian agri-food and agriculture sector are described. Given the nature of the disease, policy options are relevant to either the farmed or wild sector or both, as appropriate. The policy options are situated in the context of the current state of knowledge, stakeholder and rightsholder risk perceptions and policy preferences.

The disease was initially observed in research facilities of Colorado and Wyoming in the late 1960s. In Canada, the first CWD cases were identified, retrospectively, in mule deer at the Toronto Zoo, from postmortems on animal samples from deaths over the period 1973 to 1981 (7 positive animals found from deaths occurring over the period 1975 to 1979) (Dubé et al, 2006). The first farmed cervid was found with the disease in 1996 in a Saskatchewan elk farm (in captive elk that were imported from South Dakota (Williams and Miller, 2002)). In the following years, CWD was detected in farmed white-tailed deer and elk in Alberta and in wild cervid populations from Saskatchewan and Alberta (Kahn et al., 2004). CWD was found in a red deer farm in Quebec in 2018. CWD prevalence in North America has greatly increased in the last decade. Prion infectivity persists in the environment—animal carcasses, predator faeces, soil and plants—for more than 10 years, serving as a long-term source of infection (Georgsson et al., 2006).

To date, no natural transmission of CWD to species outside the Cervidae family has been documented in wild or domestic animal populations but research is on-going. The transmission of prions from one species to another is limited by a transmission barrier. The strength of this barrier depends on multiple factors including the primary sequence of the PrPC of the new host and the PrPCWD from the inoculum and the transmitted prion strain (e.g., Hill et al., 2000). Experimental data, however, has shown that the transmission of CWD to other species, such as cats, pig, sheep and rodents, is possible.

Of special concern is the possible transmission of CWD to non-cervid species used in the human food supply chain, especially cattle and other livestock, due to the potential emergence of prions with zoonotic capacity (as with bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE)). The interaction of cattle and cervids is common in CWD-affected areas of North America. CWD agents from different species (white-tailed deer, mule deer and elk) are transmissible to cattle after intracerebral inoculation (Hamir et al., 2005; Hamir et al., 2011b; Greenlee et al., 2012), and the characteristics of the disease are very different from BSE (Hamir et al., 2011b). In experimental treatments, no oral transmission of CWD to cattle has occurred, and no CWD prions were detected in cattle that were exposed to CWD-contaminated paddocks for 10 years (Williams et al., 2018). Thus, the risk of CWD transmission to cattle from normal interaction with cervids is currently believed to be very low. There is no evidence of transmission to humans, yet there are concerns about the zoonotic potential of CWD. Nonetheless, questions remain regarding CWD transmission to other wild and domestic animals, into the human food supply (in the case of untested animals and antler velvet) or to humans themselves. Further research into

these issues is needed. Furthermore, active disease management practices are warranted to minimize the risk of CWD transmission.

The perspectives of rightsholders and stakeholders impacted by CWD are important for future policies. Using primary survey data, supplemented by secondary data sources, we present the level of knowledge, attitudes and management preferences for CWD. Although the methods to elicit these perspectives has some variation due to the unique characteristics of each group, several trends were observed:

Canadian Public:

- Over time, the number of people who have ever eaten venison has increased. Eating frequency does not appear to be increasing across the population over time
- Awareness and knowledge of CWD has dramatically *declined* across time.
- The public is significantly interested in mandatory CWD animal testing before meat is marketed and continues to be interested in supporting tax increases to pay for management or surveillance. This implies that healthy cervid populations are important to the Canadian public.

Indigenous Rightsholders

- Ungulates (noting particularly caribou to whom transmission is possible) are a major component of food security for Indigenous peoples, but also contribute to significant cultural values including sharing networks.
- Concerns about cultural tipping points, arising from environmental conditions, costs, and time constraints of local people, have been expressed by First Nations. However, safety of ungulate meat is an important concern, given the dietary role of cervids.
- The Alberta Assembly of Tribal Chiefs, representing First Nations in Treaty 6, 7 and 8, passed a resolution in June 2019 supporting collaborative research on CWD surveillance.
- There are questions about how the continued spread of CWD, as well as management efforts (e.g., health advisories), has the potential to contribute to increased food insecurity among Indigenous communities, whose traditional economies are also compromised by other stresses, such as habitat degradation and climate change.
- A greater role of communities in disease surveillance (e.g., monitoring) and in decisions of wildlife management may contribute to both social and ecological resilience. Communication and management programs must be centered in the Indigenous communities with recognition of the importance of the cultural significance and context of wildlife.

Cervid Producers

• Cervid farming in Canada was a relatively new industry when CWD was discovered in the farmed sector in Canada.

- CWD caused a serious negative economic shock to the industry, which has been declining in total farms and total animals since CWD was found.
- Cervid farmers are very aware of and knowledgeable about CWD due to the significant economic impact on the industry
- The herd certification program (originally VHCP, now HCP), initiated in 2002 and revamped in 2018, is aimed at preventing CWD exposure, certifying safe cervid production for consumption or trade purposes, and is a prerequisite for the federal government undertaking destruction of a confirmed infected herd and compensating owners should CWD be discovered. Some provinces have complementary programs.
- Mandatory testing for <u>all</u> farmed cervids slaughtered (or other deaths) in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Quebec (rather than sampling as was done prior to 2018) and the Yukon makes testing rates for CWD among farmed cervids higher than in wild cervids; positive cases recently are lower in absolute numbers relative to wild cervids.

Alberta Hunters

- An extensive CWD monitoring and surveillance program, and hunter surveys in the province, have shown relatively constant hunter awareness and perceptions of CWD over time.
- License sales are not declining over time, indicating that hunters are not reducing their effort, even with moderately high levels of CWD present. Hunters are concerned about CWD impacts on wildlife herd health, and do not think eradication is likely.
- US research indicates reduced hunting effort occurs when CWD reaches high (>30%) prevalence levels. While this is not evident yet in Canada, increasing numbers of hunters are checking prevalence levels prior to draw submission, indicating a shift could occur if prevalence increases dramatically.
- Management options such as hunting season expansion can provide a high benefit-low cost approach to CWD management rather than financially and socially costly herd reduction approaches.
- The removal of the replacement tag program in Alberta in 2019 (for harvested deer that test positive) was not popular among some hunters although recent data suggests that the majority of hunters are not opposed to this change in program. (Source: Adamowicz et al. 2019, 2020).

Professional Outfitters

- Survey results show that outfitters had the highest awareness of the disease in wild cervids when compared with other stakeholder groups, yet did not support CWD management options that increase hunting of animals
- Their views about acceptable management strategies differ considerably from hunter views and from views of the public
- Even given the severity of CWD spread in parts of the country, CWD is not seen to be the most significant risk to outfitter livelihood associated with cervid populations.

Cow Calf Cattle Operations

- Wild ungulates are a concern in terms of disease transmission (CWD and other diseases) and feed consumption.
- Producers generally like cervids and do not want to see them eradicated from their properties and worry about costs of reducing contact between cattle and cervids.
- Preliminary results indicate limited concern over possible trade barriers impacting the beef industry due to CWD.

There are numerous policy response areas related to CWD that are being considered. The policy space is complicated by the potential for the disease to cross both wildlife and domesticated animals, as well as provincial and national borders. Commensurately, there are a complex set of agencies associated with parts of the policy environment. No one agency has authority over all of the recommended or identified policy areas considered below. Associated industries are also involved in policy making processes and could implement codes of conduct to address CWD. However, clarifying which and how policy options might be implemented (including identifying any coordinating agency responsibilities) is still to be determined. The disease is considered to have differing degrees of urgency among constituencies and development of policies based on risk assessments must be careful not to be too reactive as the trade-offs can be difficult to assess *ex ante*.

Despite these difficulties, we identify and discuss 10 policy options. The focus is primarily on policies that directly (cervid farm) and indirectly (through reducing spread and prevalence in the wild) affect the Canadian agri-food and agriculture sectors. The ten options chosen are those for which there are frequent recommendations or for which the outcomes seem clearer given previous policies applied across a range of North American jurisdictions and based on research findings to date. In most cases, due to limited publicly available data on the costs of programs which have been implemented by federal or provincial agencies, it is not possible to develop consistent measures of costs or benefits of the suggested policies to specific groups. Decisions around policy adoption in this area cannot purely be made on the basis of market costs and benefits as the disease being managed has the capacity to inflict high non-market costs. Significant research is necessary to properly assess public and private market and non-market values associated with the outcomes of policy choices. Furthermore, additional detail on a range of items including enforcement efficacy and cost, communication approaches and other elements will be required for a complete analysis. Nevertheless, we present an overview of ten policy areas which can be described as having the most potential for reducing the impact of CWD on the Canadian agri-food and agriculture sectors. Later in the document we identify a broader range of policy measures to be considered that include investing in research and other measures to address CWD concerns. The 10 briefly described policies are presented in the following table along with our recommendations regarding whether they should be implemented, recognizing the need for further information to provide a comprehensive final recommendation. The colors in the table reflect policies that appear more socially beneficial (green) to less so (red).

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|--------------------|---|
| Preventing the spread to boreal caribou by targeted harvesting of deer and monitoring (AB and SK) | Reduced risk to a threatened species | Cost of targeted harvest increases by resident hunters and Indigenous communities could be small, or even negative (since increases in harvests generate economic benefits) but program costs and current and future costs arising from other users of deer need to be considered. | Strongly recommend | High benefit and low-cost opportunity to reduce risk to a threatened species – but the efficacy of targeted harvests on CWD spread must be monitored and assessed as well as impacts on other users. |
| Require animal testing for all farmed cervids slaughtered (dying) in Canada | Assured food safety and quality | One estimate suggests Alberta spent \$500,000 in 2003 on farmed and hunted animal testing; this value will be higher now. The question of cost to cervid farmers is also important as is compliance from all sectors including hunt farms | Strongly recommend | Difficult to protect either Indigenous people or hunters in the same way as people who consume from farms and the risks are bigger |

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|---|---|
| Make the Chronic Wasting Disease Herd Certification Program mandatory | This program is the way for farmers to be certified for export, have animals be destroyed with compensation if CWD is found, although not 100% of farmers participate. Program would provide the highest level of biosecurity which could reduce potential environmental spread to other farms | Costs are high for government to enforce and very high for farmers as if farmers are not registered the government does not depopulate. This approach will likely not reduce CWD prevalence in wild populations | This should be mandatory throughout the country to maintain safety and also protect trade and market access | Farmers may be unaware of the changes in regulations or speed of spread – modest incentives might encourage adoption although the requirements are stringent and costly for producers |
| Employ hunter harvest to reduce spread of CWD in wild populations (spatial targeting, etc.) | Reduce risk to caribou, and unaffected regions. Hunter benefits generated. This could reduce transmission from wild animals to the environment | Relatively small (additional administrative actions and program costs) but some sectors and users may be adversely affected at least in short run (outfitters) and impacts on other users in the longer term need to be evaluated. | Recommend | Positive incentives to hunters could be employed. But such programs must be evaluated for their efficacy (biological and economic) in an adaptive management fashion. |

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| Increase monitoring / surveillance for CWD in wild populations (improve sampling, public investment in testing, other options). | Identify areas of new spread, act quickly to address. | Potentially significant (testing capacity, incentives to support submissions) | Recommend (supported by public and hunters), but funding and scale will be challenging. | May require positive incentives to hunters, landowners, others. Technology development important and necessary |
| Improvements in information provision about CWD. | Find low cost, targeted ways to provide more information with greater efficacy to all rightsholder and stakeholder groups. | Marginal cost to communicate findings from existing research projects | Recommend. | Simple and direct approach to increase awareness. |
| Prohibit or delay repopulation of CWD depopulated farms with cervids or other animals such as bison or cattle | Ensure safety for future animals and food supply, although there is one long term study showing no evidence of transmission of CWD from environment to cattle grazing, in this case precaution could be protective in an important industry | The costs would be very high for landowners – in particular affecting the commercial value of their land through reduced use options | Uncertain but likely recommend. | This will be unpopular for some groups. Research on time for disappearance of CWD from the environment on depopulated farms required. |

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|---|--|
| Remediate sites known to have CWD present in soil, plants, etc. | Reduce risks to farmed and wild cervids | High cost except for very concentrated areas | Effective mechanisms at scale have not yet been developed suggesting no action except for testing / research on very focused sites | Continue research in the area to develop the technology, including products and processes to treat the environment |
| Provide incentives to address carcass disposal problems in hunting | Reduce risks of spread, transmission elsewhere. | Logistically difficult, dispersed and difficult to monitor. Hunters adversely affected. | Uncertain | Positive incentives, information required. |
| Close cervid farms | Closing farms would only reduce the risk of CWD in the farmed cervid food chains for provinces that currently do not mandate testing (AB, SK, QC, MB and Yukon currently require testing) resulting in minimal if any benefits. There are no apparent benefits to the broader Canadian agricultural sector. Risks to other agriculture sectors | Relatively small sector, but equity issues arise. The equity issues could be resolved by mandating testing and HCP participation- reducing costs and protecting wild animals and commercial food supplies. | No action | Not an effective policy option to reduce risks to the agricultural sector or wild populations. |

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--------|------------------------------|-------|----------------|----------|
| | stemming from | | | |
| | contamination by the wild | | | |
| | cervid populations (e.g., | | | |
| | cattle, grain, forages) will | | | |
| | remain. | | | |
| | Precautions such as | | | |
| | licensing new farms and | | | |
| | requiring farms to | | | |
| | participate in the HCP and | | | |
| | maintaining biosecurity | | | |
| | protocols are recommended | | | |
| | for regions with and without | | | |
| | CWD. However, in | | | |
| | provinces where the wild | | | |
| | population has not yet been | | | |
| | infected it would be prudent | | | |
| | to take precautions to | | | |
| | prevent the risk of spread | | | |
| | from farmed populations to | | | |
| | the wild. Such precautions | | | |
| | include alternatives that do | | | |
| | not involve closing all | | | |
| | cervid farms. | | | |
| | | | | |

Further benefit cost analysis should be conducted to solidify rationale for intervention and to identify costs and benefits to particular groups. We have also identified a number of research areas in both the biological sciences and the social sciences that should be invested in to help assess policy options.

While policies can be implemented within Canada, international coordination is critical to future spread of a wildlife disease. Without coordinating CWD policies with the US, the Canadian policies may be less effective. Similarly, coordination between provinces, and between the provinces and the federal government, will continue to be important in the development and implementation of CWD policy.

Overall, data confirm that developing policy in this area is complex because, for any policy option, there are groups who perceive the approach as beneficial while others who perceive it as costly. Clarification and careful communication of the impacts of the policy on different sectors, will be critical for policy application.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | ii |
|--|-----|
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | xii |
| LIST OF TABLES | xiv |
| LIST OF FIGURES | xiv |
| 1.0 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 2.0 SCIENTIFIC BACKGROUND AND CWD TRANSMISSION | |
| What is Chronic Wasting Disease? | |
| CWD in Cervids | 3 |
| History / Origins of CWD | 3 |
| Mechanisms of CWD transmission | 5 |
| Factors determining susceptibility to CWD in cervids | 6 |
| Cervid species susceptible to CWD | 6 |
| Potential for CWD transmission to other species | 7 |
| Livestock species | 7 |
| Other wildlife species | 8 |
| Humans | 9 |
| 3.0 CURRENT STATE | |
| Woodland Caribou and CWD | 13 |
| Jurisdictional Issues | 16 |
| Canadian National Wildlife Management Frameworks | 17 |
| Provincial and Territorial Wildlife Management | |
| Pan-Canadian Structures and Support Organizations | |
| First Nations and Indigenous People | 19 |
| Cervid Management and CWD | 19 |
| Provincial Agencies and CWD | 20 |
| 4.0 STAKEHOLDER DATA SYNTHESIS | |
| Canadian Public | 22 |
| Indigenous Rightsholders | |
| Farmed Cervid Sector | |
| Alberta Hunters | 40 |
| Professional Outfitters | 49 |
| Cow Calf Cattle Operations | 56 |
| Property Rights | 57 |
| Synthesis of Perspectives | 59 |
| 5.0 INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND CHRONIC WASTING DISEASE | 63 |
| 6.0 POLICY OPTIONS | 67 |
| | xii |

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute

| | 0 | 2 | | | | | | |
|-----------|----------|--------------------|---------------|-------------------|--------------------|---------------|--------------------|-------|
| Chronic V | Wasting | Disease and | l the Canadia | n Agriculture and | d Agri-food Sector | rs: Current K | Inowledge , | Risks |
| and Polic | y Option | ıs | | 8 | 8 | | 8 / | |

| Array of Options |
|--|
| Policy Option 1: Preventing the spread to boreal caribou by targeted harvesting of deer and |
| monitoring (AB and SK) |
| Policy Option 2: Require animal testing for all cervids slaughtered (dying) in Canada70 |
| Policy Option 3: Make the Chronic Wasting Disease Herd Certification Program mandatory71 |
| Policy Option 4: Employ hunter harvest to reduce spread of CWD in wild populations (spatial |
| targeting, etc.) |
| Policy Option 5: Increase monitoring / surveillance for CWD in wild populations (improve |
| sampling, public investment in testing, other options)73 |
| Policy Option 6: Improvements in information provision about CWD74 |
| Policy Option 7: Prohibit or delay repopulation of depopulated farms with cervids or other animals |
| such as bison or cattle76 |
| Policy Option 8: Remediate sites known to have CWD present in soil, plants, etc |
| Policy Option 9: Provide incentives to address carcass disposal problems in hunting77 |
| Policy Option 10: Close cervid farms78 |
| Additional policy options: |
| Feeding and bait bans81 |
| Requirements for wild cervid processors |
| Encourage natural predators of wild cervids |
| Investment in technologies—including new testing approaches, vaccines, and gene drives |
| Palicy Unknowing |
| Policy Ulikinowiis |
| Summary |
| 7.0 COVID-19 IMPLICATIONS |
| 8.0 CONCLUSIONS |
| REFERENCES |
| Appendix 1: Property right characteristics used for describing cervid benefit streams for |
| the General Public and Hunter/Landowners (Source: Durocher and Luckert, 2020) 118 |
| Appendix 2: Cervid Property Rights in Alberta120 |
| Appendix 2a: Cervid Property Rights Framework for the General Public in Alberta |
| Appendix 2b: Cervid Property Rights Framework for Hunters and Landowners in Alberta 121 |
| Appendix 3: Cervid Property Rights in Saskatchewan124 |
| Appendix 3.1 Cervid Property Rights Framework for the General Public in Saskatchewan 124 |
| Appendix 3.2 Cervid Property Rights Framework for Hunters in Saskatchewan |
| Annendix 4. Potential CWD management actions and the corresponding affected property |
| reprinting 4. I otential C WD management actions and the corresponding anected property |
| right characteristics for numers and fandowners (Source: Durocher and Luckert, 2020). |
| |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1. Provincial agencies responsible for wildlife management and CWD in Canada | 20 |
|---|------------|
| Table 2. National Survey Characteristics. | 23 |
| Table 3. Survey results on CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions (Source: Klotz et al. 2020a) | 23 |
| Table 4. Acceptability of different CWD management options (Source: Klotz et al. 2020a) | 24 |
| Table 5. Acceptability of New CWD Management Options (Klotz et al., 2020a) | 25 |
| Table 6. WTP for traceability and animal testing in venison purchases | 26 |
| Table 7. Cervid farmer survey results on CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions (Source: Klotz et al., | |
| 2020a) | 37 |
| Table 8. Acceptability of Different CWD Management Options (Source: Klotz et al., 2020). | 38 |
| Table 9. Overview of surveys conducted of Alberta deer hunters (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2008, 2019, 2020) | |
| funded by the Alberta Prion Research Institute | 41 |
| Table 10. Policy options described in the AB Hunter Surveys 2017-2019 (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020). | .46 |
| Table 11. Professional outfitter survey design process 2020 | 49 |
| Table 12. Survey results on outfitter CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions (Source: Klotz et al., 2020 |)b). 50 |
| Table 13. Acceptability of Different CWD Management Options to Outfitters (Source: Klotz et al., 2020b) | 51 |
| Table 14. Outfitter perception of level of information about CWD (Source: Klotz et al., 2020b) | 53 |
| Table 15. Professional outfitter CWD information sources and frequency (Source: Klotz et al., 2020b) | 54 |
| Table 16. Summary of Results of Stakeholder Preferences for Proposed Policy Options (Source: Durocher and | |
| Luckert, 2020) | 59 |
| Table 17. Hay Industry Trade, Canada | 65 |
| Table 18. Benefit cost analysis summary of policy options for CWD management in Canada | 86 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. Distribution of Chronic Wasting Disease in North America in 2008 and 2020 (Source: Richards, 2020) | .11 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2. Prevalence of CWD in male mule deer in Alberta in 2010 and 2019. Source: Government of Alberta | |
| (2020a) | 12 |
| Figure 3. CWD prevalence and species infected in Saskatchewan (Source: CWHC, 2020; Government of | |
| Saskatchewan, 2029) | 12 |
| Figure 4. Number of wild cervids tested and positive cases in Alberta and Saskatchewan (Source: CWD Alliance, | , |
| n.d.) | 13 |
| Figure 5. CWD Positive Cases (left) and boreal caribou herd areas (right) in Saskatchewan (Source: CWHC, 20, | 18; |
| Government of Saskatchewan, 2017) | 15 |
| Figure 6. CWD positive cases and Wildlife Management Units (left) and boreal caribou herd areas (right) in | |
| Alberta. (Source: Government of Alberta, 2020; Hervieux et al., 2013) | 16 |
| Figure 7. Number of Canadian deer and elk farms and average animals per farm from 2001-2016. (Source: AAF | С, |
| 2019) | 31 |
| Figure 8. Number of farmed cervids by species in Quebec between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019) | 32 |
| Figure 9. Number of farmed cervids by species in Ontario between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019) | 32 |
| Figure 10. Number of farmed cervids by species in Saskatchewan between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019) | 33 |
| Figure 11. Number of farmed cervids by species in Alberta between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019) | 33 |
| Figure 12. Domestic cervids in Canada 2008 - 2018. (Source: AAFC, 2019) | 34 |
| Figure 13. Number of cervid farms in Canada found with CWD (Source: CFIA, 2020) | 36 |
| | xiv |

| Figure 14. Cervid producer agreement with various management options vs the general population (Source: Klotz | |
|--|----|
| et al., 2020a) | 39 |
| Figure 15. Chronic wasting disease in wild deer in Alberta from 2005 – 2018 (Source: AEP, 2019) | 42 |
| Figure 16. Percentage of hunters that check for CWD presence in WMUs prior to submitting draw applications | |
| based upon 2017-2019 hunter surveys (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020) | 43 |
| Figure 17. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to wildlife in Alberta (Source: Adamowicz et al 2019, | |
| 2020) | 44 |
| Figure 18. Alberta hunter perceptions of the future of CWD in Alberta (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020)4 | 44 |
| Figure 19. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to human health (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020). | • |
| | 45 |
| Figure 20. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to human health based upon willingness to eat or give | |
| away meat before receiving CWD test results (Source: Adamowicz 2008; Adamowicz et al, 2019, 2020)4 | 45 |
| Figure 21. Alberta hunter preferences on CWD management options (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020)4 | 47 |

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) is a prion disease that affects cervids (deer, elk, etc.) and has been found in both wild and farmed populations in the U.S., Canada and abroad. CWD in wild populations is spreading and prevalence is increasing in Alberta and Saskatchewan. In North America, the disease has been found in white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*), mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*), elk (*Cervus canadensis*) and moose (*Alces alces*). Outbreaks also occur in the cervid farming sector, including the finding of CWD on a red deer farm in Quebec in September 2018. CWD has also spread beyond North America. The disease has also been found in Finland, Sweden and Norway, in respectively, European elk (*Alces alces*), red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) and reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus*). In South Korea, CWD has been found in elk (*Cervus canadensis*) as well as other farmed deer species (CWD Alliance., n.d.; Yle, 2018; VKM, 2017).

There are many rightsholders, stakeholders and interested parties affected by CWD. Hunters and professional outfitters are affected because CWD affects their ability to hunt, earn a living and potentially acquire food. Landowners are affected, whether or not they are hunters, allow hunters on their land because wildlife can spread CWD on their property. Indigenous peoples are and will be affected by CWD because cervid species are an important food source and integral part of cultural identities. Cervid farmers are impacted by the disease as their products (animals, semen, meat, antler velvet) are only valuable if their animals have clean bills of health. The general public is also affected by CWD incidence and management costs through their appreciation of the importance of these animals on the landscape. Concerns about CWD also transcend the current species that are infected, in that agricultural producers and health officials are cognisant of the potential for CWD to spread to non-cervid agricultural species and even potentially spread to humans. CWD is also spread environmentally through soils and plants. Overall, the concerns related to CWD are broad, and increasing with CWD spread and prevalence.

Also concerned are wildlife managers and other government officials attempting to address the disease. Recent changes in the CWD management practices of the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) may also affect the incidence of CWD in the farmed sector and the status of the industry as a quality supplier of meat and other cervid products. Wildlife managers and the public, who have concerns about spread in the wild, face challenges in coordinating management across domestic and international borders in the context of uncertainty about how the disease will evolve in the future. This review synthesizes the literature on CWD with a focus on current knowledge surrounding implications for disease spread and surveillance/management options, implications for wilderness and the agriculture and agri-food sectors, potential risks to these sectors, and policy options that may be considered to address CWD.

The sections of the review will include:

• The current state of knowledge regarding CWD transmission within cervid populations, and between cervid populations and other populations (humans, livestock, etc.), transmission through the environment to plants, crops, and soils and ameliorating factors.

- A description of the current state of CWD in Canada, including the regulatory structure surrounding CWD in farmed and wild populations.
- A synthesis of knowledge, preference and behavioural intention data collected across Canada from the general public, Indigenous communities, hunters, professional outfitters, livestock producers and others regarding perceptions of CWD risks and preferences for policy options.
- The current state of the farmed cervid sector, the economic sectors related to wild ungulate populations (tourism, hunting, outfitting, etc.), and related to extensive livestock production (cow-calf sectors).
- A review of international trade regulations relating to CWD in wild and farmed cervids and their products.
- A description of policy options to address CWD in wild and farmed populations and the evidence regarding costs and benefits of such policy options, including policy options that need more evaluation.
- Conclusions and recommendations regarding policy options, specifically those policy options that may relate directly and indirectly to CWD and the Canadian agriculture and agri-food sectors.

2.0 SCIENTIFIC BACKGROUND AND CWD TRANSMISSION¹

What is Chronic Wasting Disease?

CWD is a prion disease, or Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy (TSE), affecting numerous species of cervids in North America, South Korea, and Scandinavia. TSEs are neurodegenerative diseases of mammals caused by prions, which are infectious, aberrant proteins generated by the misfolding of the cellular prion protein (PrPC). PrPC is a protein naturally present in high amounts in the Central Nervous System (CNS) of all mammalian species and is encoded by the PRNP gene (Bendheim et al., 1992; Prusiner, 1998b). The infectious protein (PrPCWD in CWD) has the ability to imprint its abnormal conformation onto endogenous PrPC and, once in the brain, triggers a progressive neurodegenerative process that always leads to death (Prusiner, 1982, 1998a). Along with scrapie, the prion disease of sheep and goats, CWD stands out for being highly transmissible, both directly through animal-to-animal interactions (Hoinville, 1996; Miller and Williams, 2003), and indirectly through environmental exposure (Miller et al., 2004; Georgsson et al., 2006). CWD is, however, unique among prion diseases because it is the only TSE found in both farmed and wild animals.

CWD in Cervids

History / Origins of CWD

Although the exact time and place of emergence of CWD remains unknown, the disease was initially observed in research facilities of Colorado and Wyoming in the late 1960s. The first cases of CWD were detected in captive mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) and black-tailed deer (Odocoileus hemionus columbianus) in these facilities (Williams and Young, 1980). The disease was subsequently detected in Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus canadensis*) from the same locations, and thereafter in wild, free-ranging mule deer and elk in southeastern Wyoming and northeastern Colorado (Williams and Young, 1980; Williams and Young, 1982, 1992). In the following years, the disease was identified in white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) from Nebraska and South Dakota and in moose (Alces alces) from Colorado and Wyoming (Spraker et al., 1997; Williams and Miller, 2002; Williams, 2005; Baeten et al., 2007). In Canada, the first CWD cases were identified, retrospectively, in mule deer at the Toronto Zoo, from post mortems on animal samples from deaths over the period 1973 to 1981 (7 positive animals found from deaths occurring over the period 1975 to 1979) (see Dubé et al, 2006). The first farmed cervid was found with the disease in 1996 in a Saskatchewan elk farm (in captive elk that were imported from South Dakota (Williams and Miller, 2002)). In the following years, CWD was detected in farmed white-tailed deer and elk in Alberta and in wild cervid populations from Saskatchewan and Alberta (Kahn et al., 2004). In February 2013, a road-killed moose in Alberta also tested positive for CWD (Government of Alberta, 2013; CWD in moose in Alberta info sheet) and two moose were found to have the disease from

¹ This section was prepared by A. Otero Garcia, D. McKenzie, J. Aiken.

hunter head submission is 2019. Cervid migration and human transportation of infected animals may have contributed to the continuous expansion of the disease in North America, and to date, the disease is present in 26 U.S. States and 3 Canadian provinces: Saskatchewan, Alberta and Québec (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). In Québec in 2018, CWD was first detected in farmed red deer (*Cervus elaphus*); the origin has not yet been identified (Gagnier et al., 2020). No cases of CWD have been detected in the North American species of caribou (*Rangifer tarandus* spp.).

The first outbreaks of CWD outside North America occurred in South Korean farms, after the importation of asymptomatic infected elk and deer from a farm in Saskatchewan (Sohn et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2005). CWD has since spread into South Korean red deer, sika deer (*Cervus nippon*) and crossbred animals (Lee et al., 2013a).

Finally, in 2016, CWD was identified for the first time in Europe, in a free-ranging Norwegian reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus tarandus*) (Benestad et al., 2016). Scandinavian countries sampled and tested thousands of cervids after this first diagnosis, which led to the detection of CWD in multiple reindeer, moose and in one wild red deer, across Finland, Sweden and Norway (Pirisinu et al., 2018; Hazards et al., 2019; Vikøren et al., 2019). The origin of CWD in Europe remains unknown. However, Mysterud et al. (2021) describe the two different kinds of CWD present in Scandinavia – a classic form found in reindeer with similar characteristics and ability to spread as the disease found in mule deer and white-tailed deer in North America and an atypical form of CWD found in moose and red deer, which is confined to the central nervous system and, to date, found in older animals with a limited possibility of horizontal transmission.

CWD prevalence in North America has greatly increased in the last decade. Prevalence of CWD positive animals can be higher than 45% in wild populations and higher than 80% in farmed herds (Keane et al., 2008). Prion infectivity persists in the environment for more than 10 years, serving as a long-term source of infection (Georgsson et al., 2006). Core areas of enzootic CWD in Wisconsin show a CWD prevalence greater than 50% (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 2020). In the latest Alberta CWD update (2019 surveillance program), CWD was detected in 11.2% of the animals tested (up from 7.4% prevalence detected in the previous hunting season). As in previous years, white-tailed and mule deer in Alberta 2019 surveillance program shows the prevalence between species and sexes. Data from the Alberta 2019 surveillance program shows the prevalence rank to be mule deer males>mule deer females>white-tailed males>white-tailed females (24.5%, 8.8%, 4.8% and 1.4%, respectively). Elk represent 1.3% of the CWD prevalence and, for the first time, CWD was detected in two hunter-harvested moose (Government of Alberta, 2020).

Deer herds with high CWD prevalence are experiencing population declines. Monello et al. (2014) attributed average declines in elk survival in Rocky Mountain National Park, from 2% in 2008 to 11% in 2010, almost entirely to CWD. Declines in free ranging cervids in Colorado were attributed to CWD prevalence greater than 13% (Dulberger et al., 2010; Monello et al., 2014). DeVivo et al. (2017) estimated that mean annual survival rates of CWD-negative and CWD-positive deer were 76% and 32%, respectively, supporting CWD as a significant contributor to mule deer population decline. Miller and colleagues tagged several infected and uninfected wild adult mule deer from a region of high CWD

prevalence. After two years, they found that 53% of the infected deer had died while 82% of the uninfected deer were still alive (Miller et al., 2008). CWD positive deer eventually succumb to the disease, but these animals are also more likely to be killed by predators or hunters and are more vulnerable to vehicle collisions.

Mechanisms of CWD transmission

Horizontal transmission of prions by direct animal-to-animal interactions is considered a major mechanism of natural transmission of CWD (Miller et al., 2000; Miller and Williams, 2003). Cervids, however, can also get infected indirectly through exposure to CWD contaminated environments (Miller et al., 2004; Mathiason et al., 2009). Exposure of deer to pasture, water, feed buckets and bedding that were previously used by infected animals led to CWD transmission (Miller et al., 2004; Mathiason et al., 2009). Environmental sources of CWD contamination are the decomposing carcasses of positive deer and urinary, salivary and fecal shedding from infected animals, secretions and excretions that contain considerable CWD infectivity (Miller et al., 2004; Mathiason et al., 2006; Haley et al., 2011). Adjacent areas to mineral licks have also tested positive for infectivity in CWD endemic regions, suggesting that such areas could represent a risk of transmission of the disease to cervids and other species (Plummer et al., 2018). TSE agents can persist in the environment for years (Georgsson et al., 2006), and soil, especially, serves as an important reservoir of CWD infectivity (Schramm et al., 2006). Prions bind with strong affinity to certain mineral microparticles present in soil, and this interaction can increment their infectivity (Johnson et al., 2006b; Johnson et al., 2007). The composition of soil is, however, highly variable between areas and the proportion of specific components, such as minerals or organic compounds, can highly modify the environmental persistence and transmission of CWD (Kuznetsova et al., 2014). For example, whereas the mineral montmorillonite strongly binds prions, increasing their infectious capacity (Johnson et al., 2007), humic acids, which are organic constituents, can decrease CWD infectivity (Kuznetsova et al., 2018). Though the detection of CWD prions in soils becomes more difficult with time, prion infectivity is not significantly altered, and therefore soils can be reservoirs of infectivity for extended periods (Kuznetsova et al., 2020).

Plants can also represent a risk for CWD transmission. Pastures can retain infectious CWD prions for at least 2 years post-exposure (Miller et al., 2004). Grass plants exposed to brain, urine or feces from CWD-affected cervids can bind and uptake prions, as detected by ultrasensitive techniques. In the same study, it was demonstrated that hamsters can be infected by ingestion of leaves and roots previously exposed to hamster prions (Pritzkow et al., 2015). Contrarily, a study conducted by Rasmussen et al. (2014), in which wheat roots were exposed to CWD, showed that these plants do not transport prions from the roots to the stems. The techniques used in this study were, however, less sensitive than those used by Pritzkow and colleagues.

Transmission of CWD from mother to offspring is possible, as evidenced by experimental transmission of CWD to muntjac deer (*Muntiacus reevesi*) and the detection of prions in maternal and fetal tissues from wild pregnant elk (Selariu et al., 2015; Nalls et al., 2017). Other studies, however, suggest that this transmission plays a minor role in CWD epidemiology (Miller and Williams, 2003). Cervids acquire

CWD predominantly through the oral route (Miller and Williams, 2004), although there is evidence that inhalation of prions can produce disease and, therefore, the intranasal route can be a contributing mechanism of exposure (Denkers et al., 2013).

In areas where cervids have been chronically exposed to CWD, the prevalence of the disease is much higher in males than females (Miller and Conner, 2005; Grear et al., 2006; Samuel and Storm, 2016). However, no differences in susceptibility have been detected between male and female deer in captivity (Williams and Young, 1980; Williams and Young, 1992; Miller et al., 1998; Miller and Wild, 2004). Several theories have been proposed to explain the difference in CWD prevalence between male and female wild deer. Male deer consume significantly more food than females, which increases their probability of exposure to environmental CWD contamination (Mysterud and Edmunds, 2019). Male probability of infection by animal-to-animal contact is also higher, especially before and during the breeding season since males move more widely and interact with more groups of deer than females (Koutnik, 1981).

Factors determining susceptibility to CWD in cervids

As previously mentioned, PrPC protein is encoded by the PRNP gene. Genetic variations at this gene (polymorphisms) lead to the encoding of different PrPC molecules. In cervids, these polymorphisms play an important role in CWD susceptibility. Epidemiological studies in CWD endemic areas have shown that deer expressing certain PRNP polymorphisms are underrepresented among CWD positive animals suggesting a protective effect against the disease (Johnson et al., 2003; O'Rourke et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2006a; Keane et al., 2008; Kelly et al., 2008). This protective effect has been confirmed in experimental CWD transmissions to deer of these genetic backgrounds, which show a slower progression of the disease (Johnson et al., 2011). However, none of these polymorphisms confers total protection against CWD. Deer whose genetics are rarely found among CWD-positive animals have also proven to be susceptible to the disease (Haley et al., 2019).

Another important factor in CWD susceptibility is the prion strain to which cervids are exposed. Prions, like other pathological agents, exist in a variety of strains that produce different disease phenotypes and have different host ranges. Since prions do not contain genetic material (Prusiner, 1982), the biological information of prion strains is encoded in, and perpetuated by, their conformation (Bessen and Marsh, 1992; Hill et al., 1997). Several CWD strains, differing in their pathological characteristics and the variety of hosts that they can infect, have been identified (Angers et al., 2010; Duque Velasquez et al., 2015; Hannaoui et al., 2017; Herbst et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2020).

Cervid species susceptible to CWD

CWD has the potential to infect most, if not all, cervid species. As we previously reviewed, natural cases of CWD have been found in mule deer, black-tailed deer, white-tailed deer, elk, red deer, moose, reindeer and sika deer. In North America, CWD transmits naturally between different cervid species (Williams,

2005). Although there are other species of cervids in which no natural cases have been reported, experimental inoculations have shown that they are susceptible to CWD. These include the Asian muntjac (*Muntiacus reevesi*) (Nalls et al., 2013), fallow deer (*Dama dama*) (Hamir et al., 2011a) and North American caribou (Moore et al., 2016).

As discussed above, the potential for CWD to infect caribou is concerning as these species are threatened and their numbers are declining in Canada (Hervieux et al., 2013). There are four subspecies of caribou present in Canada: Woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*), Grant's or Porcupine caribou (*R.t. granti*), Barren ground (*R. t. groenlandicus*) and Peary caribou (*R.t. pearyi*) (Festa-Bianchet et al., 2011). Among these, Woodland and Barren ground caribou are the subspecies at a higher risk of contact with CWD since their ranges now overlap with CWD-infected deer (Richards, 2020). The PRNP gene, a critical factor in prion susceptibility, is identical between deer and caribou suggesting there will be no genetic barrier to transmission.

Potential for CWD transmission to other species

To date, no natural transmission of CWD to species outside the Cervidae family has been documented in wild or farmed populations. The transmission of prions from one species to another is limited by a transmission barrier. The strength of this barrier depends on multiple factors including the primary sequence of the PrPC of the new host and the PrPCWD from the inoculum and the transmitted prion strain (Pattison, 1965; Prusiner et al., 1990; Bartz et al., 1994; Supattapone et al., 1999; Hill et al., 2000). Experimental data, however, has shown that the transmission of CWD to other species is possible.

Livestock species

Of special concern is the transmission of CWD to non-cervid species used in the human food supply chain, especially cattle, due to the potential emergence of prions with zoonotic capacity, as with the bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE). The overlap of cattle and cervids is common in CWD-affected areas of North America. CWD agents from different species (white-tailed deer, mule deer and elk) are transmissible to cattle after intracerebral inoculation (Hamir et al., 2005; Hamir et al., 2007b; Hamir et al., 2011b; Greenlee et al., 2012), but the characteristics of the disease are very different from BSE (Hamir et al., 2011b). In experimental treatments, no oral transmission of CWD to cattle has occurred, and no CWD prions were detected in cattle that were exposed to CWD-contaminated paddocks for 10 years (Williams et al., 2018). Thus, the risk of CWD transmission to cattle following oral inoculation and/or environmental exposure is believed to be very low.

CWD has been also transmitted to sheep after intracerebral challenge with mule deer and elk prions (Hamir et al., 2006; Mitchell et al., 2015; Madsen-Bouterse et al., 2016). Transmission of mule deer prions, however, led to incomplete attack rates since only 2 out of 8 inoculated sheep developed a TSE (Hamir et al., 2006). As with CWD in deer, the sequence of the PRNP gene (genotype) is one of the most important factors determining the susceptibility of sheep to prion diseases (Goldmann et al., 1990; Westaway et al., 1994; Belt et al., 1995; Bossers et al., 1996). Certain PRNP genotypes provide almost complete resistance to scrapie and, therefore, animals of these genotypes have been selected as breeders

in sheep flocks from countries where scrapie is endemic. This genetic selection has led to the almost complete eradication of scrapie in certain areas (Hagenaars et al., 2010; Nodelijk et al., 2011; Arnold and Ortiz-Pelaez, 2014). Interestingly, it was shown that sheep expressing genotypes associated with resistance to scrapie were also resistant to CWD inoculation (Hamir et al., 2006). No oral transmission of CWD to sheep has been reported.

Moore et al. (2017) demonstrated that pigs can propagate CWD prions at a low-level, showing a strong transmission barrier. Contrary, however, to transmissions in cattle and sheep, oral transmission of CWD (prions from white-tailed deer) has occurred. In these CWD-challenged pigs, prions were detected, using ultrasensitive techniques, in animals that were euthanized at 8 months of age (e.g., market weight). These results suggest that pigs can act as a reservoir of CWD, which could represent a risk for deer populations since feral pigs share the habitat with CWD-affected cervids (Moore et al., 2017).

Other wildlife species

The genetic similarity between different species of ungulates that inhabit CWD endemic areas, suggests that pronghorn (*Antilocapra americana*), bighorn sheep (Ovis canadensis) and the mountain goat (*Oreamnos americanus*) may be susceptible to CWD, while bison (*Bison bison*) may be less susceptible (Cullingham et al., 2020). No experimental challenges of these species to CWD have yet been performed.

Numerous species of rodents including hamsters, voles and wild mice have been infected with CWD from different sources (Raymond et al., 2007; Kurt et al., 2009; Heisey et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2013b; Herbst et al., 2017). Several wild rodents that cohabitate with cervids in CWD-endemic areas have proven to be susceptible to the disease. These species are meadow voles (*Microtus pennsylvanicus*), red-backed voles (*Myodes gapperi*), white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*), and deer mice (P. maniculatus), which are native North American rodents (Heisey et al., 2010). Rodents are scavengers, making them likely to be exposed to CWD contaminated material. Therefore, they could act as a reservoir of CWD and perhaps represent a risk for CWD transmission, since a small proportion of rodent tissue enters the livestock food chain by contamination of grain and forage (Heisey et al., 2010).

Among wildlife species that share habitats with CWD-infected cervids, carnivores are the ones at a higher risk of exposure. Several species of carnivores have been infected with CWD prions experimentally. Ferrets (*Mustela spp.*) are highly susceptible to CWD and can develop the disease after inoculation through different routes (Bartz et al., 1998; Sigurdson et al., 2008; Perrott et al., 2012, 2013). In Canada, the only type of ferret found in the wild is the black-footed ferret (*Mustela nigripes*). This species is, however, one of the most endangered in North America and therefore, is unlikely to significantly contribute to the epidemiology of CWD. Mink (*Mustela vison*) are susceptible to CWD, but only by intracerebral inoculation (Harrington et al., 2008).

Domestic cats (*Felis catus*) appear to be susceptible to CWD as both oral and intracerebral transmission of mule deer CWD results in disease (Mathiason et al., 2013). Domestic cats scavenge deer carcasses and could represent a risk for human health as they could act as a reservoir for CWD. The genetic similarity between domestic cats and mountain lions (*Puma concolor*) suggests that these predators, which selectively hunt CWD-affected deer (Krumm et al., 2010), may be susceptible to CWD (Stewart et al.,

2012). Raccoons (*Procyon lotor*) are poorly susceptible to CWD and can be infected only after intracerebral challenge with CWD from certain species (Hamir et al., 2007a; Moore et al., 2019).

Canids, by contrast, are considered to be the most resistant species to prion diseases; the key for their resistance is a unique amino acid present in their PrPC (Fernandez-Borges et al., 2017). After the oral exposure of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) to a large volume of infectious CWD brain, infectivity could be recovered from some of the coyotes' feces. No evidence of CWD accumulation in coyote tissues was detected (Nichols et al., 2015). It has been suggested that canine predators, especially wolves (*Canis lupus*), which target weak prey such as CWD-infected deer, could be an important natural tool to limit CWD contamination of the environment (Wild et al., 2011).

Humans

There is no clear evidence that CWD can be transmitted to humans, in contrast with BSE, which is clearly zoonotic (Bruce et al., 1997). Numerous epidemiological studies have assessed whether there is a link between Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD) in humans and CWD. No clear link between CWD exposure and an increase in CJD frequency has been observed in epidemiological studies that assess whether there are more cases of prion diseases in people living in CWD endemic areas (MaWhinney et al., 2006; Abrams et al., 2018; Waddell et al., 2018; Maddox et al., 2019). Studies examining CJD outliers (e.g., young individuals succumbing to CJD) have not provided a link to CWD. For example, no causal relationship between the two prion diseases was found in three young CJD patients who were regularly exposed to, or consumed deer meat (Belay et al., 2001). Similarly, in a surveillance program for CWD, two individuals who had potentially been exposed to CWD developed dementia symptoms. However, these patients were diagnosed with early Alzheimer's and a rare genetic prion disease, respectively. No correlation could be established between these pathologies and the potential exposure of these patients to CWD (Anderson et al., 2007). The evaluation of the zoonotic potential of CWD through this type of studies is, however, difficult. There are potentially a variety of CWD strains in the environment that could pose a differential risk to humans and the incubation period of prion diseases in our species can last decades. The identification of the zoonotic properties of an agent through epidemiological studies requires the detection of a high number of human cases within a particular geographical location or period, which necessitates a large number of human exposures to the disease. The prevalence of CWD in endemic areas has exponentially increased only in the last ten years and, therefore, there may have not been a sufficient level of exposure to the disease to identify CWD cases in humans.

The zoonotic properties of CWD can be assessed, however, experimentally by inoculating CWD prions in non-human primates and humanized transgenic mice and through in vitro studies of the human transmission barrier to CWD. Squirrel monkeys (*Saimiri sciureus*; considered a universal host of prion diseases) are susceptible to CWD from multiple cervid species after oral and intracerebral inoculation (Marsh et al., 2005; Race et al., 2009). The susceptibility of cynomolgus macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*), which are genetically more similar to humans, is still inconclusive. No signs of prion disease were observed in CWD exposed macaques 13 years after the inoculation (Race et al., 2018). A separate study, presented at a conference but not yet published, however, has found that macaques inoculated with CWD show signs of prion neuropathology in spinal cords (Czub et al., 2017). This study, in which macaques were exposed to several isolates of CWD via different routes, was initiated 10 years ago, and the presence

of infectivity in these macaques is still to be confirmed (Schwenke et al., 2019). A recent conference presentation (Schaetzl, 2020) provided an update on Czub et al. (2017) presentation and related work. This update illustrates that there is zoonotic potential in CWD. Macaques were infected including from oral ingestion treatments. The presentation also suggests that although the species barrier from cervids to human is high, it may be surmountable, and there are concerns arising from the evolution and adaption of prions. However, Race et al have observed similar depositions of pathology in the spinal cords of noninfected age-matched macaques (Race et al., 2018). In other studies, transgenic mice expressing the human prion protein have been challenged with multiple CWD isolates in seven different studies. None of these studies has found clear evidence of transmission to these mice, suggesting that the transmission barrier of humans to CWD is very strong (Kong et al., 2005; Tamguney et al., 2006; Sandberg et al., 2010; Mitchell et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2012; Kurt et al., 2015; Race et al., 2019). However, a more recent study found low levels of amyloid seeding in four mice expressing human PrPC and inoculated with elk and white-tailed deer prions, suggesting that a transmission may have occurred. These results should be interpreted with caution, as these mice were analyzed using an ultra-sensitive technique [realtime quaking-induced conversion (RT-QuIC)], the reactions were inconsistently positive, and the mice overexpressed the human PrPC at levels much higher than those found in the human brain (Race et al., 2019).

Finally, the zoonotic potential of CWD has been studied using another ultra-sensitive technique for the detection of prions, Protein Misfolding Cyclic Amplification (PMCA). Barria and colleagues reported successful conversion of human PrP using different CWD isolates. Their studies showed that some CWD prions can convert human PrP more easily than others, with CWD from elk and reindeer having the highest zoonotic potential, followed by white-tailed deer prions and, finally, mule deer CWD (Barria et al., 2011; Barria et al., 2014; Barria et al., 2018). It should be noted, however, that PMCA facilitates the crossing of the transmission barrier and that in a living organism, there are many factors limiting the propagation of prions that are not present in in vitro systems.

Given the continuing geographic spread of CWD, the increasing prevalence of the disease in enzootic areas and the impact on cervid populations, questions that remain include CWD transmission to other wild and domestic animals, into the human food supply (in the case of untested animals) or to humans themselves. Further research into these issues is needed. Furthermore, active disease management practices are warranted to minimize the risk of CWD transmission.

3.0 CURRENT STATE

There are many unknowns about the current state of CWD. Over time, testing for the disease among wild and captive cervids has been partial and somewhat sporadic. Nonetheless, in a general sense, it is evident that the prevalence and spread of CWD are increasing. Figure 1 shows changes that have occurred over time by depicting the distribution of CWD in North America in 2008 and 2020. The graphics indicate a substantial spread in free-ranging populations, and an increase in the prevalence of cases in captive populations.



Figure 1. Distribution of Chronic Wasting Disease in North America in 2008 and 2020 (Source: Richards, 2020)

More localized examples for Alberta and Saskatchewan are shown, respectively, in Figures 2 and 3. In Alberta, figures depict cases of infected male mule deer in 2010 and 2019, which, again, show that the spread and prevalence have increased substantially. Similarly, in Saskatchewan the number and extent of CWD positive cases has grown, with large numbers, relative to past years, appearing in 2018 and 2019. Though most of these cases are with respect to mule deer, the second panel of the figure indicates that, as of 2019, there are cases appearing in other cervid species.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 2. Prevalence of CWD in male mule deer in Alberta in 2010 and 2019. Source: Government of Alberta (2020a)



Figure 3. CWD prevalence and species infected in Saskatchewan (Source: CWHC, 2020; **Government of Saskatchewan, 2029**)

Despite these trends, prevalence and spread can be difficult to interpret given their reliance on testing, which has been variable. Figure 4 shows the number of wild animals tested, and the number of positive

cases found, for Alberta and Saskatchewan, over time. Though the number of positive cases, starting in about 2016, has grown substantially over time in both provinces, testing has been sporadic. Both provinces had large dips in testing prior to 2016 and testing in Saskatchewan had remained relatively low as recently as 2018.



Figure 4. Number of wild cervids tested and positive cases in Alberta and Saskatchewan (Source: CWD Alliance, n.d.)

In addition to variability in provincial testing programmes, there have also been federal CWD programmes evolving over time. There is variability in the testing of farmed cervids across the country (mandatory in some jurisdictions, voluntary in others) although for provinces such as Alberta and Saskatchewan testing of farmed cervids represents more animals than in the wild population. The CWD Herd Certification Program (HCP), which is directed towards cervid farmers, provides assistance and guidance regarding procedures to follow to maintain high biosecurity and prevent CWD infection when possible. Certification requires farm operators to i) maintain accurate and complete herd inventories, ii) test all slaughtered and dead cervids, iii) limit herd introduction to cervids enrolled at similar or higher certification level, and iv) implement biosecurity measures (CFIA, 2020). Compliance with national standards and operating procedures for enrolled farmers is mandatory, but participation in the program is optional.

Woodland Caribou and CWD

As discussed above, CWD has implications for many groups in society. One particular issue is its potential impact on the Woodland Caribou, a species at risk for which many of these people are concerned. Woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) and the boreal population or ecotype were listed as "Threatened" in Canada in 2003 (Government of Canada, 2019). (https://species-

registry.canada.ca/index-en.html#/species/636-252). Woodland caribou are also listed as At Risk under the *Alberta Wildlife Act* (https://extranet.gov.ab.ca/env/wild-species-status/default.aspx). Both Alberta and Saskatchewan have entered into agreements with the Federal government for the conservation and recovery of caribou. These agreements focus on development action plans for protection of critical habitat and other activities to support caribou conservation.

This type of caribou relies on intact boreal forest with few disturbances. Boreal caribou live in herd areas in Canada's boreal forest, including areas in Alberta and Saskatchewan as indicated in the maps below. Boreal caribou have been under threat from a combination of predators, forest access, and disturbance related to development (Hervieux et al., 2013). The majority of herds in Alberta are in decline and are indicated as non-self-sustaining according to the *Species at Risk Act* (Government of Canada, 2019). The status of herds in Saskatchewan is slightly better than those in Alberta.

CWD occurs in the *Rangifer* species as illustrated by the cases discovered in Norway in 2016. As caribou are a member of the cervid family, there is a concern that CWD will occur in Boreal caribou, adding to the risks of extirpation and extinction already facing the species. The areas with cases of CWD in wild populations (mostly deer) in Alberta and Saskatchewan are illustrated in the figures below, as are the caribou herd boundaries. The potential for overlap and infection of caribou is clear. The boreal populations of caribou—an iconic Canadian species—are already quite fragile and may not withstand infection with CWD.

There are also concerns about the spread of CWD to other caribou ecotypes and sub-species, including those in Northern Canada. In addition to concerns about wildlife conservation, there are concerns about the impact of CWD on caribou as a food source, particularly for Indigenous People, which are discussed further below. Note that if CWD is detected in caribou a number of critical challenges will arise including developing strategies to address CWD while recognizing the importance of caribou to Indigenous People, and the interaction with policies and practices to protect and support this threatened species such as *Species at Risk Act* recovery plans.



Figure 5. CWD Positive Cases (left) and boreal caribou herd areas (right) in Saskatchewan (Source: CWHC, 2018; Government of Saskatchewan, 2017).



Figure 6. CWD positive cases and Wildlife Management Units (left) and boreal caribou herd areas (right) in Alberta. (Source: Government of Alberta, 2020; Hervieux et al., 2013)

Jurisdictional Issues

Management for CWD in farmed and wild cervids is conducted within a complex framework of provincial and national legislation. This complexity is exacerbated by the array of legislation and management approaches in U.S. states and Canadian provinces and the fact that wildlife moves between jurisdictions.² In addition, ministries for management of wildlife are usually different from ministries regulating the management of farmed cervids and their policy mandates often differ. For example, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) has some responsibility for CWD oversight in farmed cervids and responsibility for international movement of cervid animals and products (antler velvet as a natural health product is administered through Health Canada). Changes to their program initiated in 2018 will have only farms registered under the Herd Certification Program (VHCP originally, HCP now) eligible

² A summary of regulations and approaches across North American can be found in Michigan Department of Natural Resources (2020).

for destruction should CWD be confirmed. For herds not depopulated by CFIA, provincial agencies have taken on the role of managing CWD confirmations.

The Canadian Council for Chief Veterinary Officers made recommendations related to the management of CWD on farms in 2018 (CCVO 2018). Their recommendations included implementing an aggressive response to the finding of CWD on a farm in regions not previously known to have CWD. They proposed that the CFIA and provincial/territorial wildlife agencies undertake joint response activities, including epidemiological investigation, movement controls, depopulation and compensation of farmed cervids, cleaning and disinfection of the infected premises, combined with an intensive wild cervid harvest and testing in the surrounding area. Given the different agencies involved in this issue the aggressive response would need to be coordinated between CFIA and provincial agriculture and wildlife managers. They also proposed zoning management when CWD is found on farms, changes to the compensation practices previously covered by CFIA and recommendations that all farms participate in the HCP.

With the finding of a red deer farm with CWD in 2018 in Quebec, the aggressive strategies proposed above were undertaken by provincial agencies to test and cull wild animals around the farm to reduce the possibility of farm to wild CWD transmission. To date, this aggressive response to CWD, in a new vicinity (Quebec in this case), appears to have been successful in preventing establishment of the disease in wild deer around the farm (Gagnier et al., 2020). Provincial agencies have responsibility for licensing game farms and mandating testing of farmed animals. Provincial agencies did originally develop Herd Certification Programs and now work with CFIA and industry groups in further developing the programs.

The institutional frameworks that surround Indigenous People and their rights must also be considered in the context of CWD management. The complexity of the policy landscape is illustrated in a comparative table developed by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (2020), which describes CWD regulations in North America and highlights the differences across jurisdictions. Given these differences, achieving collaborative management can be a challenge. The summary presented below provides some (but is illustrative not comprehensive) basic background on jurisdiction approaches in Canada.

Canadian National Wildlife Management Frameworks

Federal responsibility includes protection and management of migratory birds as well as nationally significant wildlife habitat (particularly wildlife on designated federal lands including national parks), responsibilities for endangered species and species at risk, control of international trade in endangered species, research on wildlife, and the ability to enter into international agreements on behalf of Canada. The federal government is also responsible for identifying and defining National Wildlife Areas. Environment and Climate Change Canada provides the framework to guide decision making on the monitoring of wildlife, the maintenance and improvement of wildlife habitat, the enforcement of regulations, the maintenance of facilities, and permitting. Species whose populations are at risk due to small size or significant declines may receive further protection under the Government of Canada *Species at Risk Act* (2002).

Wildlife management across Canada is governed by *The Canada Wildlife Act* (Government of Canada, 2020a). However often the details of wildlife management are found in specific legislation associated

with provinces/territories. Indigenous peoples in Canada have hunting and fishing rights stemming from treaty rights and aboriginal rights.

Provincial and Territorial Wildlife Management

Provincial and territorial ministries are responsible for other wildlife matters, largely through their responsibilities for Crown lands and natural resources. These include conservation and management of wildlife populations and habitat within their borders, issuing licenses and permits for fishing, game hunting, and trapping, guidelines for safe angling and trapping and outfitting policies. Provincial wildlife policies have similarities but also reflect the unique characteristics of each region.

At the provincial level, wildlife management is coordinated by the relevant ministries who establish legislations, policies and procedures for managing fishing and hunting activities, and for the allocation of fish and wildlife resources for recreational and commercial use. Wildlife management activities include monitoring, analysis, evaluation, mitigation, research and innovation, communications, public outreach and stakeholder engagement, habitat conservation and planning, policy and regulation. Regulations provide specific rules about hunting and harvest of game wildlife, season dates, reporting requirements, restrictions on firearms and other gear types, etc. Specific examples of these are discussed in the property rights section and detailed in the Appendices 1-4.

Pan-Canadian Structures and Support Organizations

Pan- Canadian structures, which involve coordination across federal/provincial/territorial governments, include the Canadian Wildlife Director's Committee. The committee is co-chaired by Environment Canada and a province or territory on a rotating basis, and is comprised of federal, provincial and territorial wildlife directors, including representatives from Environment Canada, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, and the Parks Canada Agency. This organization has some similar roles to the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies in the US. The Canadian Wildlife Directors Committee also participates in the Canadian Wildlife Health Cooperative, a centre related to the veterinary colleges in Canada. Other pan-Canadian organizations include the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada and the Canadian Endangered Species Conservation Council.

Provincial ministries establish partnerships with community, industry, universities and colleges, NGO's and other agencies to pursue wildlife and conservation goals, enforcement and development of guidelines and regulations. There are many governmental organizations that support wildlife management across the country. Organizations like the Canadian Wildlife Federation and Wildlife Preservation Canada take a cooperative approach to wildlife management—working with people, corporations, non-government organizations, and governments to inspire collaboration in pursuing wildlife conservation. Such organizations partner with federal and provincial ministries and parks, habitat-oriented charities and land trusts, zoos, universities and colleges, and local grassroots volunteer groups. Wildlife organizations also focus on creating public awareness, sharing information and holding the governmental organizations accountable.

First Nations and Indigenous People

Wildlife management activities across provinces are not allowed to infringe on asserted or established Aboriginal or treaty rights as established by the *Constitution Act* and the *Indian Act*. Indigenous peoples in Canada have rights to hunt fish and trap on lands where they have legal rights and primary responsibility for wildlife and biodiversity (the federal government retains responsibility for fisheries management). However, aboriginal persons are not exempt from adhering to the laws and guidelines set out in some national legislation such as the *Fisheries Act (Health of Animals Act)*, modernized to better reflect rights of Indigenous peoples (Government of Canada, 2020b).

Recent wildlife management approaches have included commitment to co-management—by local and federal government agencies (Clark and Joe-Strack, 2017). Co-management can be defined as "local to regional-scale institutional arrangements that are intended to share some measure of control and authority for decisions about specific resources" (pg 71). However, such approaches can be challenging (Popp et al., 2018) identify successful co-management strategies for moose in Canada.

Cervid Management and CWD

On 18 September 2004, the Ministers Council, representing federal, provincial and territorial government ministries with responsibilities for wildlife, mandated the Canadian Wildlife Directors Committee to develop a national strategy to respond to and control CWD in Canadian wild animals. This strategy was to be modelled on Canada's National Wildlife Disease Strategy and was to serve as an urgent application to one disease, CWD, of the broader Wildlife Disease Strategy. This recommendation resulted in the Canada's National Chronic Wasting Disease Control Strategy (IOC, 2005). This report built on the report entitled CWD in Canadian Wildlife: An Expert Opinion on the Epidemiology and Risks to Wild Deer in 2004 (CWHC, 2004). The National Chronic Wasting Disease Strategy recognized the need to have the strategy address wild, farmed and captive cervids—a broader mandate than just considering the disease in the wild populations. The National Chronic Wasting Disease Strategy was updated in 2011 based on updated research findings and addressing more components of wildlife governance including Indigenous communities (http://www.cwhc-

<u>rcsf.ca/docs/technical reports/A Proposal for a National CWD Control Strategy 2011 final.pdf</u>). The 2011 strategy outlines a set of initiatives that would have to be implemented if the plan were to be adopted as government policy. The document states that:

"A partial list of these includes:

- Coordination of governance activities.
- *Regular review of Strategy implementation and relevant new science.*
- Regular review of design and outcome of CWD management activities.

• Creation of consensus guidelines on importation, exportation and within-Canada movements of cervids and cervid parts.

• A national assessment of human exposure to CWD prions.
Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

• Establishment of a program to obtain and map all data from CWD surveillance in Canada.

• Creation of a consensus document on best practices for responses to CWD occurrences, with review and updating every 2 to 3 years.

- Systematic epidemiological analysis of each new occurrence of CWD.
- Dialogue with research funding agencies on priority research areas to enable CWD management.
- Establishment and management of a communications plan.

• *Coordination of risk communication.*" (page 3 <u>http://www.cwhc-</u> rcsf.ca/docs/technical_reports/A_Proposal_for_a_National_CWD_Control_Strategy_2011_final.pdf)

Provincial Agencies and CWD

In some provinces (e.g., Alberta, Saskatchewan, Quebec and Ontario) CWD wildlife management focuses on the short- and long- term effects of CWD. This management includes mandatory or optional surveillance programs aimed at defining where CWD occurs in the wild. Provinces also regulate hunting towards CWD management ends through mandatory testing of harvested animals. In all of these provinces, there are active, ongoing analysis and discussions regarding future options for CWD management.

There have been efforts to collaborate on CWD management principles and best practices as illustrated by the Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA) and their recommendations for adaptive management (WAFWA, 2017).

Table 1. Provincial agencies responsible for wildlife management and CWD in Canada.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Province | Provincial Regulations |
|------------------------------------|--|
| | 1 Tovincial Regulations |
| Alberto | Alberto Wildlife Act |
| Alberta Ministry of Environment | Alberta Wildlife Act |
| and Darks | Alberta Alliniai Health Act (Chief Vetermary Officer) |
| British Columbia | Wildlife Act Forest and Dange Prestings Act Oil and Cos Activity Act |
| The Ministry of Ferresta | Ecological Decernics Act. Dark. Conservation of Decreation Area Deculation |
| The Ministry of Forests, | Lond Ast |
| Lands and Natural | |
| Resources | B.C. Reg. 150/66 Animal Disease Control Regulation (B.C. Ministry of |
| | Agriculture and Lands) |
| Untario | Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act, 1997 |
| Ministry of Environment | Migratory Birds Convention Act. |
| Conservation and Parks | • Endangered Species Act |
| and Ministry of Natural | • White-tailed Deer Management Policy for Ontario |
| Resources and Forestry | Moose Management Policy |
| | Caribou Conservation Plan |
| | Elk Management Plan |
| | Animal Health Act (Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs) |
| Quebec | Act Respecting the Conservation and Development of Wildlife |
| | Animal Health Protection Act (Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food) |
| Manitoba | The Wildlife Act C.C.S.M. c. W130 |
| Department of | The Animal Diseases Act C.C.S.M. c. A85 |
| Conservation and Climate | |
| Saskatchewan | The Ecological Reserves Act |
| Ministry of Environment | The Environmental Management and Protection Act, 2010 |
| - | The Wildlife Act, 1998 |
| | The Wildlife Habitat Protection Act |
| | The Fisheries Act (Saskatchewan), 1994 |
| | The Environmental Assessment Act |
| | Animal Health Act, SS 2019, c A-20.01(Saskatchewan Department of |
| | Agriculture) |
| | • Wildlife Act |
| Nova Scotia | Endangered Species Act |
| | Conservation Easements Act |
| Department of Land and | • Animal Health and Protection Act (Ministry of Agriculture and Marketing) |
| Forestry | |
| New Brunswick | Wildlife Act |
| Department of Natural | Diseases of Animals Act (Minister of Agriculture, Aquaculture and Fisheries) |
| Resources | |
| | |
| North West Territories | Wildlife Act |
| | Mackenzie Valley Resource Management Act |
| Department of | Species at Risk (NWT) Act |
| Environment and Natural | Migratory Birds Convention Act. |
| Resources. | Species at Risk Act |
| | -F |
| | |

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Yukon | Wildlife Act |
|-------|--|
| | Animal Health Act (Chief Veterinary Officer) |

4.0 STAKEHOLDER DATA SYNTHESIS

Following the discussion above, there are numerous stakeholders who have interests in the effects and management of CWD. In the following paragraphs, we synthesize some of the information and ongoing research on what is known about stakeholder perceptions.

Canadian Public

Background

With the initial cases of BSE in 2003 and CWD findings from 2002 in Alberta (earlier CWD in Saskatchewan) public interests were piqued, and a focus on targeted management of CWD (in Alberta and in Saskatchewan) emerged between 2004 and 2009. For example, culling of animals in certain areas of Alberta where CWD animals had been found was not popular with the public and the targeted winter kills (sometimes by helicopter) were stopped.

Cervid farming was encouraged as a method of agricultural diversification in the 1980s and 1990s. CFIA has regulated management of the disease spread on farms (working with provincial agricultural ministries in most provinces) and supported depopulation of all farms found to have CWD up until 2018. When farms were depopulated, even the topsoil was removed in an attempt to eradicate the disease. From the beginning, where the disease was believed to be resulting from an imported animal to a farm in Saskatchewan, there has been public controversy about whether or not cervid farming should be allowed in the country. A continual theme in discussions of CWD management is that farms should be eradicated. It is important to remember that CWD is spreading significantly within the US wild populations (and farmed) and likely could move to Canada from the south in numerous places.

Given the spread and the potential impacts of CWD on wildlife, economic activities related to cervids, the continuing debate about the potential transmission of the disease to humans and domestic animals and the costs of surveillance and management, the Canadian public is a stakeholder in the management of the disease. Accordingly, perspectives of the public related to CWD, from results of national surveys, are presented.

Results

Three national online surveys were conducted in 2009, in 2011 and in 2018 (Klotz et al. 2020a) with slightly different objectives but many common questions. All surveys were conducted with the assistance of national market research companies and were administered online. Descriptions of survey characteristics are provided in Table 1. In the 2018 survey, rural respondents were over-sampled.

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Survey | Sample | % Rural | % Hunters | Company |
|--------|--------|----------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------|
| Year | Size | (e.g., outside major | (e.g., respondents that are | |
| | | metropolitan area) | hunters or eat hunted | |
| | | | meat frequently) | |
| 2009 | 1516 | 35.5 | 6.3 | Leger Marketing |
| 2011 | 6480 | 40.8 | 7.7 | Nielsen Co Ltd |
| 2018 | 5237 | 46.7 | 8.6 | Asking |
| | | | | Canadians |

Table 2. National Survey Characteristics.

Results are summarized for three different components of the survey. The first results highlight the sense of concern about CWD, including the awareness of CWD in the population prior to the survey being conducted. Secondly, the acceptability of various CWD management strategies is summarized across samples. Thirdly, for the 2009 and 2018 surveys, there were economic decision questions which are briefly summarized—in 2009 a stated preference question for 100% animal testing for CWD was assessed, in 2018 a referendum-type question about willingness to pay taxes to support more CWD surveillance was included. Although there could be some hypothetical bias associated with the responses to these questions, the results are presented to highlight the significance of national concern about the disease.

Within each of the surveys, we asked questions about respondent awareness of CWD, and for the 2009 and 2018 surveys, knowledge about CWD (both farmed and wild animals, in Alberta and Saskatchewan). After presenting information about findings of CWD infected animals in wild and farmed populations, we asked questions related to risk perceptions about CWD and preferences for different management options. These data are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

| Question | tion Survey 2009 | | | | Survey 2011 | | | Survey 2018 | |
|-------------|------------------|--------|--------|-------|-------------|---------------|-------|-------------|--------|
| | Total | Non- | Hunter | Total | Non- | Hunter | Total | Non- | Hunter |
| | | hunter | | | hunter | | | hunter | |
| Sample Size | 1486 | 1391 | 94 | 6916 | 6418 | 498 | 5236 | 4786 | 450 |
| | % | | | | | | | | |
| Have ever | 59 | 56 | 88 | 54 | 51 | 99 | 80 | 78 | 97 |
| eaten | | | | | | | | | |
| venison | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | % awa | are CWD p | prior to surv | ey | | |
| CWD | 39 | 39 | 41 | 37 | 36 | 49.5 | 29 | 27 | 46 |
| Awareness | | | | | | | | | |

Table 3. Survey results on CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions (Source: Klotz et al.2020a).

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| prior to | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------|-------|------------|--------------|------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-----------|
| survey | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | Av | verage Sco | ore out of 4 | | | |
| | (an | swered ye | s to questio | ns about d | lisease in v | wild, farme | ed animals i | n Saskatch | newan and |
| | | | - | | Albe | rta) | | | |
| CWD | 0.48 | 0.47 | 0.88 | | | | 0.48 | 0.42 | 1.13 |
| Knowledge | | | | | | | | | |
| Score | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | Ro | selius Ran | king Score | ; | | |
| | (g | roup stron | gly agree m | inus grou | p strongly | disagree) | as percentag | ge of total | sample – |
| | - | _ | deem | phasizes | neutrality | and don't l | know scores | 5 | _ |
| Sample Size | | | | | | | | | |
| - | 1470 | 1373 | 94 | 6916 | 6418 | 498 | 5236 | 4786 | 450 |
| The threat of | -1.08 | -2.60 | 21.28 | | | | -14.72 | -15.80 | -3.33 |
| CWD has | | | | | | | | | |
| been | | | | | | | | | |
| exaggerated | | | | | | | | | |
| I, or my | -7.69 | -6.26 | -27.66 | | | | 13.71 | 17.63 | -28.00 |
| family, have | | | | | | | | | |
| concerns | | | | | | | | | |
| about eating | | | | | | | | | |
| elk and deer | | | | | | | | | |
| meat because | | | | | | | | | |
| of CWD | | | | | | | | | |

Three notable trends are evident in the table. First, over time, the number of people eating venison has increased. Second, awareness and knowledge of CWD has dramatically declined across time. Finally, even for people unaware of CWD before the survey, there is much stronger disagreement with the statement 'The threat of CWD has been exaggerated'. All respondents disagreed that they worried about eating elk and deer meat because of CWD in 2009—in 2018 only hunters have maintained strong disagreement with the statement. Hunters do have, by far, the highest awareness and knowledge of CWD of these groups.

Table 4. Acceptability of different CWD management options (Source: Klotz et al. 2020a).

| Question | Survey 2009 | | | Survey 2011 | | | Survey 2018 | | |
|----------------------------|-------------|--------|--------|-------------|--------|--------|-------------|--------|--------|
| | Total | Non- | Hunter | Total | Non- | Hunter | Total | Non- | Hunter |
| | | hunter | | | hunter | | | hunter | |
| Sample Size | 1486 | 1390 | 96 | 6916 | 6418 | 498 | 5236 | 4786 | 450 |
| | % Agreement | | | | | | | | |
| (Roselius Ranking Measure) | | | | | | | | | |

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Cull Elk | 22.84 | 23.05 | 19.79 | 39.60 | 39.11 | 45.98 | 57.64 | 57.61 | 58.00 |
|-------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Cull Deer | 23.08 | 23.16 | 21.88 | 41.69 | 41.03 | 50.20 | 58.77 | 58.84 | 58.00 |
| Mandatory | 56.91 | 56.81 | 58.33 | 62.85 | 62.39 | 68.88 | 66.79 | 67.22 | 62.22 |
| submission | | | | | | | | | |
| of heads | | | | | | | | | |
| Voluntary | 39.80 | 38.92 | 52.63 | 42.68 | 41.77 | 54.42 | 49.43 | 48.29 | 61.56 |
| submission | | | | | | | | | |
| of heads | | | | | | | | | |
| Educational | 57.90 | 57.68 | 61.05 | 60.83 | 60.45 | 65.66 | 76.41 | 76.06 | 80.22 |
| materials | | | | | | | | | |
| Open public | 54.06 | 53.58 | 61.05 | 62.62 | 62.34 | 66.27 | 72.57 | 72.44 | 74.00 |
| meetings | | | | | | | | | |
| Mailouts | 56.42 | 55.96 | 63.16 | 59.95 | 59.80 | 61.85 | 64.21 | 64.15 | 64.89 |
| Freezer | 47.93 | 47.57 | 53.13 | 55.38 | 54.61 | 65.26 | 58.33 | 57.46 | 67.56 |
| locations | | | | | | | | | |
| Additional | 48.63 | 47.85 | 60.00 | 50.46 | 49.66 | 60.84 | 64.36 | 63.33 | 75.33 |
| hunting | | | | | | | | | |
| tags | | | | | | | | | |
| Take no | -54.85 | -55.18 | -50.00 | -56.81 | -56.51 | -60.64 | -53.00 | -52.05 | -63.11 |
| action | | | | | | | | | |

Table 3 indicates that, over time, agreement about management options for CWD has increased for all options and across all groups. The only option that is disagreed with is 'take no action' which has strong similar disagreement across time for the public and non-hunters but for hunters the disagreement level is growing across time.

In the 2018 survey additional data were calculated on public responses to new types of CWD management—specifically restrictions on using deer urine for baiting, the use of vaccination when such a vaccine is developed and the use of environmental testing when such tests become available. Vaccination and environmental testing would require public investment for vaccination and for incentives to undertake environmental testing. However, all three would also require public support.

Table 5. Acceptability of New CWD Management Options (Klotz et al., 2020a).

| Question | | Survey 2018 | | | |
|-------------|--------|----------------------------|--------|--|--|
| | Total | Non- | Hunter | | |
| | | hunter | | | |
| Sample Size | 5236 | 4786 | 450 | | |
| | | % Agreement | | | |
| | (Rosel | (Roselius Ranking Measure) | | | |

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Restrict baiting (using deer or elk urine to attract animals to | 39.95 | 40.89 | 30.00 | | | |
|---|-------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| areas to be hunted) of animals for hunting purposes | | | | | | |
| When vaccines are developed, implement vaccination program | 70.78 | 71.23 | 66.00 | | | |
| for wild deer, elk and moose | | | | | | |
| When technology allows the testing of material from live | 73.40 | 73.36 | 73.78 | | | |
| animals, subsidize data collection of different samples (fecal | | | | | | |
| samples etc.) which could be used to monitor CWD spread | | | | | | |

* Red numbers highlight a result of particular interest.

In 2008 and 2009, with a focus on eating venison, survey respondents were asked about their preferences for traceability of purchased venison back to a farm of origin, and a desire for 100% testing for CWD before meat is offered for sale (Table 4). Survey respondents were clustered based on their perceptions of venison safety and food safety risk. On average, respondents would like 100% animal testing for farmed animals entering the food chain, with the "concerned" group of respondents having substantially higher WTP. Until the finding of CWD on a red deer farm in Quebec in 2018, the only mandatory testing of all animals before entering the food chain occurred in Alberta Saskatchewan, Manitoba and the Yukon. Since CWD was found on a Quebec farm in 2018, mandatory testing has been expanded to all slaughtered animals in Quebec and to farmed cervids in Ontario.

| Comparison of WTP | PEstimates for Trace | eability and Animal Testin | g for CWD |
|---|----------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------|
| 2008 and 2009 | | - | - |
| surveys | | | |
| | Traceable | Animal-tested | Traceable + Animal Tested |
| Aubeeluck (2010) (\$/ | /kg) Canadian beef s | teak | |
| Canada average | \$17.41 | \$17.23 | \$19.34 |
| | | | |
| Myae (2015) (\$/500g | m) venison steak | | |
| Confident about venison and food safety | \$5.07 | \$4.42 | \$7.76 |
| Neutral about venison and food safety | \$2.43 | \$2.85 | \$5.97 |
| Concerned about venison and food safety | \$11.15 | \$17.13 | \$14.93 |
| | | | |
| CANADIAN- Average | \$4.57 | \$5.5 | \$7.89 |

Table 6. WTP for traceability and animal testing in venison purchases.

In 2018, survey respondents were asked about their willingness to pay taxes to support more CWD surveillance (for a ten-year period). As a test of different types of concerns, prior to the willingness to pay taxes for CWD surveillance, there were questions related to various risk issues (e.g., food safety, animal health, economic risks). The willingness to pay additional taxes is at the upper end of the possible range, as presented in the question (e.g., between \$25.00 per year to over \$300 per year for ten years) indicating that the issue is seen as worthy of public investment (similar results were seen in Forbes (2008) for Alberta). Of the three negative potential impacts from CWD, it appears that concern about animal health (predominantly wildlife health) is seen as the highest priority in the respondent's minds. For many people, the food safety issue can be resolved by choosing not to eat venison.

Summary

Given the spread and the potential impacts of CWD on wildlife, economic activities related to cervids, the continuing debate about the potential transmission of the disease to humans and domestic animals and the costs of surveillance and management, the Canadian public is a stakeholder in the management of the disease. Specific themes arising from national surveys over the last decade suggest:

- Over time, the number of people who have ever eaten venison has increased. Eating frequency does not appear to be increasing across the population over time
- Awareness and knowledge of CWD has dramatically *declined* across time. Even though the general level of awareness is down in 2018, there is much stronger disagreement with the statement 'The threat of CWD has been exaggerated', even from hunters than was found in 2009.
- The public is significantly interested in mandatory CWD animal testing before meat is marketed and continues to be interested in supporting tax increases to pay for management or surveillance. This implies that healthy cervid populations are important to the Canadian public.

Indigenous Rightsholders

Background

A key group of rightsholders in CWD impacts and management are Indigenous peoples. Indigenous peoples face many challenges in sustaining strong traditional economies based on hunting, fishing and gathering. Wildlife disease is among those stresses on ecosystems and communities in Canada, which has implications for broad community well-being (e.g., cultural continuity, economy, food security and human health).

Results

A number of studies have been undertaken with Indigenous communities regarding CWD. Parlee et al. (2014) recognize the important role of Traditional Knowledge in wildlife health monitoring and note that care is required in dealing with trust in information and risk communication. Chiu et al (2016) examine caribou consumption and substitution patterns with other foods such as store-bought meats, which are constrained by high costs in northern communities. Overall, findings indicate that caribou is an important food source contributing to nutritional quality and diet diversity. Along these lines, Natcher (2019), in an Alberta sample, found 49% of households harvested traditional foods, which made up on average 20% of household diet. In a longer, on-going study (Parlee et al., 2020), data has been collected from 2007-2018 with 105 harvesters from 22 northern Alberta communities, who reported hunting in roughly 53 wildlife management units (WMUs). Results suggest that elk, moose, and deer all contribute substantially to the diets of communities, specific animal contributions vary geographically. Average consumption of meat (for all species, for all years, and in all regions) was 0.8 meals/week with greater dependence on moose in the north and western parts of the province (1.35 meals/week). Hunters generally share hunted meat with immediate and extended family groups and across local and regional communities. Levels of concern regarding potential effects of CWD were high in all areas for all years, with lesser concern reported by hunters in western Alberta (in 2011) where CWD had not yet been detected. Given that the data were collected in different communities in different years, analysis and conclusions about changes over time are limited. Ongoing research collaboration between the University of Alberta and Indigenous communities is aimed at better understanding the significance of moose, deer, and elk to local diets, and the ways that concerns about the disease influence harvesting decisions and consumption of meat. The research also highlights the types and level of information individuals have about CWD, information (about 58% reported receiving some information) which can contribute to influencing harvest decisions. Although information/knowledge is higher in eastern Alberta (closer to areas currently known to have CWD presence) there does appear to be some lack of knowledge about CWD. This lack of knowledge is a potential barrier to proactive surveillance and management (even co-management) of CWD and may represent an important priority for future CWD activities.

Summary

Though information is somewhat scattered, in aggregate, the data add to our understanding about the significance of ungulates to food security of Indigenous peoples in western Canada, which include significant cultural values including sharing networks. Associated with these important values are concerns about cultural tipping points, arising from environmental conditions, costs, and time constraints of local people. Concerns held by Indigenous communities have been expressed by, among others, community leaders for Treaties 6,7 and 8. In response to a need expressed by First Nations, an All-Chiefs resolution was passed in June 2019, supporting collaborative research on CWD surveillance.

Work undertaken thus far raises questions about how the continued spread of CWD, as well as management efforts (e.g., health advisories), has the potential to contribute to increased food insecurity among Indigenous communities, whose traditional economies are also compromised by other stresses (e.g., habitat degradation, climate change). A greater role of communities in disease surveillance (e.g., monitoring) and in decisions of wildlife management may contribute to both social and ecological resilience. Moreover, Indigenous communities are supportive of an increased focus on CWD testing. Access to testing of harvested animals need to be provided, as they are in other parts of the provinces, to help provide health assurances and information to local peoples, and to help monitor the potential spread of the disease northward. Moving forward, academic/community researcher teams, under the guidance of the leadership of partnering communities, will collect data on temporal and spatial variation in cervid health based on Indigenous knowledge (e.g., observation, experience of elders and hunters). Using the same survey instrument as was used in other communities, the research team will coordinate with active hunters and households to understand similar themes (e.g., harvest, consumption patterns). Knowledge exchange of the zoonotic potential of CWD, a specific request by Indigenous partners, will provide an understanding of the variation in knowledge of the health benefits and risks of continued cervid harvest and consumption on human health. However, this will require collaboration with the communities on communications approaches and will require some assistance from government to be effective and widespread.

The implementation of such approaches is not optional but are central to the rights of Indigenous Peoples. CWD has the potential to infringe on hunting rights (see property rights in this section) which are constitutionally protected for Indigenous peoples. Moreover, the supreme court ruling, regarding the Hamlet of Clyde River, et al. v. Petroleum Geo-Services, confirmed the Crown's duty to consult and accommodate Indigenous People before decisions are made that affect their rights (https://scc-csc.lexum.com/scc-csc/scc-csc/en/item/16743/index.do). The case of CWD, and its current and potential future impacts, makes Indigenous Peoples key right holders who will be substantively involved in future decisions.

Farmed Cervid Sector

Background

Commercial cervid farming and ranching in North America originated in the 1960s and gained momentum in the 1980s based upon a desire for agricultural diversification (Geist et al., 2017; Telfer and Scotter 1975). In Canada, the earliest province to establish a cervid farm was British Columbia in 1981 and the most recent was New Brunswick in 2013.³ Cervid farms now exist in all the Canadian jurisdictions except Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland and Labrador, the Northwest Territories and Nunavut (AAFC, 2019). Legislatively, cervid farming in Canada is shared between the provincial agriculture and environment ministries, while the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) maintains oversight of slaughter, export and import of cervids, cervid products such as antler velvet (regulated as a natural health product under Health Canada) sold domestically and exported (AAFC, 2017) and public health issues, such as CWD on farms (CFIA 2017a).

Cervid farms were established for a number of different reasons. Some farms focussed on the export of elk antler velvet to Asia, mostly to South Korea—a trade that dried up with the finding of CWD in Canada (and also the Canadian export of CWD infected animals to South Korea from Canada). The restrictions on trade in antler velvet were a major factor influencing the decline in the industry, although exports of antler velvet have continued to other Asian countries. There was discussion in 2015 (MacArthur, 2015) about reopening trade in antler velvet products with South Korea, but it does not appear that that has moved forward. Some animals are farmed as part of hunt farms in Saskatchewan and Quebec, although this practice has not been allowed in Alberta or elsewhere in Canada. Many Alberta cervid farms raise animals for transport to Saskatchewan hunt farms (prior to CWD more animals were also exported to US farms and this export continues at a reduced level, deer are also exported from Quebec to Saskatchewan and US hunt farms (CFIA (2015)). Other farms sell products such as urine for baiting or use as a cover scent for hunting purposes.

The potential for ingestion of antler velvet to infect people, should CWD be found to cross the cervidhuman barrier, has been noted for some time (Angers et al., 2009). Given that current tests for CWD are post-mortem tests, testing antler velvet for the presence of the disease before sale is currently not feasible. Should CWD ever be found to be transmissible to people, this potential route of transmission would need significant attention. Currently sales of antler velvet are regulated through the Health Canada Natural Health Products Regulations.

Cervid producers are an important stakeholder in CWD discussions for a number of reasons. First, the initial case of CWD in Canada ostensibly came from a domestic elk imported to Saskatchewan in 1996, although with no testing of wild animals before that, it is not possible to say if the disease was previously present or not. Second, cervid producers are at significant economic risk from CWD, due to export market

³ British Columbia in 1981; Manitoba and Saskatchewan in 1982; Alberta in 1984; Ontario in 1997; Quebec in 1993; Nova Scotia in 1989; the Yukon Territory in 1996; and New Brunswick in 2013.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

volatility and the high costs associated with CFIA biosecurity requirements, such as fencing, CWD testing, handling facilities and wash stations—both to contain possible outbreaks on their farm and to prevent infection from wild cervid populations. The discussion of disease control in wild cervids has implications for domestic herds, and vice versa.

Numbers of cervid farms are on a steady decline since 2000 largely because of the declining economic opportunities associated with cervid farming (Figure 7). The industry had been encouraged by government programs, particularly in Saskatchewan and Alberta, as a source of diversification in the livestock industry. The average number of animals per farm has flattened out after also declining between 2006 and 2011. The number of animals being farmed (estimated to be 19,927 elk and 32, 182 deer in 2018, AAFC) in the country has declined significantly⁴.



Canada, Elk Farms, Statistics Canada



Figure 7. Number of Canadian deer and elk farms and average animals per farm from 2001-2016. (Source: AAFC, 2019)

⁴ To put the farmed cervid data in perspective in terms of harvest and consumption, farmed cervid consumption likely makes up a relatively small part of total cervid consumption (farmed plus wild). For example, in Alberta alone approximately 50,000 deer are harvested annually by licensed hunters. This includes almost 14,000 mule deer in 2019 (<u>https://open.alberta.ca/publications/hunter-harvest-report-mule-deer-estimated-resident-harvest-for-mule-deer</u>) and almost 38,000 white tailed deer in 2019 (<u>https://open.alberta.ca/publications/hunter-harvest-report-white-tailed-deer-estimated-resident-harvest-for-white-tailed-deer</u>)

Cervid farming is different across the country with red deer farm animal numbers dominating in Eastern Canada, elk farm animal numbers dominating in Alberta and Saskatchewan (Figures 8, 9, 10, 11). This directly affects the possibility of transfer from wild animals to farmed animals and vice versa given different geographic ranges for each of the wild species.



Figure 8. Number of farmed cervids by species in Quebec between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019).



Figure 9. Number of farmed cervids by species in Ontario between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019).

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 10. Number of farmed cervids by species in Saskatchewan between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019).



Figure 11. Number of farmed cervids by species in Alberta between 2008-2019 (Source: AAFC, 2019).





Figure 12. Domestic cervids in Canada 2008 - 2018. (Source: AAFC, 2019)

The arrival of CWD had a devastating economic impact on the cervid producing industry, as shown in the trends in the previous Figures. Initially all Asian countries banned the import of cervid (elk) antler velvet from Canada although South Korea has maintained this import ban, other Asian countries have relaxed the restrictions. As well, in 2002, the US banned the sales of trophy deer and elk from Canada to US hunt farms, although some trade resumed subsequently. As of 2021, 32 US states and 7 Canadian provinces prohibit imports of live cervids from any place CWD has been detected. A group of cervid farmers also sued the government (after approval to bring such a lawsuit from the Supreme Court) due to the damages they faced from CWD infected imported animals after the government had encouraged the development of the cervid farming industry. Saskatchewan producers also sued the provincial government for changes in their farmed animal health status after refusal to sign registration forms indemnifying the government. There was also dissatisfaction within the industry when the CWD "compensation program" (http://cwd-info.org/compensation-cuts-anger-deer-elk-farmers/) was changed in early 2004.

The federal government has subsequently invested over \$1 million in the development of an industry traceability system (Salvage, 2010). Since the earliest finding of CWD on cervid farms, the industry has undergone CWD testing of all animals that die or are slaughtered from farms in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario and the Yukon (Quebec since 2018 has returned to testing all animals rather than selected animals) before sale for consumption.

In response to the CWD outbreak in 2002, a CWD Voluntary Herd Certification Program (VHCP name changed to CWD Herd Certification Program (HCP) as of January 1, 2020) was established by the CFIA (CFIA 2002).⁵ The intention was to provide owners with the "*opportunity to have their herds identified*

⁵ The Canadian VHCP was modeled after the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) CWD Herd Certification Program.

as elite with respect to CWD" (CFIA, 2017), and provide critical assurance for consumers of cervid products, in particular meat and elk velvet, of the safety of the product they were purchasing. A minimum of five years is necessary for a herd to be certified. There are currently six levels in the certification program: from entry level E up to Level A. The level of assurance is directly related to the time that the herd is enrolled in the program, and any producer that agrees to comply with the program is allowed to enrol (CFIA, 2017). As of April 2018 (announced December 2017), the destruction of and compensation for positive CWD cases will only be provided to producers enrolled in the HCP. If the producer with CWD infected animals is not certified, then the province manages the response to positive findings. A transition period in 2018 was established to allow producers to enrol, and from January 2019, CFIA response and compensation only applies if the producer has been enrolled and compliant for 12 months (CFIA, 2017). According to the CFIA (2019), the program is based on the World Organisation for Animal Health's concept of compartmentalization, where a group of animals are identified as having a distinct health status based on biosecurity management and husbandry practices.

CFIA has managed the process of resolving CWD findings on farms over time. Although there remains a small number of farms being found with animals having CWD every year (Figure 13), the 35 farms found in 2000 and 2001 are dramatically higher than any other year. 2020 appears to be heading for another reasonably high level of farms found as of October. Given the steadily increasing numbers of wild animals being found in Alberta and Saskatchewan recently, the relatively flat numbers of farms (averaging 5 most years) being found with animals having CWD begs the question of whether the current trends in the disease suggest transmission from farms to wild or vice versa. Transmission is also possible from contaminated feed sources (Pritzkow et al., 2015). In 2014, the CFIA proposed a plan of zoning regions found with farms with CWD so that no animals (cervid products and some feed also included in the proposal) could be moved into or out of those areas, but the plan was ultimately scrapped (CFIA, undated). Depopulation and decontamination of soil and buildings is an expensive government program, and this may have contributed to the decision to encourage the farms to register for the HCP or not receive compensation if CWD is found on their farms. For non-enrolled farms, provincial governments will be responsible for managing the CWD outcomes. Interprovincial movement of cervids is also

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 13. Number of cervid farms in Canada found with CWD (Source: CFIA, 2020).

Given the recurring call among conservationists, wildlife groups and some scientists to "close" the industry, which has been steady since 2002 (Canada NewsWire 2002; Globe and Mail, 2019), cervid producers are extremely concerned about the implications of a positive CWD case in their herds (and possibly in the wild in proximity to their farms). The current status of CWD on farms continues to suggest that the majority of farms with the disease have been in Saskatchewan (for the first time Alberta has had more farms as of October 2020, 8 elk farms compared to Saskatchewan; 3 deer and 2 elk farms). Those numbers have been relatively small and constant until 2020 when numbers have shown a significant increase over previous years. CWD individual animal cases from farmed cervids are far lower than those found in wild cervids, suggesting that eradicating farms might have little impact on prevalence in total cervid populations. One recent complication for the industry may be the finding of CWD in white tailed deer semen (Kramm et al., 2019). In an industry with restrictions on the movement of live animals from CWD endemic areas to others, restrictions on the movement of semen would make artificial insemination (and animal breeding in general) much more difficult for cervid farmers.

Results

In the 2018 Canada wide public CWD survey, there were 51 respondents who self-identified as cervid farmers. To elicit their perspectives relative to other stakeholders, we compare the results from these

respondents to those of hunters that completed the same survey. While acknowledging the issue of a small sample size, it is noticeable that cervid farmers agree that the threat of CWD has been exaggerated" and that "they and their families have concerns about eating elk and deer meat because of CWD". This response is the opposite to the levels of disagreement with the same statements for hunters.

Table 7. Cervid farmer survey results on CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions(Source: Klotz et al., 2020a).

| Question | Survey 2018 | | | |
|--|---|--------|--|--|
| | Cervid Farmer | Hunter | | |
| Sample Size | 51 | 450 | | |
| | % Yes | | | |
| Have ever eaten venison | 84 | 97 | | |
| CWD Awareness prior to survey | 63 | 46 | | |
| | Score between 0 (no knowledge) and 4 (high knowledge) | | | |
| CWD Knowledge Score | 2.05 | 1.13 | | |
| | Roselius Ranking (positive agreement, negative disagreement) | | | |
| The threat of CWD has been exaggerated | 31.37 | -3.33 | | |
| I, or my family, have concerns about eating elk and deer meat because of CWD | 37.25 | -28.00 | | |

* Red numbers highlight a result of particular interest.

Another distinguishing result arising from the survey is that cervid farmers are more knowledgeable about CWD (as measured by very basic statements related to location of the disease findings and the animals found with the disease) than most other groups (again forgiving the small sample properties), here compared to hunters. This makes intuitive sense, in that farmers in this industry are keenly aware of the health and economic risks associated with CWD to their operation—both from other domestic cervids or transmission from wild cervids and educate themselves accordingly. Multiple in-person meetings between our research team and members of cervid organizations in Canada qualitatively support this finding.

In terms of agreement with the various CWD management strategies that have been pursued by various governments in Canada, in general the strength of agreement with the management options is lower for cervid farmers (either disagree or neutral) than for respondents identified as hunters. However, cervid farmers (possibly interpreting take no action as applying to no action against CWD that might affect farmers as well as hunters) quite strongly agree with that option as compared to hunters who disagree quite strongly with the management strategy. The public disagreed even more strongly with the premise of taking no action against CWD which places the cervid farm industry at odds with most other

stakeholders. Cervid farmers are happy to see most other management options undertaken as they relate to hunting more than farming.

Table 8. Acceptability of Different CWD Management Options (Source: Klotz et al., 2020).

| Question | Survey | 2018 |
|--------------------------------------|---------------|-------------|
| | Cervid Farmer | Hunter |
| Sample Size | 51 | 450 |
| | Roselius Rar | nking Score |
| Cull Elk | 43.14 | 58.00 |
| Cull Deer | 41.18 | 58.00 |
| Mandatory submission of heads | 39.22 | 62.22 |
| Voluntary submission of heads | 35.29 | 61.56 |
| Educational materials | 50.98 | 80.22 |
| Open public meetings | 39.22 | 74.00 |
| Mailouts | 35.29 | 64.89 |
| Freezer locations | 43.14 | 67.56 |
| Additional hunting tags | 50.98 | 75.33 |
| Take no action | 41.18 | -63.11 |
| | | |
| Restrict baiting of animals for | 39.22 | 30.00 |
| hunting purposes | | |
| When vaccines are developed, | 43.14 | 66.00 |
| implement vaccination program for | | |
| wild deer, elk and moose | | |
| When technology allows, subsidize | 37.25 | 73.78 |
| data collection of different samples | | |
| (fecal samples etc.) to monitor CWD | | |
| spread | | |

* Red numbers highlight a result of particular interest.

Figure 14 below visually presents a similar comparison of possible management options for CWD among general Canadian residents and cervid producers.



Cervid Farmer Net Agreement (%) Various Management Options

Figure 14. Cervid producer agreement with various management options vs the general population (Source: Klotz et al., 2020a)

Summary

Commercial cervid farming was a relatively new industry when the first case of CWD was discovered in Canada. It is worth mentioning that the cervid farming sector also includes hunt farms in Saskatchewan and Quebec that have their own unique CWD management issues, related to for example, size of operations and ability to regularly observe animals, that need to be addressed. Since the discovery of the disease and alleged actions of domestic cervid transport from the US, the industry has been in relative decline. Other salient points from the secondary data and primary survey data include:

- Characterized by government and opinions of hunters and wildlife managers as responsible for the arrival of CWD in Canada
- Cervid farmers have a high level of knowledge on CWD.
- Given the decline in the industry size, current producers are dedicated to preserving the industry they have been involved with over the last forty years and feel there is little evidence today to support the fact that they are responsible for continuing spread of CWD. (e.g., from 2002 it took until 2015 to find a second elk farm in Alberta with CWD, possibly related to the gradually increasing participation in the HCP which may facilitate detection of CWD).
- Continued requests to close cervid farms from different groups may make multi stakeholder policy agreement difficult to find.

Alberta Hunters

Background

The hunting community is an integral stakeholder in CWD and wildlife management discussions. They have a personal interest in maintaining healthy wildlife populations, they are on the land viewing wildlife patterns more than the general public, they consume deer meat on a regular basis, and they financially contribute to wildlife management through the purchase of licenses. As such, wildlife decision-makers across North America have engaged with this group to explore effective options for both surveillance and management of the disease (Pybus, 2012, Vaske and Miller, 2019).

In Canada, the importance of CWD has been recognized by provincial wildlife authorities, since the disease was first detected in Saskatchewan (1996) and Alberta (2002). Saskatchewan has implemented surveillance programs intermittently, and Alberta has established an ongoing CWD surveillance program through their mandatory head submission designated wildlife management units (WMUs). In 2019, Alberta hunters were required to submit mule deer and white tail heads from 42 WMUs in eastern and central Alberta; and voluntary submission of heads for all cervid species was encouraged across the province. Since the inception of this program, over 70,000 heads have been tested. Management strategies have ranged from herd reduction programs in 2008 (Pybus, 2012) to replacement tags for hunters that harvested CWD positive animals.

Results

The Alberta hunting community has been extensively surveyed by Adamowicz et al. (2008, 2019, 2020) with funding from the Alberta Prion Research Institute⁶. Specifically, surveys were distributed to Alberta hunters to outline their perspectives on the 2007, 2017, 2018 and 2019 hunting seasons. These surveys provide a comprehensive longitudinal dataset of hunters, their risk perceptions and management options for CWD in Alberta that has broad applicability to other provinces in Canada. These surveys and research surrounding them also provide information on the economic benefits and costs associated with the use of hunters in the management of CWD. Collaboration with the hunting community to support the management of CWD is supported by the public and by resident hunter populations. This information on benefits and costs is employed in the analysis of policy options outlined below.

⁶ Adamowicz (2008) Research report to the Alberta Prion Research Institute. University of Alberta. Edmonton. Adamowicz, W., E. Goddard, M. Luckert, with L. Xie and J. Pattison-Williams. (2019, 2020). Research reports to the Alberta Prion Research Institute. University of Alberta. Edmonton.

Table 9. Overview of surveys conducted of Alberta deer hunters (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2008,2019, 2020) funded by the Alberta Prion Research Institute.

| Year | Method | Sample Size |
|------|--|-------------|
| 2007 | 700 hunters were randomly selected from the AEP hunter | 90 |
| | license data (50% rural whitetail deer license holders and | |
| | 50% urban mule deer license holders) | |
| 2017 | Designed by research team and distributed to a sample of | 878 |
| | 5,000 Alberta special license holders by the Alberta | |
| | Ministry of Environment and Parks (AEP) | |
| 2018 | Designed by research team and distributed to a sample of | 399 |
| | 5,000 Alberta special license holders by the Alberta | |
| | Ministry of Environment and Parks (AEP) | |
| 2019 | Designed by research team and distributed to a sample of | 1,089 |
| | 5,000 Alberta special license holders by the Alberta | |
| | Ministry of Environment and Parks (AEP) | |

One question addressed in the surveys is whether CWD is influencing license sales. Surveillance data shows that the cervid species most susceptible to CWD in Canada are mule deer in general, particularly males (AEP, 2020). For example, the Alberta surveillance program indicates that in 2017 approximately 8% of mule deer tested in the province were positive for CWD. In 2018 this increased to 12% and 2019 season results indicates this is now 17% (AEP, 2020). As AEP only provides averages for the entire province in their published results, it should be assumed that some WMUs are facing much higher prevalence levels of the disease.

Despite this increase in CWD, to date Alberta mule deer hunters are not responding negatively to the presence of CWD. Despite 97% of hunters being aware of CWD in 2019 (and 69% of those having heard detailed information of the disease) and the publication of the prevalence levels on the opening pages of the annual hunting regulations (see Figure 1), mule deer license sales continue to increase (Pattison-Williams et al., 2020).

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 15. Chronic wasting disease in wild deer in Alberta from 2005 – 2018 (Source: AEP, 2019).

Further supporting this trend is that 77% of respondents who had received a positive CWD from an animal they had hunted in previous years indicated they had returned to the WMU where they had hunted the positive deer (2019 AB Hunter Survey, 2020). An interesting trend found by Adamowicz et al. (2019, 2020) over the last three years is that more hunters are checking for the presence of CWD in WMUs before applying for draws (Figure 3). The largest increase was between 2017 and 2018, possibly due to public media coverage of research indicating potential transmission to macaque monkeys (Czub et al. 2017).

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 16. Percentage of hunters that check for CWD presence in WMUs prior to submitting draw applications based upon 2017-2019 hunter surveys (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

The response of mule deer hunters in Alberta to CWD has been explored empirically in terms of license sales by Pattison-Williams et al (2020). Their findings support both these descriptive results, and published literature from CWD impacted states in the USA, which suggests hunters will not avoid CWD areas until prevalence levels become extremely high (Vaske and Miller 2019).

Risk Perceptions

The longitudinal hunter surveys by Adamowicz et al. (2019, 2020) also explored how hunters are perceiving the risks associated with CWD. Three categories were presented to respondents: risk to wildlife, probability of eradication, and risk to human health.

Overall, responses indicate very little change over time. Even with CWD spreading and prevalence increasing there has been little change in the perceptions and views of hunters in Alberta. This suggests that current levels of CWD are not affecting hunter perceptions. In 2019, approximately 70% of hunters agreed (somewhat or strongly) that CWD is a threat to wildlife herd health in Alberta; these same hunters generally think other hunters also believe it is a threat to wildlife herd health. However, only 3% of hunters believe that it will lead to the extinction of deer in Alberta, while over 60% of hunters do not agree with this sentiment. Over 50% of hunters agree or strongly agree that CWD will remain in Alberta at a low level and will not be eradicated; only 2% of hunters believe it will be eradicated or will disappear due to natural evolution. These numbers have not shown significant change over three years of data. A conclusion from this information is that many hunters are resigned to the reality of hunting with CWD in Alberta. Finally, very few respondents agree or disagree). Again, very little change over time occurred.

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 17. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to wildlife in Alberta (Source: Adamowicz et al 2019, 2020).



Figure 18. Alberta hunter perceptions of the future of CWD in Alberta (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 19. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to human health (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

Respondents were also asked about actions that could reflect perceptions of risk. When asked their level of agreement with eating or giving away meat *before* receiving the CWD test results from their harvested animals, nearly 50% of people disagree (strongly or somewhat) with this action. Those that strongly disagree have increased over time, but those that slightly disagree have remained relatively constant. However, approximately 30% of people still agree (slightly or strongly) with eating or giving away meat prior to knowing the test result. Those that somewhat disagree are decreasing over time from 27% in 2007 to 17% in 2019; those that strongly agree have remained relatively constant over time, albeit with a slight increase—a difference from the previous sentiments.



Figure 20. Alberta hunter perceptions of the risk of CWD to human health based upon willingness to eat or give away meat before receiving CWD test results (Source: Adamowicz 2008; Adamowicz et al, 2019, 2020).

Management Options

Respondents were also asked to indicate their level of agreement with a range of policy options that engage hunters in CWD management. All options involve some level of incentive for increased hunting, thereby reducing populations—and therefore transmission—of the disease in specific areas. A description of the management options is included in Table 9.

Table 10. Policy options described in the AB Hunter Surveys 2017-2019 (Source: Adamowicz et al.,2019, 2020).

| Policy | Description |
|-----------------------|---|
| Expansion of hunting | Extending current hunting seasons in high-risk CWD areas for two |
| season | weeks into December (or one week in October). |
| Extra tags / licenses | You can purchase one extra tag for mule deer if you win a special |
| | license draw for high-risk CWD areas. You can get an extra priority |
| | point in the draw system for mule deer special licenses for high-risk |
| | CWD areas if you submit one mule deer head. |
| Gift cards | You can get a gift card reward if you submit heads from high-risk CWD |
| | areas. |
| Donation | You can donate the monetary reward to a conservation organization if |
| | you submit heads from high-risk CWD areas. |
| Special quota hunts | To reduce deer populations in the most CWD prevalent areas have |
| | special quota hunts from December through February |
| Extra female tags | To reduce infected herd sizes, increase the number of female tags in |
| | high-risk CWD areas. |
| Three-point buck | Reduce number of mature, infected males with a minimum 3-point |
| restriction | restriction in high-risk CWD areas. |

Over the three years, the most preferred option of Alberta hunters are additional tags, followed closely by the expansion of the hunting season. Donations and gift cards are not preferred options and therefore policies that use that approach are expected to have a lower success rate. The least preferred option is a three-point buck restriction. Again, there was little change over time between preferences.

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options



Figure 21. Alberta hunter preferences on CWD management options (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

Additional analysis into the management option of season expansion has been completed by Xie et al. (2020). The authors estimate an econometrics model based on revealed preference (actual trips) and stated preference (intended trips) for recreational hunting trips in Alberta to estimate how individual hunters would respond to a longer hunting season. Results indicate that hunters substitute activities both spatially (where they hunt) and temporally (timing of their hunt) in order to increase the benefit they derive from hunting. These findings suggest that time flexibility could be used as an incentive to change behavior when decisions involve time, as in the case of expansion of the hunting season beyond the standard month of November and into October or December.

Indication that season extensions do impact the trip behaviour of hunters—in contrast to the presence of CWD, which currently does not (Pattison-Williams et al., 2020)—this result is important and timely for wildlife managers seeking alternative to slow the spread of CWD. It shows that there are benefits from hunters that are willing support the reduction in deer populations through extended seasons, which are financially more attractive that the costs associated with herd reduction programs. This benefit information is discussed in the policy options section.

Summary

A message conveyed from Alberta mule deer hunters through ongoing surveys is that action to reduce spread and prevalence of CWD provides individual hunter level benefits and regional economic benefits. While perceptions of CWD have not changed much over time, management actions should be implemented soon, as increasing prevalence levels occurring in Alberta and Saskatchewan may remove the attractiveness of several of the policy options. These insights are important for the assessment of benefits and costs of policy options as outlined in the policy discussion section below. Other conclusions from this ongoing research indicates:

- Fairly constant hunter awareness and perceptions of CWD over time.
- License sales are not declining over time, indicating that hunters are not reducing their effort, even with moderately high levels of CWD present.
- Hunters are concerned about CWD impacts on wildlife herd health, and do not think eradication is likely.
- US research indicates reduced hunting effort occurs when CWD reaches high (>30%) prevalence levels. While this is not evident yet in Canada, increasing numbers of hunters are checking prevalence levels prior to draw submission, indicating a shift could occur if prevalence increases dramatically.
- Management options such as hunting season expansion can provide a high benefit-low cost approach to CWD management rather than financially and socially costly herd reduction approaches.
- The removal of the replacement tag program in Alberta 2019 was not popular among some hunters and should be reconsidered; although recent data suggests that the majority of hunters are not opposed to this change in program. (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

Professional Outfitters

Background

Outfitted hunting is an important contributor to the economies of Canada and the USA, with particular benefit to rural and remote regions. In 2017, 730,000 clients were served by professional outfitters in Canada, and these clients spent over \$3.8 billion (2017 CAD\$) and supported nearly 37,000 jobs (CFOA 2018b). Many of these clients come from the US, where they spent approximately \$58.6 billion (2007 USD) in 2007. Attracting more of these clients to Canada represents an enormous economic and conservation opportunity for the industry in Canada.

The potential for CWD to affect client choices makes the professional outfitting community an important stakeholder in CWD management discussion. Much like hunters, they have a personal interest in maintaining healthy wildlife populations, are on the land viewing wildlife patterns more than the general public, consume deer meat on a regular basis, and financially contribute to wildlife management through the purchase of licenses each year. As such, jurisdictions across North America that are experiencing CWD have engaged with these individuals (Pybus, 2012, Vaske and Miller, 2019). Despite this importance, there is no published academic research on CWD management approaches with professional outfitters in Canada.

Results

As an important stakeholder, we engaged with this group in 2019 and 2020 in order to gauge their willingness to participate in our research to assess preferences for CWD surveillance and management, their risk perceptions and current dealing with CWD. This survey was national in scope and was distributed to 957 outfitters found by an online search; it was implemented through the platform SurveyGizmo and yielded 89 complete responses and 113 partially complete responses. Survey results on awareness, knowledge of CWD, risk perceptions and preferences for various CWD management options are presented below.

YearMethodSample Size2020Online survey instrument to professional outfitters
across Canada. Respondents identified by online
searches and databases from professional organizations
publicly available online.
Survey design discussion enhanced through focus group
discussion with professional outfitters.
957 outfitters were identified and emailed in February-
March 2020. Response rate of 23%Sample Size

Table 11. Professional outfitter survey design process 2020

Awareness and Risk Perceptions

It is notable that outfitters are more knowledgeable about CWD than hunters (from across Canada) and by implication the public and cervid farmers (forgiving the small sample properties) (Table 11). This may be a self-selection bias, where the outfitters most knowledgeable/most aware of CWD may have selected to complete the survey. It is also notable (although with small sample issues) that outfitters agree (small strength of agreement) that "the threat of CWD has been exaggerated" (unlike hunters who slightly disagree in 2018) and that they disagree that "they and their families have concerns about eating elk and deer meat because of CWD", similar to hunters.

Table 12. Survey results on outfitter CWD awareness, knowledge and risk perceptions (Source: Klotz et al., 2020b).

| Question | Survey 2020 | Survey 2018 |
|--|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| | Outfitter | Hunter |
| Sample Size | 89 | 450 |
| | % Y | es |
| CWD Awareness prior to survey | 97 (72 heard a lot) | 46 |
| | Score between 0 (no knowled | ge) and 4 (high knowledge) |
| CWD Knowledge Score | 2.61 | 1.13 |
| | Roselius Ranking (positive agree | ement, negative disagreement) |
| The threat of CWD has been exaggerated | 10.34 | -3.33 |
| I, or my family, have concerns about eating elk and deer meat because of CWD | -41.86 | -28.00 |
| | | |

* Red numbers highlight a result of particular interest.

Management Options

In terms of acceptability of the various management options that have been tried, outfitters find unacceptable any strategy that increases the number of animals to be hunted (culling either elk or deer or providing additional hunting tags) unlike hunters. Neither outfitters nor hunters find it acceptable to take no action to deal with CWD, although with their disagreement with some management options, it is not clear any of these management strategies are likely to be politically acceptable. Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Table 13. | Acceptability | of Different | CWD | Management | Options to | Outfitters | (Source: | Klotz et | : al., |
|-----------|---------------|--------------|-----|------------|-------------------|-------------------|----------|----------|---------------|
| 2020b) | | | | | | | | | |

| Question | Survey 2020 | Survey 2018 | | | | |
|---------------------------------|------------------------|-------------|--|--|--|--|
| | Outfitter | Hunter | | | | |
| Sample Size | 89 | 450 | | | | |
| | Roselius Ranking Score | | | | | |
| Cull Elk | -35.87 | 58.00 | | | | |
| Cull Deer | -32.61 | 58.00 | | | | |
| Mandatory submission of | 52.17 | 62.22 | | | | |
| heads | | | | | | |
| Voluntary submission of heads | 50.00 | 61.56 | | | | |
| Educational materials | 58.70 | 80.22 | | | | |
| Open public meetings | 61.96 | 74.00 | | | | |
| Mailouts | 21.74 | 64.89 | | | | |
| Freezer locations | 59.78 | 67.56 | | | | |
| Additional hunting tags | -20.65 | 75.33 | | | | |
| Take no action | -17.39 | -63.11 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Restrict baiting of animals for | -15.22 | 30.00 | | | | |
| hunting purposes | | | | | | |
| When vaccines are developed, | 42.39 | 66.00 | | | | |
| implement vaccination | | | | | | |
| program for wild deer, elk and | | | | | | |
| moose | | | | | | |
| When technology allows, | 55.43 | 73.78 | | | | |
| subsidize data collection of | | | | | | |
| different samples (fecal | | | | | | |
| samples etc.) to monitor CWD | | | | | | |
| spread | | | | | | |

* Red numbers highlight a result of particular interest.

Information Sources

One additional focus of the outfitter survey was their CWD information sources and information sharing about CWD with their clients. In Table 13, data on the perceived adequacy of information about various different aspects of CWD is presented. Although the majority of outfitters believe their information on many aspects of CWD is high, it is clear that it is far from complete for many outfitters. Outfitters in this survey are from across Canada and it is possible that outfitters outside Alberta/Saskatchewan know less about the disease than those in the Canadian hotspots (although with the spread to Quebec it should have become a bigger issue in other parts of the country). In addition, we asked the outfitters about their use of different sources of information (not including social media or social contact) and these agents do not use many of the public sources of information, including information on the potential implications of CWD for public health—something that would come from the Public Health Agency of Canada, for example. Given the importance of this group for the management of CWD in the wild it is clear that there needs to

be more effective dissemination of public reliable information if the disease is to be properly assessed by this group. In other survey data, the outfitters responded that they seldom discuss CWD with their clients.

| Table 14. Outfit | ter perception of | of level of informa | tion about CWD | (Source: Klotz e | t al., 2020b). | | | | |
|--|---|--|---------------------------------------|--|---|---|---|-----------------------------------|--|
| Prior to receiving this survey do you feel you had enough information about: | Precautions that hunters should take because of CWD | Where deer, elk or moose with CWD have been found in Canada | The symptoms of CWD in wildlife | What type(s) of wildlife species have CWD | What the provincial wildlife agencies are doing about CWD in Canada | What provinces have deer, elk or moose with CWD | When CWD was first identified in deer, elk and moose in Canada | How CWD first got to Canada | |
| Mean | 3.586 | 3.874 | 3.632 | 3.908 | 3.184 | 3.816 | 3.632 | 3.230 | |
| Frequency | | | | | | | | | |
| Strongly disagree | 8 | 3 | 6 | 3 | 11 | 4 | 6 | 10 | |
| Slightly disagree | 6 | 7 | 12 | 7 | 17 | 9 | 9 | 15 | |
| Neither agree nor | 19 | 14 | 12 | 11 | 16 | 13 | 20 | 24 | |
| disagree | | | | | | | | | |
| Slightly agree | 35 | 37 | 35 | 40 | 31 | 34 | 28 | 21 | |
| Strongly agree | 19 | 26 | 22 | 26 | 12 | 27 | 24 | 17 | |

1 0 1 0 ... 0.1

Table 15. Professional outfitter CWD information sources and frequency (Source: Klotz et al.,2020b).

| How often have you received CWD information from the following sources over the last year? | Television news | Radio news | Online news | Local newspapers | Provincial Hunting Regulations | Canadian outdoor / wildlife publications | Provincial wildlife agency newsletters | Provincial wildlife agency staff | Canadian Food Inspection Agency website | Public Health Agency of Canada website |
|---|--------------------|------------|-----------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------------|---|---|---|---|--|
| Mean | 1.278 | 1.167 | 2.111 | 1.444 | 2.368 | 1.895 | 1.737 | 1.389 | 1.056 | 1.056 |
| Frequency | | | | | | | | | | |
| Never | 14 | 16 | 5 | 11 | 3 | 7 | 9 | 12 | 17 | 17 |
| 1-2 times | 3 | 1 | 6 | 6 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 5 | 1 | 1 |
| 3-4 times | 1 | 1 | 7 | 1 | 6 | 3 | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| 5 or more | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| times | | | | | | | | | | |

Summary

Professional outfitters are an important part of CWD management and engaging with this community has important practical implications for controlling the spread of the disease.

Specific conclusions from this ongoing research indicate:

- Outfitters had the highest awareness of the disease among stakeholder groups and did not support any of the CWD management options that increase hunting of animals.
- Their views about acceptable management strategies differ considerably from hunter views and from views of the public.
- Although there is a high degree of CWD severity in some parts of the country, CWD is not seen to be the most significant risk to professional outfitter livelihoods, because not all outfitters in Canada deal explicitly with cervids.
Cow Calf Cattle Operations

Background

The existence of CWD is interrelated with cow-calf sector properties as well as with public lands. Pastures are often grazed by cervids and cattle at the same time. Given the development of BSE in cattle there has always been heightened concerns about the possibility of transmission of CWD to cattle. However, experimental and long-term field research has suggested little possibility of transmission of CWD to cattle. In fact, Williams et al. 2018 found no transmission to cattle either orally or after "the environmentally challenged cattle were exposed to CWD-associated prions through common paddocks, feed, and water and via direct daily contact with known and potentially infected mule deer or wapiti (*Cervus canadensis*) throughout the decade-long study period" (pg. 460). While more research will be required to understand if cattle (different genetics perhaps) are resistant to all strains of CWD, the research to date does not suggest the possibility of transmission.

That being said there are other complications associated with CWD and ranches. It is not only the passage of cervids through properties that may spread CWD prions through their saliva, urine and feces. Nichols et al 2015 found experimentally that coyotes who were fed CWD-infected brain material could pass infectious prions in their feces. Other animals may also spread CWD if they ingest carcases of infected cervids, providing an additional challenge for cow-calf producers.

Results

Lee and Good (2015) undertook a survey of beef producers in Alberta (672 responses) on the impact of wildlife on their operations. Ungulates were identified as a major concern for beef producers in terms of disease transmission and in terms of consumption of feed. Feed availability was affected through ungulate consumption of forages and of stored feed. Forage competition was reported for white tailed deer (83%), mule deer (74%), elk (54%) with very few reports of moose competition. A majority of producers facing forage competition did not report forage losses for compensation (available through AFSC) for a variety of reasons, including the fact that returns were assessed as 'not worth the effort' and the fact that producers felt those losses were at acceptable levels (pg. 61). Stored feed is also negatively affected by the same cervids (for 70%) of beef producers and again producers seldom apply for compensation for similar reasons. 55% of the producers in the survey identified disease transmission from ungulates to cattle as being of concern (with 17% of those producers identifying CWD as of major concern) (pg. 67). In terms of implementation of measures to reduce the impact of ungulates on their operations, 85% reported measures to protect feed from ungulates, some producers reported measures such as allowing hunters to hunt on their land to reduce ungulate populations (pg. 69).

In our research, we are currently collecting data from Alberta cow calf producers on awareness, concerns about and preferred management options related to CWD (Goddard et al., 2021). Our initial data collected is too small a sample to be quantified at this point. However, for purely illustrative purposes, it does

appear that cow calf producers have a reasonably high level of knowledge of CWD (as compared to other groups). However, not all producers have high levels of concern about their cattle being exposed to CWD from ungulates, nor are they all observing more cervid carcases on the property recently. For the initial small group of producers there seems to be less concern about any possible trade barriers affecting the beef industry from CWD than the costs of a possible requirement to vaccinate cattle that might occur in the future. Of strategies that might arise in the surveillance for CWD, producers are somewhat more in favour of participating in reporting ill or dead ungulates or doing environmental testing than in allowing more hunters on their land. As more data becomes available, we will be able to see if a larger representative sample of cow calf producers in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba shows similar results.

Summary

The cattle industry in western Canada is a stakeholder in CWD management due to cross-use of wild cervids on pasture and agricultural lands. Themes expressed by beef producers include:

- Wild ungulates are a concern in terms of disease transmission (CWD, and other diseases) and feed consumption.
- Producers generally like cervids and do not want to see them eradicated from their properties and worry about costs of reducing contact between cattle and cervids.
- Preliminary results indicate limited concern over possible trade barriers impacting the beef industry due to CWD.

Property Rights

Property Rights and Wildlife

Concepts of property rights have long been part of investigations into wildlife management issues (Tober 1981, Lueck 2002, Cheever 2001, Child 1993). Despite the rich literature on wildlife and property rights, much of this knowledge remains at a highly conceptual level with little guidance as to how to apply these concepts to gain insights into specific, contemporary wildlife management issues such as CWD. As wildlife managers assess alternative management actions for CWD, current structures of property rights are germane to defining starting conditions regarding what benefits stakeholders receive, how these rights might be changed by alternative policies and to provide insights into potential impacts of policies on incentives of property right holders.

Many concepts of property rights have their origins in legal definitions of real property, which is nonmovable, such as real estate (Kaplinsky and Percy n.d.). But such concepts of property rights are not very applicable when it comes to considering the multiple types of benefits that various stakeholders derive from migrating and wandering wildlife. Alternatively, concepts of Bromley (1991) are useful, where property rights are made up of some type of natural resource asset (e.g., wildlife) and sets of social conditions. Taken together, the asset and social conditions create a benefit stream, or property right, with associated incentives that influence the ways that rights are used by various stakeholders. Stakeholders

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

can obtain numerous types of benefit streams from cervid species: hunters benefit from harvesting and consuming animals; game viewers benefit from non-consumptive uses that put them in close proximity to animals; the general public benefits from passive-use values associated with just knowing a population is healthy and thriving.

Authors have used many different frameworks to describe and analyze property rights in resource management situations. In describing property rights to cervids, Durocher and Luckert (2020) employ a set of property right characteristics similar to those used by Luckert et al. (2011) for forest policy analysis. This framework can be used to facilitate the comparison of different CWD management actions, their effect on property rights of various stakeholders, and the trade-offs they imply. Appendix 1 describes the characteristics that apply for two stakeholder frameworks: the general public and landowner/hunters. Using these characteristics, Appendices 2 and 3 show the property right structures for, respectively, Alberta and Saskatchewan. For cervid stakeholders in Alberta and Saskatchewan there are marked differences in the types of benefit streams that are currently held by the general public (Appendices 2.1 and 3.1) vs. hunters and landowners (Appendices 2.2 and 3.2). Though hunters' benefit streams are described in terms of use values, the general public has stakes in CWD issues through passive-use values.

Information about property rights can be used in many different ways to help address CWD management issues. First, they may be used to compare and contrast situations in different geographical locations. For example, unlike Alberta, Saskatchewan allows cervid farmers to charge hunters access to hunt and harvest private animals on private land (Tourism Saskatchewan Canada, n.d.). Second, viewing CWD through a property rights lens can also draw attention to uncertainty; uncertainties that arise from unknowns about the spread of CWD and the complexities associated with social responses to the disease (e.g., Vaske 2010). Third, explicit characterizations of property rights can aid in describing changes in CWD policies. For example, the proposed policy options generated in section 2 were developed by changing selected starting conditions described in the Appendices. Appendix 4 describes how these characteristics relate to specific potential changes to CWD management options.

Preferences for Policy Options

Starting with current property right conditions, a number of policy options were identified for the three stakeholder groups: the general public, hunters and landowners. A paired comparison approach was employed allowing econometric estimates of utility (or disutility) associated with various policy options.⁷ Table 1 presents a summary of the types of policy options that were proposed and summarizes results for the three stakeholder groups. The results suggest that the general public seems receptive to using hunters to reduce herd sizes, through increased tags and compensation for submitting positive tested CWD heads; and promoting environmental sampling on private land to detect CWD. In contrast, the public seems to dislike using sharpshooters to cull herds (on public or private land), and a number of options involving landowners, including increasing the number of licenses they may obtain, allowing them to charge hunters for access and providing them with extension services. Hunters tend to like the option to help

⁷ See Durocher and Luckert (2020) for details on the approach and results.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

control herd sized with increased hunter harvests, and support payments to provide incentives to submit harvested heads for testing. Landowners support the use of environmental sampling, even on private lands, to help track the spread of CWD. Another stark result of this study (results not shown here) is the remarkable homogeneity of preferences across different segments of society. There are very few cases with conflicting positive and negative preferences across groups.

 Table 16. Summary of Results of Stakeholder Preferences for Proposed Policy Options (Source: Durocher and Luckert, 2020).

| General Public | Hunters | Landowners |
|--|---|---|
| Government <i>sharpshooters</i> on <i>public land</i> X (widespread) | Doubling the number of available tags (widespread) | Using <i>environmental sampling</i> on <i>private land</i> to identify areas in need of CWD management |
| Requiring landowners to allow government <i>sharpshooters</i> on <i>private land</i> X (widespread) | Providing free tags in CWD-endemic areas X (many neutral) | Allowing <i>landowners</i> to <i>charge hunters for access</i> to private land X (widespread) |
| Using <i>hunters</i> to increase harvest on <i>public land</i> (widespread) | Requiring unwanted animal parts be disposed of at a county dump site Neutral | Providing extension services to landowners who work cooperatively with their neighbours to manage their lands for CWD X (widespread) |
| Restricted movement of carcasses and hunted products (widespread, not hunters) | Distributing \$50 and a tag to hunters who submit heads that test positive for CWD (widespread) | Providing extra tags to landowners who work cooperatively with their neighbours to manage their lands for CWD (baseline, neutral) |
| Allowing <i>landowners</i> to <i>charge hunters for access</i> to private land X (widespread) | Extending the hunting season by 2 weeks (baseline, neutral) | |
| Increasing the number of available landowner special licenses X (widespread) | | |
| Government compensation to landowners for providing access to hunters (baseline, neutral) | | |

Summary

Thus far, the property rights concepts described above have only been used to consider management implications among select stakeholders. An important, but omitted, segment includes property rights and policy options for cervid farmers, whose benefit streams are derived from producing animals and their products. Another important segment is made up of the property rights held by Indigenous peoples, for whom cervids play important roles in traditional and ongoing livelihoods and cultures. However, given the potential for differences in property right concepts and systems for Indigenous peoples, it is not evident what type of property right frameworks would appropriately characterize the benefit streams that Indigenous peoples benefit from within localized social conditions. In order to investigate policy options and their acceptability to Indigenous peoples, future research will need to begin by investigating the applicability of alternative property right concepts in order to develop culturally appropriate property rights approaches.

Synthesis of Perspectives

This section has explored the perspectives of rightsholders and stakeholders impacted by CWD. Using secondary information and primary research methods conducted by members of this research team over the last fifteen years, we present the level of knowledge, attitudes and management preferences for CWD

of each of these groups. Although the methods to elicit these perspectives has some variation due to the unique characteristics of each group, several trends were observed:

Canadian Public:

- Over time, the number of people who have ever eaten venison has increased. Eating frequency does not appear to be increasing across the population over time
- Awareness and knowledge of CWD has dramatically *declined* across time. Even though the general level of awareness is down in 2018, there is much stronger disagreement with the statement 'The threat of CWD has been exaggerated', than was found in 2009.
- The public is significantly interested in mandatory CWD animal testing before meat is marketed and continues to be interested in supporting taxes to pay for management or surveillance. This implies that healthy cervid populations are important to the Canadian public.

Indigenous Rightsholders

- Ungulates are a major component of food security for Indigenous peoples, but also contribute to significant cultural values including sharing networks.
- Concerns about cultural tipping points, arising from environmental conditions, costs, and time constraints of local people have been expressed by First Nations. However, safety of ungulate meat is a driving concern.
- The Alberta Assembly of Tribal Chiefs, representing First Nations in Treaty 6, 7 and 8 passed a resolution passed in June 2019 supporting collaborative research on CWD surveillance.
- Work undertaken thus far raises questions about how the continued spread of CWD, as well as management efforts (e.g., health advisories), has the potential to contribute to increased food insecurity among Indigenous communities, whose traditional economies are also compromised by other stresses (e.g., habitat degradation, climate change).
- A greater role of communities in disease surveillance (e.g., monitoring) and in decisions of wildlife management may contribute to both social and ecological resilience.

Cervid Producers

- Cervid farming in Canada was a relatively new industry when CWD was discovered in Canada.
- CWD caused a serious negative economic shock to the industry, which has been declining in total farms and total animals since CWD was found.
- Cervid farmers are very aware of and knowledgeable about CWD due to the significant economic impact on the industry

- The voluntary herd certification program (VHCP) initiated in 2002 and (HCP) revamped in 2018 is a comprehensive program to prevent CWD exposure, certify safe cervid production for consumption or trade purposes, and enable access to federal compartment response (animal destruction) and related compensation should CWD be discovered.
- Mandatory testing currently for all cervids slaughtered in CWD endemic regions makes testing rates for CWD higher than in wild cervids; positive cases recently are lower in numbers relative to wild cervids.

Alberta Hunters

- Fairly constant hunter awareness and perceptions of CWD over time.
- License sales continue to increase, indicating that hunters are not reducing their effort, even with moderately high levels of CWD present.
- Hunters are concerned about CWD impacts on wildlife herd health, but do not think eradication is likely.
- US research indicates reduced hunting effort occurs when CWD reaches high (>30%) prevalence levels. While this is not evident yet in Canada, increasing numbers of hunters are checking prevalence levels prior to draw submission, indicating a shift could occur if prevalence increases dramatically.
- Management options such as hunting season expansion can provide a high benefit-low cost approach to CWD management rather than financially and socially costly herd reduction approaches.
- The removal of the replacement tag program in Alberta 2019 was not popular among some hunters and should be reconsidered; although recent data suggests that the majority of hunters are not opposed to this change in program. (Source: Adamowicz et al., 2019, 2020).

Professional Outfitters

- Outfitters had the highest awareness of the disease in wild cervids when compared with other stakeholder groups, yet did not support any of the CWD management options that increase hunting of animals
- Their views about acceptable management strategies differ considerably from hunter views and from views of the public
- Even given the severity of CWD spread in parts of the country, CWD is not seen to be the most significant risk to outfitter livelihood from cervid populations

Cow Calf Cattle Operations

• Wild ungulates are a concern in terms of disease transmission (CWD and other) and feed consumption.

- Producers generally like cervids and do not want to see them eradicated from their properties and worry about costs of reducing contact between cattle and cervids.
- Preliminary results indicate limited concern over possible trade barriers impacting the beef industry due to CWD.

Overall, the data confirms that developing policy in this area is complex because of the fact that in any policy option there are groups who perceive the approach as beneficial while others who perceive it as costly. Clarification and careful communication of the impacts of the policy on different sectors, will be critical for policy application.

5.0 INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND CHRONIC WASTING DISEASE

CWD interferes with trade of live animals of the cervid species, of products produced from either farmed or wild animals (such as antler velvet or deer urine), of trophy heads from hunted animals and of meat from (or other parts of carcases) from either farmed or wild animals.

From a Canadian perspective the farmed cervid industry was developed as a source of diversification of the agricultural sector based on low input costs and the use of relatively marginal land (for other agricultural purposes). Hobbs et al. (2000) pointed out that some Canadian provinces did not allow the development of certain deer farms due to the possibility of farmed animals escaping and breeding with wild animals. Initially the elk industry was developed significantly in Western Canada, but the primary economic output was antler velvet largely for the Korean market. The New Zealand cervid industry was developed on similar grounds. From the time of finding CWD in the Canadian market (on a farm) the Korean market was closed to exports of antler velvet from Canada (a boon to the New Zealand industry) and the USA (given the belief that CWD was brought to Canada in a farmed animal exported to Saskatchewan). There was talk of opening the market in 2015 but to date trade talks have not progressed subsequently. It is worth mentioning that Korea was one of the latest countries to relax trade restrictions on Canadian beef that emanated from the finding of BSE in 2003 (2012 with a temporary closure again in response to BSE in 2015). Although other Asian markets such as China did not close their markets permanently to Canadian exports of antler velvet, the Korean market is the biggest market and exclusion from that market had huge economic ramifications for the Canadian elk industry.

Awareness of CWD across North America have resulted in a variety of regulations at national and state /provincial levels. For example, with regard to live animal (and animal part movements), a summary report by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources states that "Thirty states and seven of the Canadian provinces listed prohibit the importation of live cervids from any county, region and/or state where CWD has been detected; have regulations that can prohibit importation from CWD areas; require that the state exporting the cervid be enrolled in an official CWD monitoring and certification program; and/or require only that there has been no diagnosis of CWD in the originating herd or imported cervid. Nineteen states and three of the Canadian provinces listed have banned all cervid imports. One state and one of the Canadian provinces listed have no specific rules listed. In Canada, national disease control of CWD falls primarily under the Health of Animals Act, and Health of Animals Regulations." (Michigan Department of Natural Resources, 2020, Page 1). These 2020 numbers show a steady increase in more restrictive trade policies for live animals across time in both countries. Given the increasing spread of CWD in Canada and in the US, measures to stop the flow of potentially infected animals are unsurprising. The USA does allow semen to be exported (even without permits from land with CWD exposure) from Canada, from New Zealand and Australia (protocol in development), as well as embryos from New Zealand and Australia.

In the European Union (EU) and specifically in the United Kingdom (UK) there are also bans on trade in live cervids, from any country known to have CWD which now includes Norway, Finland and Sweden. Finland and Sweden have changed their restrictions on their own findings of CWD. In addition, UK

restrictions (building on EU regulations) include the following: imports are banned into the UK of deer urine, deer faeces, and lures obtained from deer for use in deer hunting or other deer attracting activities which contain the above animal by-products, deer products cannot be imported into the UK if they were manufactured in the USA, Canada, South Korea and Norway (where CWD is present) or produced from deer products from those countries, deer products from countries free from CWD can only be imported under certain conditions. Korea also banned the importation of live elk subsequent to their import of infected animals from Canada. Russia has imported some live farmed cervids from Canada, with the criteria that the farm of origin satisfies a certain level of the HCP certification program.

Meat from cervid animals is not completely banned from trade (or carry from hunted animals). However full carcases are banned from movement between the majority of provinces/states (particularly given evidence of CWD) and across borders. However, for example, the state of Vermont allows imports (from provinces or states of the following: *i*) *meat that is cut up, packaged and labeled with hunting license information and not mixed with other deer or elk during processing; ii*) *meat that is boneless; iii*) *hides or capes with no part of the head attached; iv*) *clean skull-cap with antlers attached; v*) *antlers with no other meat or tissue attached; vi*) *finished taxidermy heads; or vii*) *upper canine teeth with no tissue attached.* (Government of Vermont, 2020). Meat processed through slaughter plants (from farms) is allowed if the animals have been tested for CWD.

Beyond trade regulations on actual cervids and their products, Norway has imposed trade restrictions on hay and straw to be used for animal feed, imported from countries/regions outside the European Economic Area (EEA). The restrictions include the following: i) Hay and straw must have been stored for two months before import or use. (Alternative 1 is that the product must be accompanied by a declaration from the producer that the hay/straw was stored for at least two months before export. Alternative 2 is a requirement that the hay/straw is stored two months after import and before use, except for products that were accompanied by a declaration from the producer that the hay/straw was stored for at least two months before export.); ii) Hay and straw from the USA and Canada must be accompanied by attestation from an official veterinarian certifying that the product was harvested in a state or province where Chronic Wasting Disease has not been detected. (European Commission, 2018). These Norwegian restrictions were based on their own expert risk assessment associated with CWD and the scientific findings that CWD can exist in the environment and in plants after being exposed to CWD from infected wildlife or farmed animals. To date no other countries have imposed similar trade restrictions. At the time of the discussion of zoning as a preventative measure against the spread of CWD (2014), there was the possibility of including restrictions on movements of forage from inside the zone to outside the zone as well. However, these were domestic movement restrictions.

As an example of the development of regulations related to CWD, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has made the following recommendations to protect human health in terms of exposure to CWD: i) *Systematic testing: Only allowing human consumption of meat, meat products and offal sourced from animals that have been tested negative for CWD; ii) Targeted measures: Prohibition of harvesting/hunting susceptible species or the introduction of compulsory testing of animals before human consumption in/from declared infected premises/areas (e.g. a farm, or a surveillance, region, country, construction)* etc.); and ii) Systematic removal of high-risk tissues from all cervids intended for human consumption with no requirement for testing (EFSA, 2019).

Although these recommendations have not been imposed yet in the EU, it is clear that implementing these regulations would have implications for the import of cervid meats. While these recommendations have varying levels of safety attached to them and also have varying levels of difficulty of implementation, the progression of regulations within North America appears to be following a similar evolution.

Risks associated with contamination from CWD infected animals are being recognized from some countries sensitive to exposure to their own cervids. For example, Australia has an Assessment of Bulk Wheat from Canada in terms of its Animal Biosecurity Risk (Biosecurity Animal Division, 2019). In that assessment they include Chronic Wasting Disease among other livestock diseases. To mitigate against CWD they require pre-export conditions on farm production measures (product must be from broad acre cultivation, mechanically harvested and on farm storage in bags or under cover must be short term in nature, measures to reduce the potential contamination by infected cervids).

Canada also exports hay (see Table 17 below), again trade that could be affected by CWD contamination.

Table 17. Hay Industry Trade, Canada

| Hay Industry | 000 dollars | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| All Countries (Total) | Total Exports | 121719 | 138394.9 | 160015.5 | 166441.1 | 178813.7 |
| | Total Imports | 15772.25 | 16162.1 | 21200.15 | 29734.22 | 22586.19 |
| | Trade Balance | 105946.8 | 122232.8 | 138815.3 | 136706.9 | 156227.5 |
| Source: Trade Data Onli | ine (accessed: Februa | ary 17, 2021) | | | | |

Given the economic impact of trade issues that could occur related to trade in grains and feed, there are significant research needs. For example: how contaminated are feeds—are we monitoring hay in pastures where cattle and cervids graze—over at least the medium term; although we know hamsters can get CWD from eating contaminated feed (Pritzkow et al., 2015) have we any other animal trials ongoing—do we know the possible rate of infectivity; can we accelerate research on pasture treatments that can reduce infectivity without harming animals or plants (e.g., Kuznetsova et al 2018)?

Should CWD ever be found to be transmissible to cattle (although Williams et al. (2018) suggests not likely to date):

- cattle/beef exports would be directly and immediately affected
- it might become necessary for cow calf properties to restrict access by cervids although the costs of protecting cattle in this way are very high

-the development of a vaccine for cattle would potentially become of importance (if such a vaccine is developed for cervids) however vaccination shows up in some tests as animals having been exposed to the disease and this in and of itself could interfere with live animal trade. New genomic tools to distinguish

between vaccination and actual disease evidence in development would be a priority if CWD is ever found to be transmissible to cattle.

While none of these trade restrictions are currently in place it is essential that the potential risks associated with the continuing CWD spread be considered a significant potential trade irritant. Organizations such as the OIE (and considerations at the WTO under the Sanitary and Phytosanitary Regulations on trade) could advance protections and allowable trade restrictions against CWD should the disease continue to spread across countries. Following a One-Health perspective, CWD clearly needs a multiple agency and country focus.

6.0 POLICY OPTIONS

A number of different policy options surrounding CWD have been discussed in the literature. These vary depending on whether the focus is on farmed cervids or wild cervids, the current CWD situation in the region, and numerous other issues. In this section we begin to assess some of these policy options. We first outline the principles we employed in assessing policy options. We provide examples of such approaches that have been considered in other contexts and jurisdictions. We then examine a list of specific policy options related to CWD that might be useful to consider in Canada. The focus is on policies that directly (cervid farm) and indirectly (through reducing spread and prevalence in the wild) affect the Canadian agri-food and agriculture sectors.

For each policy option we outline the benefits and costs of the policy. Often these benefits and costs are measured qualitatively or in a relevant range, as there are gaps in the data that are required for quantification. For example, information on monetary benefits of human health risk reductions is available, but the measure of health risk change associated with the policy may not be available in quantitative form. We provide a recommendation regarding implementation (or not) of each policy option based on the benefits, costs and other information. We also provide a commentary for each case. Some policy options are regional in nature, while others are national. We also list options where there is little information and thus an inability to make a recommendation. In these cases, we make recommendations regarding future research needs. Given the uncertainty associated with various aspects of CWD (transmission within cervids, impacts on cervid populations, transmission to other species including humans, etc.) our recommendations are made based on the most current available information and our judgement of the data and knowledge base. New information and findings will undoubtedly affect such assessments; thus, the recommendations we make could be revised in the future as information and conditions change.

An economic analysis of policy options typically includes an assessment of the costs, benefits and distribution of impacts on a region or population. The options considered may be regulatory or "command and control" policies or incentive-based policies. In general, CWD can be viewed as being costly as a disease because of its potential impact on wildlife populations, risk to livestock, and concerns about risks to humans. As a disease risk, CWD has spatial and temporal elements (spread and prevalence that changes over time). Perrings et al. (2014) describe "economic-epidemiology" as a framework for management of infectious diseases. Their framework differentiates between a private decision maker's problem and a social or public health problem. In the private context individuals make decisions regarding the trade-offs between actions that provide benefits (e.g., venison consumption) and the costs of the disease (health risks or risk mitigation costs). Private and public decision problems may differ if individuals do not take all the costs into account when making their decisions. For example, if individuals do not factor in risks to others when making an individual decision, then a classic externality arises and there will be a need for intervention to address the divergence between private and social outcomes. Further complicating the situation, CWD has many public good aspects. Wildlife health has private (e.g., hunting / harvesting) and public (existence value) characteristics. Public goods are typically underprovided and thus measures must be taken to address these values. Similarly, there are public good

aspects associated with the regulation of goods and services (e.g., food labelling, testing) when there are information asymmetries and uncertainty. All these elements suggest policy options or instruments ranging from strict requirements / regulations, to incentive-based approaches (penalties or rewards), to information provision or moral suasion. In some contexts, investments in technology (e.g., vaccines or rapid CWD tests) may be the best policy option.

It is noteworthy that many examples in the economic-epidemiology literature involve reducing outbreaks (e.g., invasive species) while there is relatively little literature on the treatment of endemic diseases like CWD. Maloney et al., 2020 is an example of the former—they conducted a cost benefit analysis of elk feeding grounds in the Greater Yellowhead Ecosystem. The feeding grounds were originally established to keep elk away from farms and minimize the spread of brucellosis to cattle. However, these feeding grounds increase the risk of the spread of CWD among feeding animals and risk of brucellosis when elk congregate around them. The results of the cost-benefit analysis suggest that in order to minimize the impact on wildlife, the use of feeding grounds should be avoided, and managers should look for other ways to keep elk away from farms. The benefits they consider include economic benefits for hunters, guides, outfitters, and other hunting-related businesses as well as benefits associated with viewing wildlife. The costs include increased rates of brucellosis and cost of elk depredation on private land for farmers.

Wilkinson et al., (2009) used cost-benefit analysis to assess whether culling badgers would reduce tuberculosis prevalence among cattle in Britain. The analysis indicated that although the culling practice would likely have positive impacts on the rates of tuberculosis, the economic cost would likely outweigh the benefits. The benefits in this case were calculated as the reduced cost to livestock while the costs included culling and trapping costs. In this case all benefits and costs were "private" while any public good aspects, including the value of badgers to the public, were not included.

While there are numerous other studies of the benefits and costs of policy options to address wildlife diseases or invasive species, their assessments depend, in large part, on data available for quantification of benefits, costs and risks. In some cases, the private costs or benefits are known, while public good components are generally limited. The case of CWD is complicated because of the issues of farmed cervids, wild cervids, uncertain transmission risks, limited knowledge of costs and significant public good aspects. As well, the data available on costs is inexact and difficult to assess from other jurisdictions.

A general categorization of benefits of CWD reduction include reduced human health risks, wildlife population risks, and economic (trade, tourism, industry) risks. Reduction of CWD could result in reduced costs of waiting for CWD test results, enhanced ability to verify disease free status in trade disputes or for food safety concerns, reduced spread of disease to other cervids and non-cervids, etc. Costs include costs of surveillance programs (including more labs / staff for testing), management (including enforcement amongst other activities) programs, technology investments, potential adverse impacts on consumers, hunters, industry, trade, etc. The risks associated with CWD can be characterized as follows: Human health—still no conclusive evidence, no published studies find human transmission, but health agencies advise against consumption of hunted animals before testing. Wild populations currently infected (deer, etc.)—likely declines in deer (elk, moose) populations with high prevalence

which will affect harvesters and possibly food security in some contexts and will affect wildlife health values. Wild population not currently known to be infected (caribou)—potentially significant impacts on threatened species which will also affect harvesters and food security in the north. Wild population (other animals)—there is evidence to suggest CWD possibly will be transmissible to other animals (Escobar et al., 2020). Site contamination poses ongoing risks to wildlife, cervid farms, livestock properties, and agriculture. There are concerns about risks of spread to livestock (Escobar et al., 2020). And there is a possibility of trade barriers being developed in response to the presence of CWD—related to feedstuffs possibly.

One other technical issue surrounding CWD policy is the fact that different agencies at different levels of government are involved and the disease is spread through wildlife movements which make it international in scope. Added to that is the significant importance of the affected species to food and culture in Indigenous communities requiring their participation to undertake effective (efficacious) management. Normal policy is often difficult within a jurisdiction managed by one agency—the co-operation required makes this a particularly unwieldy co-management policy process. The process is also hampered by uneven awareness and knowledge about the disease across the jurisdictions at a national level implying different levels of priority for management of the disease.

Array of Options

Policy Option 1: Preventing the spread to boreal caribou by targeted harvesting of deer and monitoring (AB and SK).

Introduction: As discussed above, Boreal caribou are a threatened species. Wild cervids infected with CWD are either near or overlapping, the range of herds of boreal caribou in Saskatchewan and Alberta. Based on the most recent assessments of caribou, herds in Alberta are at most risk (Environment Canada, 2011). They are described as non-self-sustaining and in some cases are well below self-sustaining population levels. A spatially targeted program to prevent CWD spread to caribou is necessary to reduce the risk to this threatened species. It would also help identify spread of CWD into Caribou herd areas through monitoring of hunter harvest head submissions. Such a program would combine ecological models of CWD spread with targeted hunter harvesting measures.

Benefits and Costs: The costs of caribou conservation are substantial (Hauer et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2011, 2010). Costs of recovering herds in Alberta to self-sustaining status range from \$5.8M to \$1.7B in a low energy price scenario (Hauer et al., 2018). Any adverse impact on caribou associated with CWD would exacerbate these costs. The public goods benefits of caribou conservation are also significant as illustrated using stated preference valuation methods (Harper, 2012) or focusing only on revealed economic trade-offs (Maher et al., 2020). Estimates from Harper (2012) suggest an annual provincial net benefit (benefits – costs) of caribou conservation of approximately \$250M for three to eleven herds. Note

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

that this is the value for Alberta alone. Maher et al (2020) using a very conservative revealed valuation approach suggest that Alberta has a conservation debt of approximately \$800M in net present value terms associated with caribou decline. The benefits associated with avoiding impacts on Indigenous communities and associated cultural significance and food security threats are also high. Note that there may be complementarities between actions to prevent the spread of CWD to boreal caribou, and strategies that have been suggested to support actions to create self-sustaining caribou populations. Landscape level fencing strategies have been proposed to protect caribou by excluding predators (wolves) and deer (https://www.cosia.ca/uploads/documents/id33/Hab-Tech%20-

<u>%20Fenced%20Caribou%20Safe%20Zone%20Feasibility%20Study.pdf</u>). These mechanisms appear to be components of cost-effective methods for the recovery to self-sustaining caribou herds (Hauer et al., 2018).

The cost of preventing the spread of CWD into caribou habitat is uncertain, but if it involved targeted harvest increases by resident hunters and Indigenous communities, it could be small, or even negative (since increases in harvests generate economic benefits see (Xie et al., 2020)). Zimmer et al. (2012) report a cost of approximately \$1M (in 2007) for a concentrated CWD management program. Estimates from Wisconsin suggest that \$48M has been spent over the years on monitoring and spread/prevalence reduction for the entire state. Even this cost estimate of \$48M is low relative to the benefit estimates provided above. However, there may be costs on other current users of wildlife resources (e.g., Outfitters) and if there are effects on wildlife population structure in the future, such a program could involve additional costs on future users. Careful bio-economic modelling is required to assess these dynamics. In addition, consultation with Indigenous Communities and other affected groups will have to be undertaken.

Recommendation: This option is strongly recommended. While the efficacy of hunter focused CWD management programs is mixed (Uehlinger et al., 2016; Miller et al, 2020) other potential control actions are also available and are likely effective in this context. Consideration of specific means to reduce the risk of spread to Caribou is warranted. These programs should be monitored for their ecological and social-economic efficacy (see Policy Option 4).

Note that if CWD is found in Boreal caribou herds this will create a very challenging situation.⁸ As caribou are a threatened species that is of particular cultural significance to Indigenous communities, traditional actions that have been taken in other countries (e.g., culling) may not be acceptable or possible given institutional frameworks. This provides additional evidence to support the attempt to reduce the chance of spread to caribou populations. Nevertheless, it would be prudent to begin to develop and assess options to address such a situation.

Policy Option 2: Require animal testing for all cervids slaughtered (dying) in Canada.

⁸ We thank Dr. Penny Greenwood for raising this issue.

Introduction: Required animal testing for all dead (including slaughtered) cervids from the farmed sector before the animals enter the food chain seems a sensible policy given current research outcomes about potential human transmission. However, this requirement seems to be decided at a provincial/territorial level currently and on occasion, the mandatory testing for all animals only appears to happen after the disease is found within a province/territory. For example, OMAFRA had a voluntary testing protocol for farmed white tailed deer and elk and covered the costs of the tests for farmers pre-2014 (Rosatte et al., 2014). This has since become mandatory. Quebec tested samples from 9500 farmed animals sent for slaughter between 2007 and 2018 but is now testing all animals. Given the role of CFIA in the regulation of the farmed sector, this national requirement is legislatively straightforward to implement within the country. The addition of the provinces and territories not currently covered by the current testing requirements might be incremental given that the majority of provinces/territories with farmed cervid industry are already mandated. Would it be popular; absolutely not, in spite of the fact there is a clear economic value of testing for the public.

Benefits and Costs: The main benefit to this policy is the potential human health impact should the disease ever be found to cross the human species barrier. There may also be a benefit to the industry, if it continues, in terms of consumer appreciation of proactive action (to ensure consumer awareness would require all tested meat to be labelled, something the industry is currently unwilling to do, possibly due to the fact that testing is not required in all provinces so there could be a stigmatizing effect of labeling meat as tested and other meat with no label). In addition, there would be a benefit from better surveillance for the disease. Since the disease is spread in both wild and farmed populations there is the very slight possibility that farms in certain provinces that do not currently test may have the disease in early aged animals and at low incidence levels. Knowledge of where there are farms with the disease across all provinces could help in determining targeted areas for other management options.

Costs are significant for both private and public agents. First of all, the capacity must exist to provide tests in a timely manner, for all animals requiring it. More capacity requires more labs and more people. Manitoba (which has had no disease findings to date) is improving testing capacity through the building of an additional lab (possibly due in part to the loss of earlier biocontainment space, CBC, 2020). Second, the longer term per test costs must be either picked up by the farm or shared between the farm and the relevant government. Given the potential public good aspects of this testing it might be prudent to pick up some of the costs publicly, as Ontario is doing, and as Saskatchewan does for animals older than 12 months with some recent changes for younger animals).

Recommendation: To protect public health and to help monitor CWD incidence this is strongly recommended for the country.

Policy Option 3: Make the Chronic Wasting Disease Herd Certification Program mandatory.

Introduction: Beyond the requirements for testing all dead animals from cervid farms, participation in the voluntary herd certification protocol requires record keeping, traceability, biosecurity protocols such

as those related to the use of equipment, perimeter fencing requirements and monitoring and restrictions on movement of animals between non-certified and certified farms. The farmers must work with accredited veterinarians on regular inspection and assessment of herd health. As of July 2020, 73 farms in Alberta (64 elk, four deer, five combined elk/deer- one with reindeer) were enrolled (Government of Alberta, 2020). As of May 2020, two farms in Manitoba, six farms in Ontario, four farms in Quebec and 13 in Saskatchewan were enrolled (Canadian Sheep Federation, 2020). The Yukon reports one farm enrolled in the CWD HCP as of October 2020 (Yukon Government, 2020). Even with declining numbers of cervid farms in the country these levels of enrolment do not suggest complete participation. Mandating that all farms participate was recommended by the Council of Chief Veterinary Officers in 2018.

Benefits and Costs: The benefits to the enrolment of all cervid farms in the program are both public and private. Public benefits include detailed information on the status of all farms and much higher probability of reduced CWD findings on cervid farms. Animal health will likely be improved by the regular monitoring by veterinarians and the biosecurity protocols embedded in the program. Private benefits include the possibility of better domestic and international market access for cervids and their products with certification from the program and increased acceptability of cervid products, particularly meat, within the domestic market. The federal government may have the means to discuss rolling back international trade restrictions in particular countries based on enrolment status of producers. These are difficult to quantify at the current stage of enrolment but could clearly be important to the economic survival of the sector.

As one example of costs, Arnot et al. (2009) identified the costs of double fencing for cervid farms in Alberta of up to \$17 million dollars. While the bulk of the costs of participation in the program are private (record keeping, satisfying new biosecurity protocols and upgrades as required by the program) there are also public costs that include administration, monitoring, and enforcement costs. The CFIA must continually update and assess needed requirements of the program as CWD status changes across the country. For controversial requirements, engagement with stakeholders could be a lengthy process. In addition to managing and operating the programs, the records and verification status must be maintained in national databases—agencies are required to manage the process at provincial levels and for Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec and Saskatchewan the Canadian Sheep Federation is managing the verification program data on behalf of the industry, at a cost.

Recommendation: As a policy which could enhance CWD management on farms (and through that, make some contribution to reducing spread in the wild) and improve economic opportunities for cervid farms, this requirement is clearly a relatively easy decision. However, likely cervid farms will not appreciate being mandated to participate in something that will change and restrict the way they do business and increase their costs. It will also be necessary to consider all aspects of the industry including the production of animals for use on hunt farms as part of the protocol to incentivize 100% participation.

Policy Option 4: Employ hunter harvest to reduce spread of CWD in wild populations (spatial targeting, etc.)

Introduction: While policy option 1 discusses hunter harvest in terms of reducing the risk of spread to caribou populations, this policy option is aimed at collaboration with hunters to reduce the spread (and potentially prevalence) of CWD in wild populations in general.

Benefits and Costs: The benefits of reducing CWD in wild populations include the benefits to the public associated with healthier wildlife populations (Forbes, 2011; Muringai and Goddard, 2018), benefits to Indigenous People associated with reduced risks of wild food declines and health risks (Parlee et al., 2014; Maye and Goddard, 2020) and benefits to licenced hunters in terms of reduced risks of wildlife population declines and avoidance of testing. The costs of this option depend on the scale of activity, but in some cases the costs could be *negative* in that allowing increased hunter harvests may generate benefits (Xie, et al., 2020). The costs will also have to include consultation with Indigenous Communities and other affected groups. The costs of such programs will increase if the targeted areas are not as desirable in terms of hunting locations or if there are conflicts with landowners or other impacts on other wildlife users (e.g., outfitters). The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (AFWA) report on CWD management (Gillin et al., 2018) indicates that Wisconsin has spent \$48M since 2002 on the management of CWD (monitoring and culling programs). But it is not clear how much of these costs are monitoring and how much is management. The costs will also be higher, and public acceptability lower, if professionals are used for culling populations or if other large-scale measures are taken (Durocher and Luckert, 2020). However, there may be significant costs on other users of wildlife resources and if future wildlife populations are affected there may be impacts on future economic benefit streams. This suggests a careful bio-economic assessment and monitoring process be conducted.

Recommendation: As mentioned above, the efficacy of hunter harvest programs is mixed (Uehlinger et al., 2016) but more recent evidence suggests that hunter harvests are effective tools in CWD management (Miller et al, 2020). Improved knowledge of hunter behavior and wildlife behavior is increasing the efficacy of CWD management using harvesting. Given the significant benefits associated with reducing spread, and potentially prevalence, relative to the costs (which may be small if hunters are interested and engaged)—we strongly recommend this option. However, there should be on-going (and long-term) testing and monitoring of the ecological and economic effectiveness of such programs, including impacts on other harvesters (Indigenous People) and guides/outfitters. Research in ecology and social sciences should be integrated with the management programs (e.g., adaptive management) to assess their impacts and modify the approaches used if necessary.

Policy Option 5: Increase monitoring / surveillance for CWD in wild populations (improve sampling, public investment in testing, other options).

Introduction: While monitoring of hunter harvest of wild cervids has been on-going in Alberta and Saskatchewan for some time, and programs (passive surveillance largely) have been initiated in other provinces in Canada, relatively little is known about CWD outside of hunting areas, and in particular, outside of mandatory hunter head submission zones. Recent research has shown that hunter harvest monitoring can be biased (Connor et al., 2020). To obtain accurate information on CWD prevalence, monitoring information is critical. Such information will inform both the wildlife management aspects of CWD and the human health concerns. But monitoring is costly and thus widespread monitoring programs have not been initiated. Also, monitoring has primarily used collection of cervid heads, while new technologies such as live animal tests and tests of fecal matter are being developed. We include a discussion of these emerging technologies and their role in surveillance in the section on "Technology Options" below.

Benefits and Costs: The costs of monitoring are difficult to determine. Testing costs reported in the literature range from \$100 per test (Walsh and Miller, 2010) to as little as \$10 per test (although the latter cost may be for tests that are not consistent with government protocols and standards). Hunters also incur costs of testing (preparing the submission, locating the freezer, etc.). In 2019-20, Alberta tested approximately 10,000 submitted heads. That provides some insight into the level of testing currently being conducted, and the approximate costs. Recent studies suggest that the public (Klotz et al., 2020) and hunters (Pattison-Williams et al., 2020) would be willing to support improved monitoring. Hunters, for example, supported an additional \$20 fee annually to improve surveillance across the province (Pattison-Williams et al, 2020). Using this value for enhanced monitoring and applying it to the 125,000 hunters in the province yields \$2.5M in benefits accruing to hunters alone. The size of these benefits, especially if benefits to the general public were included, would support a much larger program than currently being carried out. It is difficult to determine exactly the scale of the program given current estimates of benefits and costs, but the benefit estimates support a program considerably larger than the current program.

Recommendation: Expansion of the monitoring program for wild cervids is strongly recommended. The benefits appear to significantly exceed the costs using modest estimates of benefits. The lessons being learned from the COVID-19 crisis illustrate the importance of monitoring, especially in sensitive areas (sensitive in either a wildlife or a human health sense). Therefore, we strongly recommend increases in surveillance of wild populations. Some examples of areas where increased surveillance is important are areas where rapid actions can be taken to avoid outbreaks (e.g., B.C.), in areas where there is concern about CWD and support from Indigenous Communities, and in areas where risks of transmission to other species (e.g., caribou) are high. Appropriate incentives could also lead to technology development in this area, reducing the cost of testing and allowing more widespread testing. There should also be positive incentives associated with proper disposal for those who have infected animals. Discussion of the disposal issue is presented below.

Policy Option 6: Improvements in information provision about CWD.

Information for stakeholders and rightsholders, including hunters / harvesters, game meat processors, Indigenous people, and game consumers will be crucial in containing the spread of CWD and potentially ensuring the health of cervid consumers (meat consumers specifically). Though such information is increasingly available, improvements could be made in the way that it is targeted and presented. Information for hunters, including Indigenous people, is frequently not placed where hunters will be forced to take note. For example, in Alberta, when a hunting tag is awarded/sold in a high risk CWD zone, the hunter does not receive targeted information about CWD presence and practices.

Information for game meat processors is also crucial. But there is a great deal of variation between jurisdictions regarding information and required practices. Many jurisdictions provide information and requirements about the disposal of animal parts (e.g., bones) after processing. For example, in Alberta, there are specific disposal requirements for dead animal parts after processing. Similarly, the American Meat Processing Association states that the "The most common alternative for processors to dispose of this material is an approved landfill" (https://www.aamp.com/documents/RenderingAlternatives.pdf). But information about how to manage equipment used to process deer with risks of CWD is more variable. Some of the most stringent practices have been recommended by Michigan State University Extension. These include:

Isolate and do not cut or process the carcass or meat products that have been tested for chronic wasting disease until negative results are obtained. Process carcasses individually and avoid mixing meat from multiple carcasses into ground meat products if venison is from a zone where chronic wasting disease has been found. ... Use 50% bleach, 50% water sanitizing solution and soak processing equipment and surfaces for at least 1 hour. (MSU, 2018).

However, in many regions, it is not feasible to wait for CWD tests because the meat would spoil long before the test results are received. Moreover, the added processing costs of isolating animals and cleaning equipment in processing facilities could entail substantial costs for meat processors, some of which would likely be passed on to hunters. Given the zoonotic potential discussed above, there is a good case to be made that recommendations such as these should be required. But such requirements would have to be accompanied by government investments in testing capacity, and further research into processing practices (some of which would be hopefully cheaper to follow), which could prevent cross-contamination or blending of meats from different harvested animals.

Providing and sharing in information with Indigenous peoples is also crucial. With game meat making up large proportions of many Indigenous peoples' diets (Natcher, 2019, Chiu et al., 2016), they are likely to be especially susceptible to risks associated with infected meat (See the Indigenous Rightsholders section above). In this context the sharing of information about risks to wildlife, health risks, and understanding other concerns of Indigenous peoples, is paramount. However, such information provision must be done within the cultural context of Indigenous communities with recognition of the role of traditional knowledge and community leadership. The information provision may be best focused on the need for testing. Moreover, extending CWD testing facilities to some of these more remote regions will be crucial in ensuring safety for cultural traditions.

Benefits and Costs: While specific information about benefits and costs of providing information is rare, this is an area that seems promising for policy application. If large amounts are spent in researching

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

options for CWD (see the "technology options" section below), then it would make sense to spend the marginal amounts necessary to communicate these findings. Moreover, costs to existing communication efforts might not necessarily increase, if information is better packaged and targeted to areas that could improve risk reduction.

Recommendation: Find low cost, targeted ways to provide more information with greater efficacy.

Policy Option 7: Prohibit or delay repopulation of depopulated farms with cervids or other animals such as bison or cattle.

Introduction: Given the novelty of the disease and its transmission properties, historically there was not a hard and fast policy of permanent depopulation of cervid farms (risks were assessed and some farms were allowed to repopulate with an outcome of some farms requiring depopulation a second time). Research (and practice) has shown the potential for CWD prions to continue in the environment, including soils and plants for significant periods of time. Given that, strategies to remove CWD from a farmed property are much more extensive than depopulating animals. Beyond trace out of animals in contact with infected animals, CFIA strategies to clean farms include decontamination (often removal) of soils and decontamination of housing. However, the CFIA announced in 2018/2019 that their policies had changed. "Since the CFIA's original CWD eradication program started in 2000, the North American CWD picture has changed dramatically. Wild and farmed cases of CWD have continued to increase despite the CFIA's aggressive attempts to eradicate it. A significant re-occurrence rate has also been seen in Canadian herds that were previously depopulated, cleaned, decontaminated, and permitted to restock. This led to a program review and to the ultimate conclusion that eradication measures, using quarantines and stamping-out actions in areas where the disease is endemic in wild cervids, are both ineffective and unsustainable. Based on all available information, a decision was made to switch from an eradication policy to one of control" (CFIA, 2020). Given this change in strategy, farms who do not follow appropriate biosecurity protocols will not qualify for the HCP and would only receive compensation for depopulation requirements if they were enrolled for a twelve-month period. Given the uncertainty of the active level of prions in the environment it could be prudent to not allow repopulation of farms found to have CWD at a level requiring depopulation (recognizing that in the US, farms are allowed to restock after two years following depopulation (Rivera et al., 2019)). Given the change in focus of the CFIA, farms with findings of CWD, who are not participants in the HCP will be 'managed' by provincial agencies. Adoption of this policy could reduce the management requirements for CWD, although provinces always have the authority to remove licenses for operations with CWD should they so desire.

Benefits and Costs: The benefits of such a strategy could reduce costs of monitoring and managing cases of repeated CWD outbreaks on the same facilities for federal government (although reenrollment will not be allowed for HCP properties that develop CWD) in the case of farms who are members of the HCP and provincial governments in the case of farms that are not members of the HCP. It is possible that this will reduce the findings of CWD on farms, reducing spread of the disease. Funds not spent on second or third depopulations might be spent on more active surveillance. The private costs of such a policy are very

high. Undoubtedly farmers who have invested both time and capital in developing a farm will face significant barriers to using their land for a different agricultural pursuit. Not allowing repopulation of farms may also not be a perfect solution given the lack of knowledge of transmission of CWD from the environment to other livestock, if that should be the alternate activity farmers choose. There is research suggesting the lack of transmission of CWD from the environment to cattle which might make the transition easier (Williams et al., 2018).

Recommendation: Recognizing that farmers may need support to make a transition in the type of agriculture they practice this recommendation is easy to implement. Both public and private costs are associated with this policy. It may be politically unfeasible, and it is possibly more palatable if there are definite timelines associated with it such as—no repopulation for ten years. Further research on the environmental contamination associated with CWD could provide clues about the appropriate length of time before repopulation. We recommend that this option be further evaluated with a continued focus on environmental contamination.

Policy Option 8: Remediate sites known to have CWD present in soil, plants, etc.

Introduction: Sites that have been known to have CWD prions present, including sites where either farmed and/or wild cervids have lived, may contain prions for some time (Kuznetsova et al., 2020). While still in early stages, new approaches to remediate soil are being investigated and appear to be promising in their ability to reduce prion contamination.

Benefits and Costs: The benefits of such actions include reduced risk to farmed animals (especially if deployed on former farmed cervid sites) and wild cervids. However, relatively little is known about the costs of these approaches or the ability to conduct such remediation activities at larger land scales. There are also questions about the marginal benefits of treating small areas if infection is widespread. At this time costs are expected to be relatively high, suggesting that research continue into the development of the approaches.

Recommendation: Given the uncertainty of the technology and the costs and extent to which these approaches can be used in larger scale application, the net benefits of such approaches are uncertain at this time. We recommend continued research investment in the approach with additional focus on the cost and benefits of remediation.

Policy Option 9: Provide incentives to address carcass disposal problems in hunting.

Information: Transport of materials from hunter-harvested animals can result in the spread of CWD. Some jurisdictions have suggested disposal procedures for hunters. For example, in Alberta, guidance to hunters is "All hunters should properly dispose of their harvested carcasses, particularly animals taken in the CWD Risk Area. Where possible, debone meat making sure you keep the required evidence of sex and species. Hunters may prefer to avoid the spinal cord when deboning. Leave remainder of carcass at the kill site. If the carcass is transported elsewhere, remove all useable meat, then burn, bury, or dispose of the remains in a landfill." (Government of Alberta, 2020). However, carcass remains that are left on site are consumed by other animals (coyotes, wolves, etc.) and can result in CWD spread. There have been recommendations that specific portions of carcasses, especially of those animals harvested in endemic CWD areas and transported outside of the region, be removed and disposed of in an effective and safe manner (e.g., composting or landfills, Gillen et al, 2018). However, there are concerns that landfills may not accept carcasses because of the risk of disease concentration and contamination. These refusals lead to concerns about where carcasses will be disposed if landfills are unavailable. An alternative would be to follow along the lines of Minnesota regulations that do not allow whole carcasses to leave CWD zones until negative tests are confirmed (CIDRAP, 2019). High risk portions (including the head and spinal column) could be removed and disposed of in specific dumpsters and or processing stations set up within CWD zones. This approach would still leave internal organs (e.g., "gut piles") at harvest sites, but logistics to transport gut piles seem prohibitive.

Benefit and Costs: The benefits of appropriate carcass disposal are reduced risks of spread especially if the carcasses are moved into areas where CWD is not currently present. This applies especially to CWD positive animals and disposal of animals harvested in areas of high CWD infectivity risk. Costs of such actions include the costs of information provision and potentially incentives (positive or negative) associated with proper carcass disposal that would address costs to hunters of disposing of carcasses, as well as monitoring and enforcement costs. Making disposal easy, with easily accessed disposal sites (e.g., provision by government agencies) could support proper disposal practices. However, given the difficulty of monitoring and enforcement, regulatory approaches will have to be carefully constructed. Positive incentives associated with proper disposal will be important.

Recommendation: It is unclear if the benefits exceed the costs for more stringent requirements associated with carcass disposal, which are likely to be quite different depending on the specific policy. Disposal of known positive carcasses should be carried out as per current requirements / practices. But the efficacy of more stringent requirements to move all risk materials to landfills or government dump sites, when internal organs are left behind, is unknown. Information provision should definitely be employed. Positive incentives, including reducing the costs of accessing disposal options, should also be considered.

Policy Option 10: Close cervid farms

Introduction: Closing cervid farms has been an often proposed but likely politically unpalatable solution to the problem of CWD spread in Canada (also in the US). What is certain is that the industry was encouraged through government policy to become established (Hobbs and Kerr, 2000). Given that encouragement and the ensuing reallocation of resources to the industry there may have been reluctance on the part of farmers and the various governments to consider shutting the industry down so soon after it

was established, when CWD was first found on a farm. The federal government has continued to provide some support for the industry through investment of \$1 million dollars in the development of a traceability system and some smaller investments in marketing development. The continual investment of CFIA in attempting to eradicate CWD since 2000 has been significant as well (including costs of depopulating and cleaning as well as costs of compensation). The number of farms that have been found to have CWD was not increasing across time since the peak in 2001-2002—although there was a recent spike in 2019-20 (see Figure 13). Often a farm found to have CWD has very few animals that show positive for the disease. It is worth mentioning that some farms allowed to repopulate after depopulation due to CWD have been found to have CWD a second time, reflecting either environmental contamination or contact with wild infected animals or feedstuffs, but given the requirement of the HCP program this repopulation will likely not occur in the future for farms found to have CWD. The CFIA has pursued very restrictive policies on movement of farmed animals which may have reduced the spread through the farmed population. Enrolment in the CWD HCP requires even more limited movement and then only between farms with the same or higher levels within the certification programs which should even further limit the spread of the disease in the farmed animal population.

Our mandate is to consider policies that would reduce the potential impact of CWD on the Canadian agrifood and agriculture sector. The cervid industry is a component of the agriculture sector. However, for other sectors such as cattle or grain production the CWD impact will more likely emanate from wild cervid CWD spread not from cervid farming CWD, given current approaches to CWD on cervid farms. These efforts suggest that there would be limited reduction of the risk of CWD impact on the Canadian agri-food and agriculture industries from eliminating the possibility of cervid farming in the country. If cattle production is ever to be affected by CWD environmental contamination, then that effect is more likely to arise from wild cervids than from farmed cervid properties.

Another strategy might be not to license (approve, allow as appropriate) new cervid farms throughout the country, and possibly not allow existing cervid farms to be sold as continuing cervid farms. For example, some provinces do not allow ownership of cervids and others require licenses to operate cervid farms. This option would reduce any possibility of expansion of the current industry and would allow the industry to slowly disappear. Regulations such as this would still require compensation for current cervid farms since it would be reducing the commercial value of the farms by government policy properties. The industry does seem to be declining without any such policy so such a policy might only need to be implemented if other policies for cervid farming are not implemented (for example, CWD testing on all slaughtered or dead animals) as necessity arises. Tight monitoring of cervid farms, participation in the CWD HCP, following rules related to movement of cervids and cervid products including semen, urine etc. can all obviate the need for specific policies to reduce the impact of CWD on other agricultural sectors.

However, there is a potential risk to wild populations of cervids in those areas where wild populations are not infected. Given the potential spread of CWD between wild and farmed cervids and the costs of managing infection of wild populations it would be prudent to take action to reduce these risks. The measures outlined above (testing of all farmed animals, restrictions on movement, etc.) should reduce these risks. Other measures may also be necessary including registration / licensing of cervid farms (if

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

they are not), monitoring and possibly other risk reduction practices such as double fencing (Arnot et al, 2009) if they have not already been implemented. These measures would attempt to internalize the costs of the externality arising from the risk of spread to wild cervids. Should testing ever identify links between farmed cervids and disease outbreaks in wild animals (genomic tests on particular CWD strains, for example) then the policy of allowing any farms might need to be revisited.

Benefits and Costs: The assumed benefits of eliminating cervid farms are associated with reduced CWD spread in the wild cervid populations in the country. This was likely a reasonable assumption in 2000. However, the disease in the wild is spreading continually across the US and Canada. It is conceivable that in many places in Canada (Alberta/Saskatchewan, Ontario/Quebec) the disease would spread into Canada from the US, even if not from any other source. This is evident when the maps of disease spread in the US are examined, highlighting the much higher prevalence of the disease along the border of these provinces now than in 2008, for example. It is possible that if the farmed population did contribute to the spread of the disease in the wild population it is unlikely that the farms are the major contributor currently. This is particularly true if you consider that the farmed population has dramatically declined since 2000. In provinces where there is no evidence of CWD in wild populations, special care is necessary in the management/allowance of cervid farms. Given that CWD can spread both from wild to farmed and from farmed to wild populations, appropriate farming practices are essential to mitigate risks to both populations.

The costs of eliminating the cervid farms would remain a significant public expenditure even with the industry at its current size. Whether there is a benefit to that expenditure that outweighs its costs remains an open question and needs to be considered relative to other approaches such as those outlined above. While it is clear that the disease was transmitted to South Korea from an exported farmed animal from Canada—restrictions on exports of live animals and cervid products could ensure that the disease is not exported anywhere else from Canadian farms, in the future.

Recommendation: This policy is unlikely to reduce the spread of the disease in the wild from current levels as long as appropriate precautions are taken on farm. It will be a costly measure without the possibility of large impact and other policies could deal with the risks of CWD spread from the farmed sector to other agricultural industries. This option is not a high priority.

Additional policy options:

The ten policy options presented above have sufficient information to make a recommendation regarding whether the options would be socially beneficial (benefits exceeding costs). However, there are several other potential policy options or areas of potential public investment where additional research is required to be able to make a recommendation with confidence. These additional options and the recommendation regarding research required are outlined below.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

Feeding and bait bans

Feeding wild cervid populations leads to animals gathering and potentially transmitting CWD with higher frequency than without feeding (Mysterud et al., 2019). Baiting is assumed to have similar impacts as it attracts cervids in groups. But feeding is common in areas where individuals find wildlife viewing beneficial, and as a lure for animals for hunting. Feeding and baiting also support the agricultural sector by purchases of feeding products. The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (Gillen et al., 2018) recommends banning feeding and baiting, especially in locations where CWD has been found as it increases congregation of animals that increases the risk of spread from infected animals and contamination of sites. However, Gillen et al. (2018) also outline arguments that suggest that bans on baiting and feeding will result in lower harvest levels and reduce the potential for CWD control through harvest. While definitive research on this issue that examines the benefits and costs of feed and bait bans has not been conducted, restrictions on feeding and baiting in areas where CWD is present or in adjacent areas, should help prevent the spread and increasing prevalence. Additional research is required on the loss of economic benefits, including impacts on hunting behavior, arising from such bans. It is also worth noting that these bans are generally unpopular with outfitters and some hunters who may mount political opposition. A recent summary of CWD regulations indicates that "Twenty-two states do not allow the baiting of cervids and, fourteen states have certain restrictions on baiting. Three of the Canadian provinces listed have banned baiting and one province restricts baiting" (Michigan Department of Natural Resources, 2020, page 1).

Requirements for wild cervid processors.

Meat processors prepare meat from hunted animals that has not been tested for CWD, and practices used to clean processing equipment between animals are not typically sufficient to prevent cross contamination of CWD. For example, recommendations include: "Use 50% bleach, 50% water sanitizing solution and soak processing equipment and surfaces for at least 1 hour. Rinse all equipment and surfaces with hot, potable water after soaking in bleach solution." (Michigan State University, 2018). At a minimum, information should be provided to processors regarding CWD, risks of cross-contamination, proper handling and disposal, and other aspects of CWD. But given the costs of such practices, voluntary compliance could be minimal. These costs could also be problematic if protocols were required. Alternatively, meat processors could require that a negative test result be confirmed before processing the meat. Such a practice would be welcomed by some hunters as a sign of careful processing practices. Michigan has outlined protocols for processors associated with CWD including practices to follow if deer are identified as positive (MSU, 2020). But such an approach would require much faster turnaround times for tests (processing times in Alberta are typically months) to prevent meat storage costs and spoilage. Investments in more test processing are likely warranted given the potential for consuming meat from CWD positive animals arising from processing practices.

Encourage natural predators of wild cervids

There has been discussion of the use of natural predators of cervids (wolves, cougars) as a CWD reduction strategy. In particular, as discussed above, increased predation by wolves has low risk associated with cross-species infection. Predators could be "encouraged" through landscape management

approaches or other means. Such approaches were mentioned in the 2000s in Alberta, and the recent B.C. CWD management plan lists low predator numbers as one of the potential causes associated with CWD spread/prevalence (Nelson and Schwantje, 2019). CWD itself will have an impact on predator-prey relationships (Miller et al, 2008) and CWD prevalence may result in (temporary) increases in predator populations. To the best of our knowledge there are no studies that rigorously measure the impact of a predator management plan on CWD. Therefore, in the absence of information this is not a recommended policy. Additional research is required on this topic.

Investment in technologies—including new testing approaches, vaccines, and gene drives.

A number of technological approaches to address CWD have been proposed. Recognizing that while these technologies are in early stages of development there is merit in these examining options in the context of potential research investments. Considerable effort has been made on developing CWD tests that can be effective at identifying the disease in live animals, but a completely effective approach has yet to be found (although very promising approaches are being found, see Realtree (2020)). A live animal test would be quite valuable, especially for the farmed cervid sector. Such tests would increase confidence in consumers and would provide a pathway to identifying resistance to CWD in farmed cervids. Such a test would also be useful in reducing risk from transporting animals (in farmed or wild settings). And such tests could make testing of harvested wild animals quicker, thereby potentially precluding the processing of infected animals. Similarly, tests that can identify CWD in fecal matter have been suggested and are being assessed (e.g., Cheng et al, 2016). Such tests can help identify CWD presence in farmed settings or in wild settings and could be used to identify the spread of CWD in areas where few heads are submitted using traditional surveillance approaches. The challenges with these testing approaches include their accuracy, cost, and effective deployment. Accuracy continues to increase. Little is known about the cost of such tests in practice. Similarly, it is not clear whether tests like fecal matter tests will be administered by harvesters of wild cervids (although survey results do suggest that there would be support from various stakeholder groups if collection of samples supported wildlife conservation). Should effective live animal and/or fecal matter tests be available, provision of incentives for their use in farmed and wild cervid areas would be an effective policy option. Indigenous communities, landowners, hunters, outfitters and others could participate in passive approaches to CWD monitoring and surveillance.

Significant progress has been made on the development of a CWD vaccine (Abdelaziz et al., 2018). There is also public support for the development of and use of vaccines. They could be of significant value in farmed settings, and potentially in wild setting through an oral vaccine. But vaccine development is costly and the extent of demand for a vaccine is unclear. Additional research is required to identify this demand and assess the potential use of a vaccine under different CWD scenarios (e.g., vaccinating all farmed cervids, vaccinating selected wildlife populations).

Gene drives, or gene editing of wild cervids to increase resilience to CWD or potentially to result in cervid species that cannot contract CWD, have been proposed at the conceptual level. There has been research investigating gene editing and gene drives for invasive mammal species (introduced squirrels in the UK) and programs involving gene edited mosquitos (Whitelaw, 2020). While gene drives may be an effective approach, biological risks associated with changing genetic structures is likely to be desirable only if all other approaches are ineffective or if costs of CWD rise rapidly. There is still considerable

research to be done on the potential consequences of gene drives on the ecosystem. Public acceptability of such approaches will also be an important aspect, as well as communications of the science, benefits and risks. At this point gene drives are worthy of investigation from a research perspective, but they are a considerable distance from policy implementation in a wild cervid species. The use of gene drives in such contexts has been described as a "last resort" if costs of CWD are very high and there are no known alternatives to address the problem.

Transportation / Trade Restrictions

Agencies have suggested that a transport ban on live animals for breeding as well as slaughter – unless there is a live animal test that confirms a negative case – be implemented to reduce spread of CWD. Gillen et al.'s (2018) recommendations range from a total ban on anthropogenic (human-assisted) movement of live cervids to prohibiting movement from CWD-endemic areas. Until there is a validated, highly sensitive ante mortem test available, all anthropogenic movement of live cervids presents a risk for CWD spread.

Similarly, the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies have suggested that trade in cervid material (e.g., urine, semen, embryos) be limited or banned to reduce CWD risks. AFWA recommendations (Gillen et al. 2018) have identified the sale and use of products that contain cervid urine as a potential risk factor. Cervid urine is collected in captive cervid facilities and is sold in various products for use as a scent lure. CWD prions have been detected in the urine of infected cervids, suggesting that the use of these products could be a risk for disease spread. The AFWA report highlights the lack of existing regulations within the cervid urine business and expresses concern that saliva and feces, which could contain higher doses of infectious CWD prions, can be accidentally mixed with urine during collection. Subsequent use of these products from CWD-infected cervids could serve as a risk for indirect disease spread as they enter the environment. Following best management practices, AFWA states that products containing natural cervid urine should not be used, and synthetic products could serve as an effective alternative. Comparably, AFWA highlights concern that reproductive tissues, such as embryos and semen, could be a source of CWD infections, and their use for selective breeding warrants regulatory consideration. As mentioned above, Kramm et al. (2019) have discovered evidence of CWD in semen. Therefore, reducing the movement and use of reproductive tissues would remove the risk of CWD transmission occurring via that pathway.

A related approach to restrict transport / movement, zone controls, that requires that no animals move in or out of an area with CWD (farmed and wild harvested), was proposed by CFIA (in which embryos, semen, all high-risk parts of carcasses, urine, and certain highly contaminated parts of feed products would all have been restricted movement out of the primary control area) but did not proceed in 2014.

These practices have benefits in that they will reduce the risk of spread of CWD. However, the costs of the restrictions are unclear. They may be minimal (e.g., as a synthetic product substitutes for natural urine) but they could also impose costs on individuals and firms. An inexpensive rapid test would reduce these costs in the case of live animal or harvested wild animal movement but does not yet exist. Further investigation is required to assess the efficacy of these restrictions and the feasibility of monitoring and enforcement. Given current information, it seems wise to consider some forms of these restrictions

especially in high CWD areas. Further, given the existence of these restrictions in certain parts of Canada it would be prudent to apply consistent regulations throughout the country.

Policy Unknowns

The biggest problem associated with CWD is the potential risk to human health from eating infected animals. There may also be a risk to consuming antler velvet (an aspect of cervid product commercialisation that was not a focus in this project), since the antlers are collected from animal shed and the animals cannot be tested ante mortem although research has shown the presence of prions in antler velvet. Currently infected animals include cervids although it is known that other wild animals can be infected. If CWD is ever shown to be transmissible to people eating the meat (or velvet) from infected animals, then the policy fix is somewhat unclear⁹. The European Food Safety Association Panel on Biological Hazards recently recommended that human consumption only be allowed after testing and they recommend a prohibition of hunting and harvesting if testing is not possible (EFSA, 2020). It will be easy to require all cervid animals to be tested from farms and we have recommended above that this requirement should be extended to areas that have not currently been found to have CWD, as a precaution. The problem is on the wild cervid side. Although recommendations could be made to test all hunted animals before eating, this recommendation currently exists in CWD endemic areas and many hunters either do not submit materials for testing or do not wait for tests before eating the meat. However, to be proactive the testing requirement should be beyond CWD endemic areas and will of necessity include Indigenous community hunters. It is unclear that there is capacity for the required level of testing that a mandatory national testing regime would require. Although there are costs associated with the testing infrastructure, there are also costs associated for all hunters in terms of delivering materials for testing, storing carcases until tests are completed and then deciding what to do with the carcass should it be found to be positive. Particularly in the case of isolated communities these costs may be prohibitive.

Clearly in a country such as Canada prohibiting hunting because of the potential human health risk is not possible. Eliminating cervid farming is unlikely to be sufficient to remove the human health risk should human transmission be found to be possible. These characteristics suggest the urgent need for more research, faster development of ante mortem and environmental tests that can easily be applied by many people in many geographies and other treatments such as vaccines.

A second major category of policy unknowns has to do with the divergences of opinions related to a variety of management options that do currently exist. There are few management options that achieve general agreement across different stakeholder groups such as the public, hunters, outfitters, and cervid farmers. Other stakeholder groups also exist, and their opinions need to be included in the development of a policy regime. If it is difficult to achieve consensus across policy options in the current environment and given the diversity of agents who will contribute to policy options with no single authority nationally

⁹ A recent summary of policies and regulations in the U.S. and Canada can be found at Government of Michigan (2020).

or internationally on regulations, then the situation will become more difficult as the disease continues to spread. The determination of acceptable effective management options is particularly troublesome, given the requirement for cross border agreement to have any possibility of success. Policies that were unpopular to some stakeholders, such as zoning, recommended by the CFIA in the past, have ultimately not been adopted. This recent outcome suggests even as the disease continues to spread disagreement on the causes and solutions to the problem of CWD will continue to make the 'best' management options difficult to determine. We need to be able to test the efficacy of different management options in order to make more reasoned recommendations and to have even the slimmest possibility of reaching consensus among groups that have diverging interests.

Summary

The policy space is complicated for an animal disease that crosses both wildlife and domesticated animals, crosses provincial and national borders and has a somewhat complex set of agencies associated with parts of the policy environment. No one agency has authority over all of the recommended or identified policy options. Industry could clearly implement codes of conduct to deliver some of the policies we recommend. However, clarifying how the policy options might be implemented (and with what level of authority in charge of regulation) is still to be determined. The disease is treated with differing degrees of urgency in different constituencies and development of policies based on risk assessments must be careful not to be too reactive as the trade-offs can be difficult to assess *ex ante*.

Clearly, the development of regulations for another prion disease, BSE, was much easier once the ramifications of the disease were better known. However even in the case of BSE and the concurrent threat of CWD, different agents have modified BSE regulations. For example, the use of specified risk materials (SRMs) in fertilizer requires that "*Fertilizers and supplements containing certain animal proteins known as prohibited material (described in the Health of Animals Act) must be appropriately labelled, recorded and controlled.*" (CFIA, 2019), and includes the possibility of the use of specified risk materials but with specific precautions.

From our perspective, certain policies make sense while others that could be easy to implement may be costly without necessarily having the potential to deliver similarly sized benefits. Some of the policies we recommend are proactive and as such may face resistance from deeply affected groups. Further benefit cost analysis should be conducted to solidify rationale for intervention and to identify costs to particular groups. We have also identified a number of research areas in both the biological sciences and the social sciences that should be invested in to help assess policy options. It is worth remembering that wildlife is considered by the majority of the population to be important and for which protection is critical.

While policies can be implemented within Canada, international coordination is critical to future success of a wildlife disease. Without similar CWD policies in the US, the Canadian policies may be less effective. Similarly, coordination between provinces, and between the provinces and the federal government, will be important in the development and implementation of CWD policy.

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|--------------------|---|
| Preventing the spread to boreal caribou by targeted harvesting of deer and monitoring (AB and SK) | Reduced risk to a threatened species | Cost of targeted harvest increases by resident hunters and Indigenous communities could be small, or even negative (since increases in harvests generate economic benefits) but program costs and current and future costs arising from other users of deer need to be considered. | Strongly recommend | High benefit and low-cost opportunity to reduce risk to a threatened species – but the efficacy of targeted harvests on CWD spread must be monitored and assessed as well as impacts on other users. |
| Require animal testing for all farmed cervids slaughtered (dying) in Canada | Assured food safety and quality | One estimate suggests Alberta spent \$500,000 in 2003 on farmed and hunted animal testing; this value will be higher now. The question of cost to cervid farmers is also important as is compliance from all sectors including hunt farms | Strongly recommend | Difficult to protect either Indigenous people or hunters in the same way as people who consume from farms and the risks are bigger |

Table 18. Benefit cost analysis summary of policy options for CWD management in Canada.

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|---|---|
| Make the Chronic Wasting Disease Herd Certification Program mandatory | This program is the way for farmers to be certified for export, have animals be destroyed with compensation if CWD is found, although not 100% of farmers participate. Program would provide the highest level of biosecurity which could reduce potential environmental spread to other farms | Costs are high for government to enforce and very high for farmers as if farmers are not registered the government does not depopulate. This approach will likely not reduce CWD prevalence in wild populations | This should be mandatory throughout the country to maintain safety and also protect trade and market access | Farmers may be unaware of the changes in regulations or speed of spread – modest incentives might encourage adoption although the requirements are stringent and costly for producers |
| Employ hunter harvest to reduce spread of CWD in wild populations (spatial targeting, etc.) | Reduce risk to caribou, and unaffected regions. Hunter benefits generated. This could reduce transmission from wild animals to the environment | Relatively small (additional administrative actions and program costs) but some sectors and users may be adversely affected at least in short run (outfitters) and impacts on other users in the longer term need to be evaluated. | Recommend | Positive incentives to hunters could be employed. But such programs must be evaluated for their efficacy (biological and economic) in an adaptive management fashion. |

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| Increase monitoring / surveillance for CWD in wild populations (improve sampling, public investment in testing, other options). | Identify areas of new spread, act quickly to address. | Potentially significant (testing capacity, incentives to support submissions) | Recommend (supported by public and hunters), but funding and scale will be challenging. | May require positive incentives to hunters, landowners, others. Technology development important and necessary |
| Improvements in information provision about CWD. | Find low cost, targeted ways to provide more information with greater efficacy to all rightsholder and stakeholder groups. | Marginal cost to communicate findings from existing research projects | Recommend. | Simple and direct approach to increase awareness. |
| Prohibit or delay repopulation of CWD depopulated farms with cervids or other animals such as bison or cattle | Ensure safety for future animals and food supply, although there is one long term study showing no evidence of transmission of CWD from environment to cattle grazing, in this case precaution could be protective in an important industry | The costs would be very high for landowners – in particular affecting the commercial value of their land through reduced use options | Uncertain but likely recommend. | This will be unpopular for some groups. Research on time for disappearance of CWD from the environment on depopulated farms required. |

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--|---|--|---|--|
| Remediate sites known to have CWD present in soil, plants, etc. | Reduce risks to farmed and wild cervids | High cost except for very concentrated areas | Effective mechanisms at scale have not yet been developed suggesting no action except for testing / research on very focused sites | Continue research in the area to develop the technology, including products and processes to treat the environment |
| Provide incentives to address carcass disposal problems in hunting | Reduce risks of spread, transmission elsewhere. | Logistically difficult, dispersed and difficult to monitor. Hunters adversely affected. | Uncertain | Positive incentives, information required. |
| Close cervid farms | Closing farms would only reduce the risk of CWD in the farmed cervid food chains for provinces that currently do not mandate testing (AB, SK, QC, MB, ON and Yukon currently require testing) resulting in minimal if any benefits. There are no apparent benefits to the broader Canadian agricultural sector. Risks to other agriculture sectors | Relatively small sector, but equity issues arise. The equity issues could be resolved by mandating testing and HCP participation- reducing costs and protecting wild animals and commercial food supplies. | No action | Not an effective policy option to reduce risks to the agricultural sector or wild populations. |

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Option | Benefits | Costs | Recommendation | Comments |
|--------|--|-------|----------------|----------|
| | stemming from contamination by the wild cervid populations (e.g., cattle, grain, forages) will | | | |
| | remain. Precautions such as licensing (approve, allow) new farms and requiring farms to participate in the HCP and maintaining biosecurity protocols are recommended for regions with and without CWD. However, in provinces where the wild population has not yet been infected it would be prudent to take precautions to prevent the risk of spread from farmed populations to the wild. Such precautions include alternatives that do not involve closing all cervid farms. | | | |

7.0 COVID-19 IMPLICATIONS

COVID-19 has had wide-ranging impacts on society and the economy, and the effects will likely continue for some time. The impacts of COVID-19 on issues related to CWD are uncertain, but in this section, we offer a few insights on potential outcomes.

The COVID pandemic has affected income and employment with more adverse impacts on some specific sectors of the economy (e.g., service sectors, airlines, etc.). Government programs such as the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) have provided relief, but the length of these programs will be limited. Shocks to income and employment will affect demand for consumer products including food products, and thus may impact consumption of venison consumed in restaurants (Deaton and Deaton, 2020; Goddard, 2020). The shock to jobs and incomes also affects the value of time which may result in an increase in recreational hunting activity. The labour-leisure trade-offs involved in recreation (e.g. (Lloyd-Smith et al., 2020, 2019) suggests that recreational activities will increase with a reduction in the value of time in labour and thus increases in demand for hunting days may be realized. There is also literature suggesting linkages between increased unemployment rates, reduced incomes, and increases in hunting activity (Boman et al., 2013). Similar patterns are evident in Indigenous communities relating harvesting activities and employment opportunities (Myae and Goddard, 2020; Natcher, 2019). An increase in hunting may result in increases in the consumption of potentially CWD infected meat but increases in hunting activity may also result in less dense populations, and more widespread monitoring through the submission of wildlife heads for testing.

Heightened perceptions of zoonotic risks may arise from the information presented about COVID-19 in media and other information sources. This may affect risk perceptions about CWD and zoonotic diseases. Finally, provincial and federal governments have incurred significant deficits by financing programs to address COVID-19. These expenditures may result in a reduction in funding for other programs, including CWD monitoring and control, and CWD research.

As mentioned, these linkages between COVID-19 are speculative and tentative, but there will undoubtedly be impacts via incomes and employment on food demand, and potentially through other channels, that will increase "exposure" to CWD.
8.0 CONCLUSIONS

In assessing the relationship between CWD and the Canadian agricultural and agri-food sector, a number of things become quickly apparent. First, CWD is a disease for which there remain many unknowns, and those unknowns are often associated with how CWD affects agriculture. Second, regardless of the uncertainty associated with CWD and agriculture, policies related to CWD need to be broader than agriculture if there is to be any sustained impact on CWD spread, prevalence and impact on agriculture. In addition, the most significant impacts of CWD appear to be the potential impacts on wildlife populations including threatened caribou populations. Third, effective policies and management options for CWD must be coordinated among provinces and countries that share borders as CWD cannot be controlled in a region/country that shares borders with other CWD endemic regions/countries. Fourth, CWD is unlikely to be eradicated, so there will need to be coordinated proactive and often targeted policies across different agencies and levels of government implemented to manage the ongoing disease (Mysterud et al, 2019). Attempting to prevent spread to sensitive areas and species may be the most important policy approach, along with monitoring, surveillance, and information provision. Fifth, although many groups, and Canadian society as a whole, have significant interests in CWD, there is a relatively low level of knowledge about the disease and its existence in Canada. Finally, risk perceptions and economic interests in the disease vary considerably across groups in our society, making policies somewhat more difficult to implement.

The current state of science with respect to CWD has many yet to be researched issues. There are very few studies (although there has been one exceptional long-term study) about the possibility of transmission of CWD to cattle from contact with infected ungulates, other animals or through ingestion of infected feedstuffs. The science is progressing on the possibility of transmission of CWD to humans through oral transmission, but the complete assessment of this possibility remains to be done. Transmission between ungulates and other wild animals to domesticated animals and the environment has not been exhaustively studied. The development of ante mortem tests for CWD and/ or vaccines could reduce the risks of the disease through antler velvet sales to agriculture and to society. Further research on remediation of sites affected by CWD as a mechanism to reduce risks of spread is also important. More social science research is required to address the benefits, costs, and efficacy of these different CWD policy options. In particular, the policy of increased hunter harvest to prevent spread needs to start with careful research on whether such harvests (or which approaches) are effective and have benefits that exceed costs. This approach means simultaneous trials on ecological and economic aspects of this policy option.

The jurisdictional responsibility for CWD is complex given the existence of a wildlife disease and a concurrent farmed sector. This complexity applies to Canada, the US, Korea and some other jurisdictions in Scandinavia. Within Canada, wildlife management is distributed between federal and provincial, territorial governments and includes Indigenous communities. For the farmed sector, the CFIA has major responsibility for managing the cervid farm industry, but provinces have some authority over encouraging further development of the industry, for licensing game farms and will have some responsibility for managing disease outbreaks for farms not enrolled in the CWD HCP. Moreover, provinces could restrict

movement of animals and some cervid products. Without coordinated approaches between the wild and farmed sectors, managing the spread and prevalence of the disease will be very difficult.

With CWD spreading in the US, the threat of spread may soon be stronger from the US than from other areas in Canada. It is not clear whether the regulatory policies currently in place are sufficient to protect all Canadian provinces and monitor the spread of the disease from the US. Harmonizing CWD policies and regulations associated with wildlife may be difficult but there could be significant implications of spread in wildlife that need to be monitored.

There is now no possibility of eradicating CWD within North America so policies and regulations to monitor and reduce spread of the disease are increasingly important. Research on the methods, efficacy, benefits, and costs of targeted harvests to prevent spread is essential. Encouraging higher participation in voluntary/mandatory hunted head submission for CWD testing, mandating testing of all farmed animals that enter the food chain and regulating movement of animals and animal products from wild untested animals are all current policies that can reasonably be considered. No policy, however, will be popular with all interested parties.

There are widely varying levels of knowledge about CWD across society, even within groups who have close connections to hunting and eating venison from hunted animals. Sensible precautions related to only eating tested animals, and other precautions in terms of handling hunted animal carcasses and parts, are not uniformly applied within the country or responded to by all agents. Information about testing, and the availability of convenient testing options is limited in many contexts. Similarly, information for wild game processors, and between processors and their customers, requires improvement. Increasing knowledge might increase adoption of safety practices but can also significantly enhance monitoring. It is particularly important that Indigenous communities engage with wildlife health knowledge dissemination, are included in CWD testing protocols and participate in information sharing about the human safety of venison as the research about that evolves.

Research results suggest strong and oppositional opinions about acceptable CWD management strategies across different groups. One example is our preliminary assessment that professional outfitters are opposed to CWD management strategies that involve increased hunting activities. Another example, cervid farmers are more supportive of taking no action to manage CWD (possibly thinking of action taken to manage disease on the farm) and feel less strongly about most other CWD management strategies than do other groups. Even within groups, such as resident hunters in Alberta, there is a wide range of views on the risks of CWD to humans and the policy options that should be employed, even though the vast majority view CWD as a concern for wildlife health. Many groups see eradicating cervid farming as <u>a</u> solution to CWD although it is clear that this approach would have small, if any, effects on the prevalence or spread of CWD. Developing consistent effective policies for CWD requires navigating difficult space with well entrenched opposing attitudes to many currently existing and potential policies.

REFERENCES

Abdelaziz DH, Thapa S, Brandon J, Maybee J, Vankuppeveld L, McCorkell R, Schätzl HM. Recombinant prion protein vaccination of transgenic elk PrP mice and reindeer overcomes self-tolerance and protects mice against chronic wasting disease. J Biol Chem. (2018). Dec 21;293(51):19812-19822. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.004810. Epub 2018 Nov 5. PMID: 30397182; PMCID: PMC6314114.

Adamowicz, W. (2008). Research report to the Alberta Prion Research Institute. University of Alberta. Edmonton.

Adamowicz, W., E. Goddard, M. Luckert, with L. Xie and J. Pattison-Williams. (2019). Research report to the Alberta Prion Research Institute. University of Alberta. Edmonton.

Adamowicz, W., E. Goddard, M. Luckert, with L. Xie and J. Pattison-Williams. (2020). Research report to the Alberta Prion Research Institute. University of Alberta. Edmonton.

AEP (Alberta Environment and Parks). 2017a. CWD Updates. <u>http://aep.alberta.ca/fish-wildlife/wildlife-diseases/chronic-wasting-disease/cwd-updates/default.aspx</u> (accessed September 28, 2017).

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC). (2019). Farmed Deer in Canada by Species and Area. <u>https://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/animal-industry/red-meat-and-livestock-market-</u> <u>information/inventories/farmed-deer-in-canada-by-species-and-area/?id=1415860000119</u> (accessed June 2020).

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC). (2017). Annual Game Report by Species in Canada. http://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/industry-markets-and-trade/market-information-by-sector/red-meat-and-livestock/red-meat-and-livestock-market-information/supply-sheets-by-species/annual-game-report-by-species/?id=1415860000117 (accessed November 2020).

Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP). (2017). Alberta Guide to Hunting Regulations. Government of Alberta.

Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP). (2019). Alberta Guide to Hunting Regulations. Government of Alberta.

Alberta Professional Outfitters Society. (2017). Outfitting in AB. <u>https://www.apos.ab.ca/Outfitters</u> (accessed January 15, 2018).

Abrams, J., Maddox, R., Schonberger, L., Person, M., Appleby, B., and Belay, E. (2018). Human prion disease mortality rates by occurrence of chronic wasting disease in free-ranging cervids, United States. Prion, 14, 182-183.

Anderson, C. A., Bosque, P., Filley, C. M., Arciniegas, D. B., Kleinschmidt-Demasters, B. K., Pape, W. J., and Tyler, K. L. (2007). Colorado surveillance program for chronic wasting disease transmission to

humans: lessons from 2 highly suspicious but negative cases. Arch Neurol, 64(3), 439-441. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.3.439

Angers, R. C., Seward, T. S., Napier, D., Green, M., Hoover, E., Spraker, T., O'Rourke, K., Balachandran, A., & Telling, G. C. (2009). Chronic wasting disease prions in elk antler velvet. Emerging infectious diseases, 15(5), 696–703. doi: 10.3201/eid1505.081458

Angers, R. C., Kang, H. E., Napier, D., Browning, S., Seward, T., Mathiason, C., Balachandran, A., McKenzie, D., Castilla, J., Soto, C., Jewell, J., Graham, C., Hoover, E. A., and Telling, G. C. (2010). Prion strain mutation determined by prion protein conformational compatibility and primary structure. Science, 328(5982), 1154-1158. doi: 10.1126/science.1187107

Arnold, M., and Ortiz-Pelaez, A. (2014). The evolution of the prevalence of classical scrapie in sheep in Great Britain using surveillance data between 2005 and 2012. Prev Vet Med, 117(1), 242-250. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2014.07.015

Arnot, C., Emmanuel Laate, J. Unterschultz & W.Adamowicz. (2009) Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) Potential Economic Impact on Cervid Farming in Alberta, Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 72:17-18, 1014-1017, DOI: 10.1080/15287390903084223

Arnot, C. D., M. K. Luckert and P. C. Boxall. (2011). What is tenure security? Conceptual implications for empirical analysis. Land Economics 87(2): 297-311.

Aubeeluck, A. (2010). A Comparative Analysis of Consumer Attitudes Towards Food Safety, Animal Testing and Traceability in the Meat Industry: Japan and Canada, unpublished MSc thesis, University of Alberta

Baeten, L. A., Powers, B. E., Jewell, J. E., Spraker, T. R., and Miller, M. W. (2007). A natural case of chronic wasting disease in a free-ranging moose (Alces alces shirasi). J Wildl Dis, 43(2), 309-314. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-43.2.309

Barria, M. A., Balachandran, A., Morita, M., Kitamoto, T., Barron, R., Manson, J., Knight, R., Ironside, J. W., and Head, M. W. (2014). Molecular barriers to zoonotic transmission of prions. Emerg Infect Dis, 20(1), 88-97. doi: 10.3201/eid2001.130858

Barria, M. A., Libori, A., Mitchell, G., and Head, M. W. (2018). Susceptibility of Human Prion Protein to Conversion by Chronic Wasting Disease Prions. Emerg Infect Dis, 24(8), 1482-1489. doi: 10.3201/eid2408.161888

Barria, M. A., Telling, G. C., Gambetti, P., Mastrianni, J. A., and Soto, C. (2011). Generation of a new form of human PrP(Sc) in vitro by interspecies transmission from cervid prions. J Biol Chem, 286(9), 7490-7495. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.198465

Bartz, J. C., Marsh, R. F., McKenzie, D. I., and Aiken, J. M. (1998). The host range of chronic wasting disease is altered on passage in ferrets. Virology, 251(2), 297-301. doi: 10.1006/viro.1998.9427

Bartz, J. C., McKenzie, D. I., Bessen, R. A., Marsh, R. F., and Aiken, J. M. (1994). Transmissible mink encephalopathy species barrier effect between ferret and mink: PrP gene and protein analysis. J Gen Virol, 75 (Pt 11), 2947-2953. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-75-11-2947

Belay, E. D., Gambetti, P., Schonberger, L. B., Parchi, P., Lyon, D. R., Capellari, S., McQuiston, J. H., Bradley, K., Dowdle, G., Crutcher, J. M., and Nichols, C. R. (2001). Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease in unusually young patients who consumed venison. Arch Neurol, 58(10), 1673-1678. doi: 10.1001/archneur.58.10.1673.

Belt, P. B., Muileman, I. H., Schreuder, B. E., Bos-de Ruijter, J., Gielkens, A. L., and Smits, M. A. (1995). Identification of five allelic variants of the sheep PrP gene and their association with natural scrapie. J Gen Virol, 76 (Pt 3), 509-517. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-76-3-509

Bendheim, P. E., Brown, H. R., Rudelli, R. D., Scala, L. J., Goller, N. L., Wen, G. Y., Kascsak, R. J., Cashman, N. R., and Bolton, D. C. (1992). Nearly ubiquitous tissue distribution of the scrapie agent precursor protein. Neurology, 42(1), 149-156. doi: 10.1212/wnl.42.1.149

Benestad, S. L., Mitchell, G., Simmons, M., Ytrehus, B., and Vikøren, T. (2016). First case of chronic wasting disease in Europe in a Norwegian free-ranging reindeer. Vet Res, 47(1), 88. doi: 10.1186/s13567-016-0375-4

Bessen, R. A., and Marsh, R. F. (1992). Identification of two biologically distinct strains of transmissible mink encephalopathy in hamsters. J Gen Virol, 73 (Pt 2), 329-334. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-73-2-329

Biosecurity Animal Division 2019, Assessment of bulk wheat from Canada Part B: Animal biosecurity risk advice, Department of Agriculture, Canberra, August. CC BY 4.0 <u>http://www.agriculture.gov.au/biosecurity/risk-analysis/plant/</u> (accessed March 2021).

Bishop, R. C. (2004). The Economic Impacts of Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) in Wisconsin. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 9(3), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200490479963

Boman, M., Fredman, P., Lundmark, L., Ericsson, G. (2013). Outdoor recreation – A necessity or a luxury? Estimation of Engel curves for Sweden. J. Outdoor Recreat. Tour. 3–4, 49–56. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jort.2013.09.002

Bossers, A., Schreuder, B. E., Muileman, I. H., Belt, P. B., and Smits, M. A. (1996). PrP genotype contributes to determining survival times of sheep with natural scrapie. J Gen Virol, 77 (Pt 10), 2669-2673. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-77-10-2669

Bromley, D. W. (1991). *Environment and Economy: Property rights and public policy*. Oxford, UK; Cambridge, USA: Blackwell.

Bruce, M. E., Will, R. G., Ironside, J. W., McConnell, I., Drummond, D., Suttie, A., McCardle, L., Chree, A., Hope, J., Birkett, C., Cousens, S., Fraser, H., and Bostock, C. J. (1997). Transmissions to mice

indicate that 'new variant' CJD is caused by the BSE agent. Nature, 389(6650), 498-501. doi: 10.1038/39057

Canada NewsWire, 2002, Government compensation is the only market for farmed deer and elk claims Canadian Wildlife Federation, July 31, Ottawa, 430 words.

Canadian Broadcasting Corporation (CBC). (2019). Manitoba seeks firm to build Dauphin lab to detect chronic wasting disease in deer. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/chronic-waste-disease-manitoba-1.5247693</u>. (accessed October 2020).

Canadian Federation of Outfitter Associations (CFOA). (2018). The economics of outfitting in Canada. <u>https://www.pourvoiries.com/publications/2019/THE%20ECONOMIC%20IMPACTS%20OF%20OUTF</u> <u>ITTING%20IN%20CANADA/</u>. (accessed July 2020).

Canadian Wildlife Health Centre (CWHC). (2004). Chronic Wasting Disease in Canadian Wildlife: An Expert Opinion on the Epidemiology and Risks to Wild Deer <u>http://www.cwhc-rcsf.ca/docs/technical_reports/CWD_Expert_Report_Final_20040804.pdf</u> (accessed October 2020).

Canadian Wildlife Health Center (CWHC). (2019). Chronic Wasting Disease – Reports. http://www.cwhc-rcsf.ca/surveillance_data_cwd.php. (accessed October 2020).

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), (2018). A Proposed Zoning Approach for the Control of Chronic Wasting Disease in Canada, <u>https://www.ofah.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/A-Proposed-Zoning-Approach-for-the-Control-of-CWD-in-Canada.pdf</u> (access October 2020)

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2017). A Discussion of Options for Canada's Next Captive Cervid Chronic Wasting Disease Control Program, <u>https://thetyee.ca/Documents/2017/07/11/CFIA-CWD-discussion-paper.pdf</u> (accessed October 2020)

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2020). Chronic Wasting Disease Herd Certification Program. <u>https://www.inspection.gc.ca/animal-health/terrestrial-animals/diseases/reportable/cwd/herd-</u> <u>certification/eng/1330187841589/1330187970925</u> (accessed November 2020).

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2019). Specified Risk Materials - Requirements for Fertilizers and Supplements. <u>https://www.inspection.gc.ca/plant-health/fertilizers/registering-fertilizers-and-supplements/srm/eng/1320613799112/1320615608072</u>. (accessed October 2020).

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2015), Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) (National Cervid Industry Statistics 2006 - 2015), https://thetyee.ca/News/2017/08/24/CIFA.pdf (accessed December 2020).

Canadian Sheep Federation. (2020). Chronic Wasting Disease Voluntary Herd Certification Program. http://www.cansheep.ca/cwd.html. (accessed November 2020). Center for Infectious Disease Research and Policy (CIDRAP). (2019). Minnesota tweaks CWD regulations ahead of deer hunting season. <u>https://www.cidrap.umn.edu/news-</u> perspective/2019/08/minnesota-tweaks-cwd-regulations-ahead-deer-hunting-season. (accessed October 2020).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020), Retrieved 13/08/2020 from https://www.cdc.gov/prions/cwd/occurrence.html .

Cheever, F. (2001). Property rights and the maintenance of wildlife habitat: The case for conservation land transactions. Idaho Law Review 38(2): 431-451.

Cheng YC, Hannaoui S, John TR, Dudas S, Czub S, Gilch S. (2016). Early and Non-Invasive Detection of Chronic Wasting Disease Prions in Elk Feces by Real-Time Quaking Induced Conversion. PLoS One.11(11):e0166187.

Child, B. (1993). Zimbabwe's CAMPFIRE programme: using the high value of wildlife recreation to revolutionize natural resource management in communal areas. Commonwealth Forestry Review 72(4): 284-296.

Chiu, A., E. Goddard & B. Parlee. (2016) Caribou consumption in northern Canadian communities, Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 79:16-17, 762-797

Clark, D. and J. Joe-Strack. (2017). Keeping the "co" in co-management of Northern resources. Northern Public Affairs. Pg 71-74.

Cooney, E. E., & Holsman, R. H. (2010). Influences on Hunter Support for Deer Herd Reduction as a Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) Management Strategy. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 15(3), 194–207.

Council of Chief Veterinary Officers (CCVO) (2018). Chronic Wasting Disease: Alternative Disease Control Options. URL: <u>https://www.ccvo-cmvc.com/en/reports</u> (accessed 4.26.21)

Cullingham, C. I., Peery, R. M., Dao, A., McKenzie, D. I., and Coltman, D. W. (2020). Predicting the spread-risk potential of chronic wasting disease to sympatric ungulate species. Prion, 14(1), 56-66. doi: 10.1080/19336896.2020.1720486

CWD-Info.org, 2003, Compensation Cuts Anger Deer, Elk Farmers, http://cwd-info.org/compensation-cuts-anger-deer-elk-farmers/ (accessed December 2020)

CWD Alliance, n.d. CWD Overview. [WWW Document]. URL <u>http://cwd-info.org/cwd-overview/</u> (accessed 9.27.17).

CWD & Property Rights Workshop. (2017). Economic Concepts of Property Rights: Applications for CWD Management. Department of Resource Economics and Environmental Sociology, November 16, 2017.

Czub, S., Schulz-Schaeffer, W. J., Stahl-Hennig, C., Beekes, M., Schaetzl, H., and Motzkus, D. (2017). First evidence of intracranial and peroral transmission of Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) into Cynomolgus macaques: a work in progress. Prion Conference Book of Abstracts. Paper presented at the PRION 2017, Edinburgh.

Dawe, K., Bayne, E., and Boutin, S. (2014). Influence of climate and human land use on the distribution of white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) in the western boreal forest. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 92(4), 353-363.

Deaton, B James, Deaton, Brady J. (2020). Food security and Canada's agricultural system challenged by COVID-19. Can. J. Agric. Econ. Can. d'agroeconomie 68, 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/cjag.12227

Denkers, N. D., Hayes-Klug, J., Anderson, K. R., Seelig, D. M., Haley, N. J., Dahmes, S. J., Osborn, D. A., Miller, K. V., Warren, R. J., Mathiason, C. K., and Hoover, E. A. (2013). Aerosol transmission of chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer. J Virol, 87(3), 1890-1892. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02852-12

DeVivo, M. T., Edmunds, D. R., Kauffman, M. J., Schumaker, B. A., Binfet, J., Kreeger, T. J., Richards, B. J., Schatzl, H. M., and Cornish, T. E. (2017). Endemic chronic wasting disease causes mule deer population decline in Wyoming. PLoS One, 12(10), e0186512. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186512

Dubé C, Mehren KG, Barker IK, Peart BL, Balachandran A. (2006) Retrospective investigation of chronic wasting disease of cervids at the Toronto Zoo, 1973-2003. Can Vet J. 47(12):1185-93. PMID: 17217088; PMCID: PMC1636599.

Dulberger, J., Hobbs, N. T., Swanson, H. M., Bishop, C. J., and Miller, M. W. (2010). Estimating chronic wasting disease effects on mule deer recruitment and population growth. J Wildl Dis, 46(4), 1086-1095. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-46.4.1086

Durocher G. and Luckert, M.K. (2020) A property rights framework for analyzing management options for wildlife: a case study of chronic wasting disease in Canada. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management. DOI: 10.1080/09640568.2020.1785850

Durocher G., Luckert, M.K., Goddard E., and Adamowicz, W. (in process). Public Preferences for options to Manage Chronic Wasting Disease in Canada: A Paired Comparisons Study.

Duque Velasquez, C., Kim, C., Herbst, A., Daude, N., Garza, M. C., Wille, H., Aiken, J., and McKenzie, D. (2015). Deer Prion Proteins Modulate the Emergence and Adaptation of Chronic Wasting Disease Strains. J Virol, 89(24), 12362-12373. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02010-15

Environment Canada. (2011). Recovery Strategy for the Woodland Caribou, Boreal population (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in Canada [Proposed]. Species at Risk Act. Recovery Strategy Series. Environment Canada,Ottawa. vi+ 55p

Escobar, L.E., Pritzkow, S., Winter, S.N., Grear, D.A., Kirchgessner, M.S., Dominguez-Villegas, E., Machado, G., Townsend Peterson, A., Soto, C., (2020). The ecology of chronic wasting disease in wildlife. Biol. Rev. 95, 393–408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12568</u>

European Commission (2018). Draft Regulation concerning additional requirements for imported hay and straw for animal feed [from non-EEA countries]. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-</u> <u>databases/tris/en/search/?trisaction=search.detail&year=2018&num=9016</u>. (accessed November 2020).

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). (2019). Update on chronic wasting disease (CWD) III. Scientific Opinion: EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards. EFSA Journal. https://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5863 (accessed November 2020).

Fernandez-Borges, N., Parra, B., Vidal, E., Erana, H., Sanchez-Martin, M. A., de Castro, J., Elezgarai, S. R., Pumarola, M., Mayoral, T., and Castilla, J. (2017). Unraveling the key to the resistance of canids to prion diseases. PLoS Pathog, 13(11), e1006716. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006716

Festa-Bianchet, M., Ray, J., Boutin, S., Côté, S., and Gunn, A. (2011). Conservation of caribou (Rangifer tarandus) in Canada: an uncertain future. Can. J. Zool, 89, 15. doi: 10.1139/Z11-025

Forbes, K. (2008). What economic value do Albertans place on containing Chronic Wasting Disease?, unpublished MSc thesis, University of Alberta.

Gagnier, M., Laurion, I., and DeNicola, A. J. (2020). Control and Surveillance Operations to Prevent Chronic Wasting Disease Establishment in Free-Ranging White-Tailed Deer in Quebec, Canada. Animals (Basel), 10(2). doi: 10.3390/ani10020283

Geist, V., Clausen, D. Chrichton, V and D. Rowledge. (2017). The Challenge of CWD: Insidious and Dire. Living Legacy White Paper Series. Alliance for Public Wildlife. <u>https://www.ofah.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/The-Challenge-of-CWD.pdf</u> (accessed November 2020)

Georgsson, G., Sigurdarson, S., and Brown, P. (2006). Infectious agent of sheep scrapie may persist in the environment for at least 16 years. J Gen Virol, 87(Pt 12), 3737-3740. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.82011-0

Gillin, C.M., and Mawdsley, J.R. (eds.). (2018). AFWA Technical Report on Best Management Practices for Surveillance, Management and Control of Chronic Wasting Disease. Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, Washington, D. C. 111 pp.

https://www.fishwildlife.org/application/files/9615/3729/1513/AFWA_Technical_Report_on_CWD_BM Ps_FINAL.pdf

Globe and Mail. (2019). Federal government urged to do more about chronic wasting disease in wild game. <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-federal-government-urged-to-do-more-about-chronic-wasting-disease-in/ (accessed October 2020)</u>

Goddard, E. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on food retail and food service in Canada: Preliminary assessment. Can. J. Agric. Econ. Can. d'agroeconomie 68, 157–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cjag.12243</u>

Goddard, E., A. Klotz, J. Flesch, J. Pattison-Williams, K. Arnston, 2021, CWD and Alberta Cow-calf Producers, manuscript in process

Goldmann, W., Hunter, N., Foster, J. D., Salbaum, J. M., Beyreuther, K., and Hope, J. (1990). Two alleles of a neural protein gene linked to scrapie in sheep. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87(7), 2476-2480. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.7.2476

Government of Alberta (2020). Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) surveillance update: May 5, 2020. Retrieved 13/08/2020, from <u>https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-updates.aspx</u>

Government of Alberta. (2013). CWD in moose in Alberta info sheet. Wildl. Info Bull. 8:1-2

Government of Alberta. (2008). *Hunting, Fishing and Trapping Heritage Act.* Statutes of Alberta 2008, Chapter H-15.5. Edmonton: Alberta Queen's Printer.

Government of Alberta. (2014a). *Wildlife Act.* RSA 2000, Chapter W-10. Edmonton: Alberta Queen's Printer.

Government of Alberta. (2014b). *Wilderness Areas, Ecological Reserves, Natural Areas and Heritage Rangelands Act.* RSA 2000, Chapter W-9. Edmonton: Alberta Queen's Printer.

Government of Alberta. (2017). *Provincial Parks Act.* RSA 2000, Chapter P-35. Edmonton: Alberta Queen's Printer.

Government of Alberta. (2020). CWD Herd Certification Program. <u>https://www.alberta.ca/cwd-herd-certification-program.aspx</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Government of Canada. (2017). Canada National Parks Act. S.C. 2000, c. 32.

Government of Canada. (2019). *Species at Risk Act*. <u>https://wildlife-species.canada.ca/species-risk-registry/virtual_sara/files/plans/Rs-CaribouBorealeAmdMod-v00-2019Jun-Eng.pdf</u>. (accessed October 2020)

Government of Canada. (2020a). Canada Wildlife Act. <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/W-9/</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Government of Canada. (2020b). Fisheries Act updates and reconciliation with Indigenous peoples. Department of Fisheries and Oceans. <u>https://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/campaign-campagne/fisheries-act-loi-sur-les-peches/reconciliation-eng.html</u> (accessed November 2020).

Government of Saskatchewan. (2019). Saskatchewan Hunters and Trappers Guide. <u>https://www.saskatchewan.ca/residents/parks-culture-heritage-and-sport/hunting-trapping-and-angling/hunting.</u> (accessed September 2020).

Government of Saskatchewan. (2020) Saskatchewan Resident Big Game Draw Supplement. https://publications.saskatchewan.ca/#/products/68828. (accessed November 2020) Government of Saskatchewan. (1981). *The Wildlife Regulations, 1981*. Statutes of Saskatchewan 1979, Chapter W-13.11. Regina: The Queen's Printer.

Government of Saskatchewan. (1998). *The Wildlife Act, 1998*. Statutes of Saskatchewan 1998, Chapter W-13.12. Regina: The Queen's Printer.

Government of Saskatchewan. (2010). The Hunting, Fishing and Trapping Heritage Act. Statutes of Saskatchewan 2010, Chapter H-16. Regina: The Queen's Printer.

Government of Saskatchewan (2017). Woodland Caribou in Saskatchewan. <u>https://pubsaskdev.blob.core.windows.net/pubsask-prod/104391/104391-</u> <u>Woodland_Caribou_Infographic.pdf</u> (accessed August 2020).

Government of Vermont. (2020). Big Game Taken Outside of Vermont. Agency of Natural Resources, Department of Fish and Wildlife. <u>https://vtfishandwildlife.com/hunt/hunting-regulations/big-game-taken-outside-vermont</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Grear, D. A., Samuel, M. D., Langenberg, J. A., and Keane, D. (2006). Demographic patterns and harvest vulnerability of chronic wasting disease infected white-tailed deer in Wisconsin. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 70(2), 546-553.

Greenlee, J. J., Nicholson, E. M., Smith, J. D., Kunkle, R. A., and Hamir, A. N. (2012). Susceptibility of cattle to the agent of chronic wasting disease from elk after intracranial inoculation. J Vet Diagn Invest, 24(6), 1087-1093. doi: 10.1177/1040638712461249

Hagenaars, T. J., Melchior, M. B., Bossers, A., Davidse, A., Engel, B., and van Zijderveld, F. G. (2010). Scrapie prevalence in sheep of susceptible genotype is declining in a population subject to breeding for resistance. BMC Vet Res, 6, 25. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-6-25

Haley, D. and M. K. Luckert. (1990). *Forest Tenures in Canada: A Framework for Policy Analysis*. Information report E-X-43. Ottawa: Economics Directorate, Forestry Canada.

Haley, N. J., Mathiason, C. K., Carver, S., Zabel, M., Telling, G. C., and Hoover, E. A. (2011). Detection of chronic wasting disease prions in salivary, urinary, and intestinal tissues of deer: potential mechanisms of prion shedding and transmission. J Virol, 85(13), 6309-6318. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00425-11

Haley, N. J., Merrett, K., Buros Stein, A., Simpson, D., Carlson, A., Mitchell, G., Staskevicius, A., Nichols, T., Lehmkuhl, A. D., and Thomsen, B. V. (2019). Estimating relative CWD susceptibility and disease progression in farmed white-tailed deer with rare PRNP alleles. PLoS One, 14(12), e0224342. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224342

Hamir, A. N., Greenlee, J. J., Nicholson, E. M., Kunkle, R. A., Richt, J. A., Miller, J. M., and Hall, M. (2011a). Experimental transmission of chronic wasting disease (CWD) from elk and white-tailed deer to fallow deer by intracerebral route: final report. Can J Vet Res, 75(2), 152-156.

Hamir, A. N., Kehrli, M. E., Jr., Kunkle, R. A., Greenlee, J. J., Nicholson, E. M., Richt, J. A., Miller, J. M., and Cutlip, R. C. (2011b). Experimental interspecies transmission studies of the transmissible spongiform encephalopathies to cattle: comparison to bovine spongiform encephalopathy in cattle. J Vet Diagn Invest, 23(3), 407-420. doi: 10.1177/1040638711403404

Hamir, A. N., Kunkle, R. A., Cutlip, R. C., Miller, J. M., O'Rourke, K. I., Williams, E. S., Miller, M. W., Stack, M. J., Chaplin, M. J., and Richt, J. A. (2005). Experimental transmission of chronic wasting disease agent from mule deer to cattle by the intracerebral route. J Vet Diagn Invest, 17(3), 276-281. doi: 10.1177/104063870501700313

Hamir, A. N., Kunkle, R. A., Cutlip, R. C., Miller, J. M., Williams, E. S., and Richt, J. A. (2006). Transmission of chronic wasting disease of mule deer to Suffolk sheep following intracerebral inoculation. J Vet Diagn Invest, 18(6), 558-565. doi: 10.1177/104063870601800606

Hamir, A. N., Kunkle, R. A., Miller, J. M., Cutlip, R. C., Richt, J. A., Kehrli, M. E., Jr., and Williams, E. S. (2007a). Age-related lesions in laboratory-confined raccoons (Procyon lotor) inoculated with the agent of chronic wasting disease of mule deer. J Vet Diagn Invest, 19(6), 680-686. doi: 10.1177/104063870701900610

Hamir, A. N., Miller, J. M., Kunkle, R. A., Hall, S. M., and Richt, J. A. (2007b). Susceptibility of cattle to first-passage intracerebral inoculation with chronic wasting disease agent from white-tailed deer. Vet Pathol, 44(4), 487-493. doi: 10.1354/vp.44-4-487

Hannaoui, S., Amidian, S., Cheng, Y. C., Duque Velasquez, C., Dorosh, L., Law, S., Telling, G., Stepanova, M., McKenzie, D., Wille, H., and Gilch, S. (2017). Destabilizing polymorphism in cervid prion protein hydrophobic core determines prion conformation and conversion efficiency. PLoS Pathog, 13(8), e1006553. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006553

Harper, D.L. (2012). Analyzing the Economic Benefit of Woodland Caribou Conservation in Alberta. MSc Thesis. Dep. Resour. Econ. Environ. Sociol. Univ. Alberta. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.7939/R30S5P

Harrington, R. D., Baszler, T. V., O'Rourke, K. I., Schneider, D. A., Spraker, T. R., Liggitt, H. D., and Knowles, D. P. (2008). A species barrier limits transmission of chronic wasting disease to mink (Mustela vison). J Gen Virol, 89(Pt 4), 1086-1096. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83422-0

Hauer, G., (Vic) Adamowicz, W.L., Boutin, S. (2018). Economic analysis of threatened species conservation: The case of woodland caribou and oilsands development in Alberta, Canada. J. Environ. Manage. 218, 103–117. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.03.039

Haus, J.M.; Eyler, T.B.; Duda, M.D.; Bowman, J.L. (2017). Hunter perceptions toward chronic wasting disease: Implications for harvest and management. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 41, 294–300.

Hazards, E. P. o. B., Koutsoumanis, K., Allende, A., Alvarez-Ordonez, A., Bolton, D., Bover-Cid, S., Chemaly, M., Davies, R., De Cesare, A., Herman, L., Hilbert, F., Lindqvist, R., Nauta, M., Peixe, L., Ru, G., Skandamis, P., Suffredini, E., Andreoletti, O., Benestad, S. L., Comoy, E., Nonno, R., da Silva Felicio, T., Ortiz-Pelaez, A., and Simmons, M. M. (2019). Update on chronic wasting disease (CWD) III. EFSA J, 17(11), e05863. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5863

Heisey, D. M., Mickelsen, N. A., Schneider, J. R., Johnson, C. J., Johnson, C. J., Langenberg, J. A., Bochsler, P. N., Keane, D. P., and Barr, D. J. (2010). Chronic wasting disease (CWD) susceptibility of several North American rodents that are sympatric with cervid CWD epidemics. J Virol, 84(1), 210-215. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00560-09

Herbst, A., Velasquez, C. D., Triscott, E., Aiken, J. M., and McKenzie, D. (2017). Chronic Wasting Disease Prion Strain Emergence and Host Range Expansion. Emerg Infect Dis, 23(9), 1598-1600. doi: 10.3201/eid2309.161474

Hervieux, D., Hebblewhite, M., DeCesare, N., Russell, M., Smith, K., Robertson, S., and Boutin, S. (2013). Widespread declines in woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus caribou) continue in Alberta. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 91(12), 872-882.

Hill, A. F., Desbruslais, M., Joiner, S., Sidle, K. C., Gowland, I., Collinge, J., Doey, L. J., and Lantos, P. (1997). The same prion strain causes vCJD and BSE. Nature, 389(6650), 448-450, 526. doi: 10.1038/38925

Hill, A. F., Joiner, S., Linehan, J., Desbruslais, M., Lantos, P. L., and Collinge, J. (2000). Species-barrierindependent prion replication in apparently resistant species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97(18), 10248-10253.

Hobbs, J.E. and Kerr, W.A. (2000), Managed Trade in Non-traditional Products: Emerging Issues for Canada's Specialised Livestock Sectors. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne d'agroeconomie, 48: 433-442. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7976.2000.tb00398.x

Hoinville, L. J. (1996). A review of the epidemiology of scrapie in sheep. Rev Sci Tech, 15(3), 827-852.

Holsman, R. H., & Petchenik, J. (2006). Predicting Deer Hunter Harvest Behavior in Wisconsin's Chronic Wasting Disease Eradication Zone. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 11(3), 177–189.

Holsman, R. H., Petchenik, J., & Cooney, E. E. (2010). CWD After "the Fire": Six Reasons Why Hunters Resisted Wisconsin's Eradication Effort. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 15(3), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871201003718029

Interagency Oversight Committee (IOC). (2005). Canada's National Chronic Wasting Disease Control Strategy. Prepared for the Federal-Provincial/Territorial Resource Ministers Council by the Technical Working Group. <u>http://www.cwhc-rcsf.ca/docs/technical_reports/NCWDCS2005.pdf</u> (accessed October 2020).

Johnson, C., Johnson, J., Clayton, M., McKenzie, D., and Aiken, J. (2003). Prion protein gene heterogeneity in free-ranging white-tailed deer within the chronic wasting disease affected region of Wisconsin. J Wildl Dis, 39(3), 576-581. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-39.3.576

Johnson, C., Johnson, J., Vanderloo, J. P., Keane, D., Aiken, J. M., and McKenzie, D. (2006a). Prion protein polymorphisms in white-tailed deer influence susceptibility to chronic wasting disease. J Gen Virol, 87(Pt 7), 2109-2114. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.81615-0

Johnson, C. J., Herbst, A., Duque-Velasquez, C., Vanderloo, J. P., Bochsler, P., Chappell, R., and McKenzie, D. (2011). Prion protein polymorphisms affect chronic wasting disease progression. PLoS One, 6(3), e17450. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017450

Johnson, C. J., Pedersen, J. A., Chappell, R. J., McKenzie, D., and Aiken, J. M. (2007). Oral transmissibility of prion disease is enhanced by binding to soil particles. PLoS Pathog, 3(7), e93. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030093

Johnson, C. J., Phillips, K. E., Schramm, P. T., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J. M., and Pedersen, J. A. (2006b). Prions adhere to soil minerals and remain infectious. PLoS Pathog, 2(4), e32. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020032

Kahn, S., Dube, C., Bates, L., and Balachandran, A. (2004). Chronic wasting disease in Canada: Part 1. Can Vet J, 45(5), 397-404.

Kaplinsky and Percy (n.d.) A guide to property rights in Alberta. <u>http://propertyrightsguide.ca/assets/a-guide-to-property-rights-in-alberta.pdf</u>.

Keane, D. P., Barr, D. J., Bochsler, P. N., Hall, S. M., Gidlewski, T., O'Rourke, K. I., Spraker, T. R., and Samuel, M. D. (2008). Chronic wasting disease in a Wisconsin white-tailed deer farm. J Vet Diagn Invest, 20(5), 698-703. doi: 10.1177/104063870802000534

Kelly, A. C., Mateus-Pinilla, N. E., Diffendorfer, J., Jewell, E., Ruiz, M. O., Killefer, J., Shelton, P., Beissel, T., and Novakofski, J. (2008). Prion sequence polymorphisms and chronic wasting disease resistance in Illinois white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus). Prion, 2(1), 28-36. doi: 10.4161/pri.2.1.6321

Kim, T. Y., Shon, H. J., Joo, Y. S., Mun, U. K., Kang, K. S., and Lee, Y. S. (2005). Additional cases of Chronic Wasting Disease in imported deer in Korea. J Vet Med Sci, 67(8), 753-759. doi: 10.1292/jvms.67.753

Klotz, A., Flesch, J. and E. Goddard. (2020a). Comparison of results from Canadian CWD surveys by stakeholder groups. Unpublished.

Klotz, A., Flesch, J. and E. Goddard. (2020b). Professional outfitter survey results on information, risk and management preferences. Unpublished.

Kong, Q., Huang, S., Zou, W., Vanegas, D., Wang, M., Wu, D., Yuan, J., Zheng, M., Bai, H., Deng, H., Chen, K., Jenny, A. L., O'Rourke, K., Belay, E. D., Schonberger, L. B., Petersen, R. B., Sy, M. S., Chen, S. G., and Gambetti, P. (2005). Chronic wasting disease of elk: transmissibility to humans examined by transgenic mouse models. J Neurosci, 25(35), 7944-7949. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2467-05.2005

Koutnik, D. L. (1981). Sex-related differences in the seasonality of agonistic behavior in mule deer. Journal of Mammalogy, 62(1), 1-11.

Krumm, C. E., Conner, M. M., Hobbs, N. T., Hunter, D. O., and Miller, M. W. (2010). Mountain lions prey selectively on prion-infected mule deer. Biol Lett, 6(2), 209-211. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2009.0742

Kurt, T. D., Jiang, L., Fernandez-Borges, N., Bett, C., Liu, J., Yang, T., Spraker, T. R., Castilla, J., Eisenberg, D., Kong, Q., and Sigurdson, C. J. (2015). Human prion protein sequence elements impede cross-species chronic wasting disease transmission. J Clin Invest, 125(6), 2548. doi: 10.1172/JCI82647

Kurt, T. D., Telling, G. C., Zabel, M. D., and Hoover, E. A. (2009). Trans-species amplification of PrP(CWD) and correlation with rigid loop 170N. Virology, 387(1), 235-243. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.02.025

Kuznetsova, A., Cullingham, C., McKenzie, D., and Aiken, J. M. (2018). Soil humic acids degrade CWD prions and reduce infectivity. PLoS Pathog, 14(11), e1007414. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007414

Kuznetsova, A., McKenzie, D., Banser, P., Siddique, T., and Aiken, J. M. (2014). Potential role of soil properties in the spread of CWD in western Canada. Prion, 8(1), 92-99. doi: 10.4161/pri.28467

Kuznetsova, A., McKenzie, D., Cullingham, C., and Aiken, J. M. (2020). Long-Term Incubation PrP(CWD) with Soils Affects Prion Recovery but Not Infectivity. Pathogens, 9(4). doi: 10.3390/pathogens9040311

Lazo, J.K. et al 2004. Potential Economic Impacts of Chronic Wasting Disease on Ontario's Economy, Final Report. <u>https://www.ofah.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Potential-Economic-Impacts-of-CWD-on-Ontarios-Economy.pdf (accessed October 2020)</u>

Lee, T. and K. Good. (2015). Impact of Wildlife to Beef Producers in Alberta; Starting the Conversation, report prepared for Alberta Beef Producers, 126 pages. https://www.rockies.ca/files/reports/ImpactofWildlife.pdf (accessed November 2, 2020).

Lee, Y. H., Sohn, H. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, H. J., Lee, W. Y., Yun, E. I., Tark, D. S., Cho, I. S., and Balachandran, A. (2013a). Strain characterization of the Korean CWD cases in 2001 and 2004. J Vet Med Sci, 75(1), 95-98. doi: 10.1292/jvms.12-0077

Lee, Y. H., Sohn, H. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, H. J., Park, K. J., Lee, W. Y., Yun, E. I., Tark, D. S., Choi, Y. P., Cho, I. S., and Balachandran, A. (2013b). Experimental chronic wasting disease in wild type VM mice. J Vet Med Sci, 75(8), 1107-1110. doi: 10.1292/jvms.13-0018

Leiss, W., M. Westphal, M.G. Tyshenko, M.C. Croteau, T. Oraby, W. Adamowicz, E. Goddard, N.R. Cashman, S. Darshan, and D. Krewski. (2017). Challenges in managing the risks of chronic wasting disease. International Journal of Global Environmental Issues. 16(4): 277-302.

Lloyd-Smith, P., Abbott, J.K., Adamowicz, W., Willard, D. (2020). Intertemporal Substitution in Travel Cost Models with Seasonal Time Constraints. L. Econ. *96*, 399–417. https://doi.org/10.3368/le.96.3.399

Lloyd-Smith, P., Abbott, J.K., Adamowicz, W., Willard, D. (2019). Decoupling the Value of Leisure Time from Labor Market Returns in Travel Cost Models. J. Assoc. Environ. Resour. Econ. 6, 215–242. https://doi.org/10.1086/701760

Luckert, M. K., D. Haley and G. Hoberg. (2011). Policies for Sustainably Managing Canada's Forests: Tenure, Stumpage Fees and Forest Practices. Vancouver, British Columbia: UBC Press.

Lueck, D. (2002). The extermination and conservation of the American bison. *The Journal of Legal Studies* 31(S2): S609-S652.

MacArthur, M. (2015). Canadian Elk Velvet Producers to Export to South Korea, Western Producer, February 20, <u>https://www.producer.com/daily/canadian-elk-velvet-producers-to-sell-to-south-korea/</u> (accessed July 2020)

Maddox, R. A., Person, M. K., Blevins, J. E., Abrams, J. Y., Bryant, B. L., Appleby, B. S., Schonberger, L. B., and Belay, E. D. (2019). Prion disease incidence, United States, 2003-2016. Paper presented at the Prion conference, Edmonton.

Madsen-Bouterse, S. A., Schneider, D. A., Zhuang, D., Dassanayake, R. P., Balachandran, A., Mitchell, G. B., and O'Rourke, K. I. (2016). Primary transmission of chronic wasting disease versus scrapie prions from small ruminants to transgenic mice expressing ovine or cervid prion protein. J Gen Virol, 97(9), 2451-2460. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000539

Maher, S.M., Fenichel, E.P., Schmitz, O.J., Adamowicz, W.L. (2020). The economics of conservation debt: a natural capital approach to revealed valuation of ecological dynamics. Ecol. Appl. n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2132

Maloney, M., Merkle, J.A., Aadland, D., Peck, D., Horan, R.D., Monteith, K.L., Winslow, T., Logan, J., Finnoff, D., Sims, C., Schumaker, B. (2020). Chronic wasting disease undermines efforts to control the spread of brucellosis in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem. Ecol. Appl. n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2129

Marsh, R. F., Kincaid, A. E., Bessen, R. A., and Bartz, J. C. (2005). Interspecies transmission of chronic wasting disease prions to squirrel monkeys (Saimiri sciureus). J Virol, 79(21), 13794-13796. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.21.13794-13796.2005

Mathiason, C. K., Hays, S. A., Powers, J., Hayes-Klug, J., Langenberg, J., Dahmes, S. J., Osborn, D. A., Miller, K. V., Warren, R. J., Mason, G. L., and Hoover, E. A. (2009). Infectious prions in pre-clinical deer and transmission of chronic wasting disease solely by environmental exposure. PLoS One, 4(6), e5916. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005916

Mathiason, C. K., Nalls, A. V., Seelig, D. M., Kraft, S. L., Carnes, K., Anderson, K. R., Hayes-Klug, J., and Hoover, E. A. (2013). Susceptibility of domestic cats to chronic wasting disease. J Virol, 87(4), 1947-1956. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02592-12

Mathiason, C. K., Powers, J. G., Dahmes, S. J., Osborn, D. A., Miller, K. V., Warren, R. J., Mason, G. L., Hays, S. A., Hayes-Klug, J., Seelig, D. M., Wild, M. A., Wolfe, L. L., Spraker, T. R., Miller, M. W., Sigurdson, C. J., Telling, G. C., and Hoover, E. A. (2006). Infectious prions in the saliva and blood of deer with chronic wasting disease. Science, 314(5796), 133-136. doi: 10.1126/science.1132661

MaWhinney, S., Pape, W. J., Forster, J. E., Anderson, C. A., Bosque, P., and Miller, M. W. (2006). Human prion disease and relative risk associated with chronic wasting disease. Emerging infectious diseases, 12(10), 1527.

Michigan Department of Natural Resources. (2020). Chronic Wasting Disease and Cervidae Regulations in North America. <u>http://cwd-info.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/CWDRegstableState-</u> <u>Province_Spring20.pdf</u> (accessed March 2021).

Michigan State University. (2018). Meat Processor Deer/Venison Processing Protocol to Prevent the Spread of Chronic Wasting Disease.

https://www.canr.msu.edu/resources/meat_processor_deer_venison_processing_protocol_to_prevent_the_____spread_of_ch). (accessed October 2020).

Michigan State University (MSU). (2020). Considerations for meat processors accepting venison to prevent spreading chronic wasting disease.

https://www.canr.msu.edu/resources/meat_processor_deer_venison_processing_protocol_to_prevent_the_____spread_of_ch). (accessed November 2020).

Miller, M. H. Swanson, L. Wolfe, F. Quartarone, S. Huwer, P. Lukacs, and C. Southwick. (2008). Lions and Prions and Deer Demise. PLoS ONE 3(12): e4019. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004019

Miller, M. W., and Conner, M. M. (2005). Epidemiology of chronic wasting disease in free-ranging mule deer: spatial, temporal, and demographic influences on observed prevalence patterns. J Wildl Dis, 41(2), 275-290. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-41.2.275

Miller, M. W., Runge, J. P., Holland, A. A., & Eckert, M. D. (2020). Hunting pressure modulates prion infection risk in mule deer herds. Journal of Wildlife Diseases. https://doi.org/10.7589/JWD-D-20-00054

Miller, M. W., Swanson, H. M., Wolfe, L. L., Quartarone, F. G., Huwer, S. L., Southwick, C. H., and Lukacs, P. M. (2008). Lions and prions and deer demise. PLoS One, 3(12), e4019. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004019

Miller, M. W., and Wild, M. A. (2004). Epidemiology of chronic wasting disease in captive white-tailed and mule deer. J Wildl Dis, 40(2), 320-327. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-40.2.320

Miller, M. W., Wild, M. A., and Williams, E. S. (1998). Epidemiology of chronic wasting disease in captive Rocky Mountain elk. J Wildl Dis, 34(3), 532-538. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-34.3.532

Miller, M. W., and Williams, E. S. (2003). Prion disease: horizontal prion transmission in mule deer. Nature, 425(6953), 35-36. doi: 10.1038/425035a

Miller, M. W., and Williams, E. S. (2004). Chronic wasting disease of cervids. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 284, 193-214. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-08441-0_8

Miller, M. W., Williams, E. S., Hobbs, N. T., and Wolfe, L. L. (2004). Environmental sources of prion transmission in mule deer. Emerg Infect Dis, 10(6), 1003-1006. doi: 10.3201/eid1006.040010

Miller, M. W., Williams, E. S., McCarty, C. W., Spraker, T. R., Kreeger, T. J., Larsen, C. T., and Thorne, E. T. (2000). Epizootiology of chronic wasting disease in free-ranging cervids in Colorado and Wyoming. J Wildl Dis, 36(4), 676-690. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-36.4.676

Mitchell, G., Shaffer, P., Foster, S., Ghazi, D., Rendulich, J., Yogasingam, N., Hills, B., and Balachandran, A. (2011). Envt. 21: Transmission of Canadian CWD Isolates to Transgenic Mice. Prion, 5, 106-107.

Mitchell, G., Yogasingam, N., Walther, I., and Balachandran, A. (2015). Experimental transmission of chronic wasting disease to sheep and goats. P-70 Prion 2015 Poster Abstracts Prion, 9:sup1, S11-S99, DOI: 10.1080/19336896.2015.1033248 .

Monello, R. J., Powers, J. G., Hobbs, N. T., Spraker, T. R., Watry, M. K., and Wild, M. A. (2014). Survival and population growth of a free-ranging elk population with a long history of exposure to chronic wasting disease. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 78(2), 214-223.

Moore, J., Tatum, T., Hwang, S., Vrentas, C., West Greenlee, M. H., Kong, Q., Nicholson, E., and Greenlee, J. (2020). Novel Strain of the Chronic Wasting Disease Agent Isolated From Experimentally Inoculated Elk With LL132 Prion Protein. Sci Rep, 10(1), 3148. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59819-1

Moore, S. J., Kunkle, R., Greenlee, M. H., Nicholson, E., Richt, J., Hamir, A., Waters, W. R., and Greenlee, J. (2016). Horizontal Transmission of Chronic Wasting Disease in Reindeer. Emerg Infect Dis, 22(12), 2142-2145. doi: 10.3201/eid2212.160635

Moore, S. J., Smith, J. D., Richt, J. A., and Greenlee, J. J. (2019). Raccoons accumulate PrP(Sc) after intracranial inoculation of the agents of chronic wasting disease or transmissible mink encephalopathy but not atypical scrapie. J Vet Diagn Invest, 31(2), 200-209. doi: 10.1177/1040638718825290

Moore, S. J., West Greenlee, M. H., Kondru, N., Manne, S., Smith, J. D., Kunkle, R. A., Kanthasamy, A., and Greenlee, J. J. (2017). Experimental Transmission of the Chronic Wasting Disease Agent to Swine after Oral or Intracranial Inoculation. J Virol, 91(19). doi: 10.1128/JVI.00926-17

Muringai, V., & Goddard, E. (2018). Trust and consumer risk perceptions regarding BSE and chronic wasting disease. Agribusiness, 34(2), 240–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/agr.21524

Myae, A.C. (2015). The Political Economy of Animal Testing and Traceability in Response to Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathies (TSEs), unpublished PhD thesis, University of Alberta.

Myae, A.C., Goddard, E. (2020). Household behavior with respect to meat consumption in the presence of BSE and CWD. Can. J. Agric. Econ. Can. d'agroeconomie n/a. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cjag.12223</u>

Mysterud, A, Benestad, SL, Rolandsen, CM, Våge, J. Policy implications of an expanded chronic wasting disease universe. J Appl Ecol. 2021; 58: 281–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13783

Mysterud, A., and Edmunds, D. (2019). A review of chronic wasting disease in North America with implications for Europe. Eur J Wildl Res, 65(26). doi: 10.1007/s10344-019-1260-z

Mysterud, A., Viljugrein, H., Solberg, E.J. and Rolandsen, C.M. (2019), Legal regulation of supplementary cervid feeding facing chronic wasting disease. Jour. Wild. Mgmt., 83: 1667-1675. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21746

Nalls, A. V., McNulty, E., Hoover, C. E., Pulscher, L. A., Hoover, E. A., and Mathiason, C. K. (2017). Infectious Prions in the Pregnancy Microenvironment of Chronic Wasting Disease-Infected Reeves' Muntjac Deer. J Virol, 91(15). doi: 10.1128/JVI.00501-17

Nalls, A. V., McNulty, E., Powers, J., Seelig, D. M., Hoover, C., Haley, N. J., Hayes-Klug, J., Anderson, K., Stewart, P., Goldmann, W., Hoover, E. A., and Mathiason, C. K. (2013). Mother to offspring transmission of chronic wasting disease in reeves' muntjac deer. PLoS One, 8(8), e71844. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071844

Natcher, D.C. (2019). Subsistence, regional planning and the cultural carrying capacity of First Nations in Alberta, Canada. Hunt. Gatherer Res. 3, 717–736.

Needham, M.D.; Vaske, J.J.; Manfredo, M.J. (2004). Hunters' behavior and acceptance of management actions related to chronic wasting disease in eight states. Hum. Dimens. Wildl. 9, 211–231.

Nelson, C. and H.M. Schwantje. (2019). A surveillance and response plan for Chronic Wasting Disease in British Columbia. BC Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/plants-animals-and-ecosystems/wildlife-wildlife-habitat/wildlife-health/wildlife-health-documents/bc_cwd_plan_june2019_approved.pdf</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Nichols, T. A., Fischer, J. W., Spraker, T. R., Kong, Q., and VerCauteren, K. C. (2015). CWD prions remain infectious after passage through the digestive system of coyotes (Canis latrans). Prion, 9(5), 367-375. doi: 10.1080/19336896.2015.1086061

Nodelijk, G., van Roermund, H. J., van Keulen, L. J., Engel, B., Vellema, P., and Hagenaars, T. J. (2011). Breeding with resistant rams leads to rapid control of classical scrapie in affected sheep flocks. Vet Res, 42, 5. doi: 10.1186/1297-9716-42-5

O'Rourke, K. I., Spraker, T. R., Hamburg, L. K., Besser, T. E., Brayton, K. A., and Knowles, D. P. (2004). Polymorphisms in the prion precursor functional gene but not the pseudogene are associated with susceptibility to chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer. J Gen Virol, 85(Pt 5), 1339-1346. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.79785-0

Osterholm, M. T., Anderson, C. J., Zabel, M. D., Scheftel, J. M., Moore, K. A., & Appleby, B. S. (2019). Chronic Wasting Disease in Cervids: Implications for Prion Transmission to Humans and Other Animal Species. MBio, 10(4), e01091-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01091-19

Parlee, B., E. Goddard, ŁutsëlK'éDene First Nation & M. Smith. (2014). Tracking Change: Traditional Knowledge and Monitoring of, Wildlife Health in Northern Canada, Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 19:1, 47-61, DOI:10.1080/10871209.2013.825823

Parlee, B., Ahkimnachie, K., Cunninham, H., Jordan, M., and E. Goddard. (2020). Indigenous Food Systems and Chronic Wasting Disease in Western Canada, in submission

Pattison, I. H. (1965). Experiments with scrapie with special reference to the nature of the agent and the pathology of the disease. In C. J. Gajdusek, J. Gibbs & M. P. Alpers (Eds.), Slow, latent and temperate virus infections. NINDB monograph 2. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Pattison-Williams, J.K., L. Xie, W. L. Adamowicz, M. Pybus & A. Hubbs. (2020). An empirical analysis of hunter response to chronic wasting disease in Alberta, Human Dimensions of Wildlife, DOI: 10.1080/10871209.2020.1780351

Pattison-Williams, J., L. Xie, W. Adamowicz, E. Goddard and M. Luckert. (2020). Hunter preferences and economic benefits of chronic wasting disease testing and surveillance programs. Working paper. Department of Resource Economics and Environmental Sociology. University of Alberta. Edmonton.

Perrings, C., Castillo-Chavez, C., Chowell, G., Daszak, P., Fenichel, E.P., Finnoff, D., Horan, R.D., Kilpatrick, A.M., Kinzig, A.P., Kuminoff, N. V, Levin, S., Morin, B., Smith, K.F., Springborn, M., 2014. Merging economics and epidemiology to improve the prediction and management of infectious disease. Ecohealth 11, 464–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-014-0963-6

Perrott, M. R., Sigurdson, C. J., Mason, G. L., and Hoover, E. A. (2012). Evidence for distinct chronic wasting disease (CWD) strains in experimental CWD in ferrets. J Gen Virol, 93(Pt 1), 212-221. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.035006-0

Perrott, M. R., Sigurdson, C. J., Mason, G. L., and Hoover, E. A. (2013). Mucosal transmission and pathogenesis of chronic wasting disease in ferrets. J Gen Virol, 94(Pt 2), 432-442. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.046110-0

Pirisinu, L., Tran, L., Chiappini, B., Vanni, I., Di Bari, M. A., Vaccari, G., Vikoren, T., Madslien, K. I.,
Vage, J., Spraker, T., Mitchell, G., Balachandran, A., Baron, T., Casalone, C., Rolandsen, C. M., Roed,
K. H., Agrimi, U., Nonno, R., and Benestad, S. L. (2018). Novel Type of Chronic Wasting Disease
Detected in Moose (Alces alces), Norway. Emerg Infect Dis, 24(12), 2210-2218. doi:
10.3201/eid2412.180702

Plummer, I. H., Johnson, C. J., Chesney, A. R., Pedersen, J. A., and Samuel, M. D. (2018). Mineral licks as environmental reservoirs of chronic wasting disease prions. PLoS One, 13(5), e0196745. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196745

Popp, J.N., Priadka, P. & C. Kozmik (2018): The rise of moose co-management and integration of Indigenous Knowledge, Human Dimensions of Wildlife, DOI:10.1080/10871209.2019.1545953

Pritzkow, S., Morales, R., Moda, F., Khan, U., Telling, G. C., Hoover, E., and Soto, C. (2015). Grass plants bind, retain, uptake, and transport infectious prions. Cell Rep, 11(8), 1168-1175. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.04.036

Prusiner, S. B. (1982). Novel proteinaceous infectious particles cause scrapie. Science, 216(4542), 136-144.

Prusiner, S. B. (1998a). The prion diseases. Brain Pathol, 8(3), 499-513.

Prusiner, S. B. (1998b). Prions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95(23), 13363-13383.

Prusiner, S. B., Scott, M., Foster, D., Pan, K. M., Groth, D., Mirenda, C., Torchia, M., Yang, S. L., Serban, D., Carlson, G. A., and et al. (1990). Transgenetic studies implicate interactions between homologous PrP isoforms in scrapie prion replication. Cell, 63(4), 673-686. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90134-z

Pybus, M. J. (2012). *CWD program review 2012*. Government of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. Retrieved from <u>https://open.alberta.ca/publications/9781460128098</u>. (accessed July 2020).

Race, B., Meade-White, K. D., Miller, M. W., Barbian, K. D., Rubenstein, R., LaFauci, G., Cervenakova, L., Favara, C., Gardner, D., Long, D., Parnell, M., Striebel, J., Priola, S. A., Ward, A., Williams, E. S., Race, R., and Chesebro, B. (2009). Susceptibilities of nonhuman primates to chronic wasting disease. Emerg Infect Dis, 15(9), 1366-1376. doi: 10.3201/eid1509.090253

Race, B., Williams, K., and Chesebro, B. (2019). Transmission studies of chronic wasting disease to transgenic mice overexpressing human prion protein using the RT-QuIC assay. Vet Res, 50(1), 6. doi: 10.1186/s13567-019-0626-2

Race, B., Williams, K., Orru, C. D., Hughson, A. G., Lubke, L., and Chesebro, B. (2018). Lack of Transmission of Chronic Wasting Disease to Cynomolgus Macaques. J Virol, 92(14). doi: 10.1128/JVI.00550-18

Rasmussen, J., Gilroyed, B. H., Reuter, T., Dudas, S., Neumann, N. F., Balachandran, A., Kav, N. N., Graham, C., Czub, S., and McAllister, T. A. (2014). Can plants serve as a vector for prions causing chronic wasting disease? Prion, 8(1), 136-142. doi: 10.4161/pri.27963

Raymond, G. J., Raymond, L. D., Meade-White, K. D., Hughson, A. G., Favara, C., Gardner, D., Williams, E. S., Miller, M. W., Race, R. E., and Caughey, B. (2007). Transmission and adaptation of chronic wasting disease to hamsters and transgenic mice: evidence for strains. J Virol, 81(8), 4305-4314. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02474-06

Realtree. (2020). Is a Live Test for CWD on the Horizon? <u>https://www.realtree.com/brow-tines-and-backstrap/is-a-live-test-for-cwd-on-the-horizon</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Resources, W. D. o. N. (2019). CWD prevalence in Wisconsin. <u>https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/wildlifehabitat/prevalence.html#prevalence</u> (accessed August 2020).

Richards, B. (2020). Distribution of Chronic Wasting Disease in North America. United States Geological Survey (USGS) National Wildlife Health Center. <u>https://www.usgs.gov/media/images/distribution-</u> <u>chronic-wasting-disease-north-america-0</u> (accessed July 2020).

Rivera NA, Brandt AL, Novakofski JE, Mateus-Pinilla NE. (2019). Chronic Wasting Disease In Cervids: Prevalence, Impact And Management Strategies. Veterinary Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.) vol. 10 123-139. doi:10.2147/VMRR.S197404

Samuel, M. D., and Storm, D. J. (2016). Chronic wasting disease in white-tailed deer: infection, mortality, and implications for heterogeneous transmission. Ecology, 97(11), 3195-3205. doi: 10.1002/ecy.1538

Sandberg, M. K., Al-Doujaily, H., Sigurdson, C. J., Glatzel, M., O'Malley, C., Powell, C., Asante, E. A., Linehan, J. M., Brandner, S., Wadsworth, J. D., and Collinge, J. (2010). Chronic wasting disease prions are not transmissible to transgenic mice overexpressing human prion protein. J Gen Virol, 91(Pt 10), 2651-2657. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.024380-0

Salvage, Brian, 2010, Canada Investing in Cervid Industry Traceability, https://www.meatpoultry.com/articles/2651-canada-investing-in-cervid-industry-traceability (accessed December 2020)

Schaetzl, H. (2020). Zoonotic potential of CWD. Presented at One Health Workshop Series: Chronic Wasting Disease. September 30, 2020.

Schneider, R.R., Hauer, G., Adamowicz, W.L.V., Boutin, S. (2010). Triage for conserving populations of threatened species: The case of woodland caribou in Alberta. Biol. Conserv. 143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.002

Schneider, R.R., Hauer, G., Farr, D., Adamowicz, W.L., Boutin, S. (2011). Achieving conservation when opportunity costs are high: Optimizing reserve design in Alberta's oil sands region. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023254 Schramm, P., Johnson, C., Mathews, N., McKenzie, D., Aiken, J., and Pedersen, J. (2006). Potential role of soil in the transmission of prion disease. Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry, 64(1), 135-152.

Schwenke, K. A., Waelzlein, J. H., Schaetzl, H., Schulz-Schaeffer, W. J., Stahl-Hennig, C., Czub, S., and Beekes, M. (2019). Bank vole bioassay for detection of prion infection in CWD-challenged cynomolgus macaques. Prion Conference 2019 Book of Abstracts., Prion, 13:sup1. Paper presented at the PRION 2019 Emerging Concepts, Edmonton.

Seidl, A. F., & Koontz, S. R. (2004). Potential Economic Impacts of Chronic Wasting Disease in Colorado. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 9(3), 241–245. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200490480042

Selariu, A., Powers, J. G., Nalls, A., Brandhuber, M., Mayfield, A., Fullaway, S., Wyckoff, C. A., Goldmann, W., Zabel, M. M., Wild, M. A., Hoover, E. A., and Mathiason, C. K. (2015). In utero transmission and tissue distribution of chronic wasting disease-associated prions in free-ranging Rocky Mountain elk. J Gen Virol, 96(11), 3444-3455. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000281

Sigurdson, C. J., Mathiason, C. K., Perrott, M. R., Eliason, G. A., Spraker, T. R., Glatzel, M., Manco, G., Bartz, J. C., Miller, M. W., and Hoover, E. A. (2008). Experimental chronic wasting disease (CWD) in the ferret. J Comp Pathol, 138(4), 189-196. doi: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2008.01.004

Sohn, H. J., Kim, J. H., Choi, K. S., Nah, J. J., Joo, Y. S., Jean, Y. H., Ahn, S. W., Kim, O. K., Kim, D. Y., and Balachandran, A. (2002). A case of chronic wasting disease in an elk imported to Korea from Canada. J Vet Med Sci, 64(9), 855-858. doi: 10.1292/jvms.64.855

Spraker, T. R., Miller, M. W., Williams, E. S., Getzy, D. M., Adrian, W. J., Schoonveld, G. G., Spowart, R. A., O'Rourke, K. I., Miller, J. M., and Merz, P. A. (1997). Spongiform encephalopathy in free-ranging mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) and Rocky Mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni) in northcentral Colorado. J Wildl Dis, 33(1), 1-6. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-33.1.1

Stafford, N. T., Needham, M. D., Vaske, J. J., & Petchenik, J. (2007). Hunter and Nonhunter Beliefs about Chronic Wasting Disease in Wisconsin. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 71(5), 1739–1744. https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-557

Stewart, P., Campbell, L., Skogtvedt, S., Griffin, K. A., Arnemo, J. M., Tryland, M., Girling, S., Miller, M. W., Tranulis, M. A., and Goldmann, W. (2012). Genetic predictions of prion disease susceptibility in carnivore species based on variability of the prion gene coding region. PLoS One, 7(12), e50623. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050623

Supattapone, S., Bosque, P., Muramoto, T., Wille, H., Aagaard, C., Peretz, D., Nguyen, H. O., Heinrich, C., Torchia, M., Safar, J., Cohen, F. E., DeArmond, S. J., Prusiner, S. B., and Scott, M. (1999). Prion protein of 106 residues creates an artificial transmission barrier for prion replication in transgenic mice. Cell, 96(6), 869-878.

Tamguney, G., Giles, K., Bouzamondo-Bernstein, E., Bosque, P. J., Miller, M. W., Safar, J., DeArmond, S. J., and Prusiner, S. B. (2006). Transmission of elk and deer prions to transgenic mice. J Virol, 80(18), 9104-9114. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00098-06

Telfer, Edmund S., and George W. Scotter. (1975). Potential for Game Ranching in Boreal Aspen Forests of Western Canada. *Journal of Range Management* 28(3). https://journals.uair.arizona.edu/index.php/jrm/article/viewFile/6435/6045 (November 2020).

Tober, J. A. (1981). Who Owns the Wildlife? The political economy of conservation in nineteenth-century *America*. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press.

Tourism Saskatchewan Canada. (n.d.) Hunting Outfitters. <u>https://www.tourismsaskatchewan.com/things-to-do/hunting/hunting-outfitters (accessed November 30, 2020)</u>

Truong, T., Adamowicz, W., & Boxall, P. C. (2017). Modelling the Effect of Chronic Wasting Disease on Recreational Hunting Site Choice, Preferences and Choice Set Formation over Time. Environmental and Resource Economics. 70, 271–295 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-017-0120-0

Uehlinger, F., Johnston, A., Bollinger, T., Waldner, C. (2016). Systematic review of management strategies to control chronic wasting disease in wild deer populations in North America. BMC Vet. Res. 12, 173. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-016-0804-7

Vaske, J. J. (2010). Lessons Learned from Human Dimensions of Chronic Wasting Disease Research. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 15(3), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871201003775052

Vaske, J.J.; Miller, C.A. (2018). Hunters and non-hunters chronic wasting disease risk perceptions over time. Soc. Nat.Resour., 31, 1379–1388.

Vaske, J.J.; Miller, C.A. (2019). Deer hunters' disease risk sensitivity over time. Hum. Dimens. Wildl., 24, 217–230.

Vaske, J.J.; Miller, C.A.; Ashbrook, A.L.; Needham, M.D. (2018). Proximity to chronic wasting disease, perceived risk, and social trust in the managing agency. Hum. Dimens. Wildl., 23, 115–128.

Vaske, J.J.; Timmons, N.R.; Beaman, J.; Petchenik, J. (2004). Chronic wasting disease in Wisconsin: Hunter behavior, perceived risk, and agency trust. Hum. Dimens. Wildl., 9, 193–209.

Vikøren, T., Våge, J., Madslien, K. I., Roed, K. H., Rolandsen, C. M., Tran, L., Hopp, P., Veiberg, V., Heum, M., Moldal, T., Neves, C. G. D., Handeland, K., Ytrehus, B., Kolbjornsen, O., Wisloff, H., Terland, R., Saure, B., Dessen, K. M., Svendsen, S. G., Nordvik, B. S., and Benestad, S. L. (2019). First Detection of Chronic Wasting Disease in a Wild Red Deer (Cervus elaphus) in Europe. J Wildl Dis, 55(4), 970-972.

VKM. (2017). No CWD in Norway – a state of emergency for the future of cervids (Phase II)., Opinion of the panel on Biological Hazards. Oslo, Norway.

Waddell, L., Greig, J., Mascarenhas, M., Otten, A., Corrin, T., and Hierlihy, K. (2018). Current evidence on the transmissibility of chronic wasting disease prions to humans-A systematic review. Transbound Emerg Dis, 65(1), 37-49. doi: 10.1111/tbed.12612

Walsh, D. P. and Miller, M.W. (2010) A Weighted Surveillance Approach for Detecting Chronic Wasting Disease Foci. Journal of Wildlife Diseases: January 2010, Vol. 46, No. 1, pp. 118-135.

Westaway, D., Zuliani, V., Cooper, C. M., Da Costa, M., Neuman, S., Jenny, A. L., Detwiler, L., and Prusiner, S. B. (1994). Homozygosity for prion protein alleles encoding glutamine-171 renders sheep susceptible to natural scrapie. Genes Dev, 8(8), 959-969. doi: 10.1101/gad.8.8.959

Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA). (2017). Recommendations for Adaptive Management of Chronic Wasting Disease in the West. WAFWA Wildlife Health Committee and Mule Deer Working Group. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada and Fort Collins, Colorado, USA. https://wafwa.org/wpdm-package/recommendations-for-adaptive-management-of-chronic-wasting-disease-in-the-west/. (accessed November 2020)

Whitelaw, B. (2020). Accelerating Evolution. The Biologist. <u>https://thebiologist.rsb.org.uk/biologist/158-biologist/features/2245-accelerating-evolution</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Wild, M. A., Hobbs, N. T., Graham, M. S., and Miller, M. W. (2011). The role of predation in disease control: a comparison of selective and nonselective removal on prion disease dynamics in deer. J Wildl Dis, 47(1), 78-93. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-47.1.78

Wilkinson, D., Bennett, R., McFarlane, I., Rushton, S., Shirley, M., Smith, G.C., 2009. Cost-benefit analysis model of badger (Meles meles) culling to reduce cattle herd tuberculosis breakdowns in Britain, with particular reference to badger perturbation. J. Wildl. Dis. 45, 1062–1088. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-45.4.1062

Wilson, R., Plinston, C., Hunter, N., Casalone, C., Corona, C., Tagliavini, F., Suardi, S., Ruggerone, M., Moda, F., Graziano, S., Sbriccoli, M., Cardone, F., Pocchiari, M., Ingrosso, L., Baron, T., Richt, J., Andreoletti, O., Simmons, M., Lockey, R., Manson, J. C., and Barron, R. M. (2012). Chronic wasting disease and atypical forms of bovine spongiform encephalopathy and scrapie are not transmissible to mice expressing wild-type levels of human prion protein. J Gen Virol, 93(Pt 7), 1624-1629. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.042507-0

Williams, E.S., D. O'Toole, M.W. Miller, T. J. Kreeger, J.E. Jewell (2018). Cattle (Bos Taurus) resist chronic wasting disease following oral inoculation challenge or ten years' natural exposure in contaminated environments. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 54(3), 460-470.

Williams, E. S. (2005). Chronic wasting disease. Vet Pathol, 42(5), 530-549. doi: 10.1354/vp.42-5-530

Williams, E. S., and Miller, M. W. (2002). Chronic wasting disease in deer and elk in North America. Rev Sci Tech, 21(2), 305-316. doi: 10.20506/rst.21.2.1340

Williams, E. S., O'Toole, D., Miller, M. W., Kreeger, T. J., and Jewell, J. E. (2018). Cattle (Bos Taurus) Resist Chronic Wasting Disease Following Oral Inoculation Challenge or Ten Years' Natural Exposure in Contaminated Environments. J Wildl Dis, 54(3), 460-470. doi: 10.7589/2017-12-299

Williams, E. S., and Young, S. (1980). Chronic wasting disease of captive mule deer: a spongiform encephalopathy. J Wildl Dis, 16(1), 89-98.

Williams, E. S., and Young, S. (1982). Spongiform encephalopathy of Rocky Mountain elk. J Wildl Dis, 18(4), 465-471. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-18.4.465

Williams, E. S., and Young, S. (1992). Spongiform encephalopathies in Cervidae. Rev Sci Tech, 11(2), 551-567. doi: 10.20506/rst.11.2.611

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. (2020). CWD prevalence in Wisconsin: Retrieved 13/08/2020 from https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/wildlifehabitat/prevalence.

Xie, L., Adamowicz, W.L., Lloyd-Smith, P., 2020. Spatial and Temporal Responses to Incentives.

Yle. (2018). First case in Finland: Elk dies due to chronic wasting disease. <u>https://yle.fi/uutiset/osasto/news/first_case_in_finland_elk_dies_due_to_chronic_wasting_disease/101081</u> <u>15</u>. (accessed November 2020).

Yukon Government. (2020). How to keep livestock healthy. <u>https://yukon.ca/en/livestock-health#livestock-diseases</u>. (accessed October 2020).

Zimmer, N., Boxall, P. C., & Adamowicz, W. L. (2011). The impact of chronic wasting disease and its management on hunter perceptions, opinions, and behaviors in Alberta, Canada. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health -Part A: Current Issues, 74(22–24). https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2011.618988

Zimmer, N. M. P., Boxall, P. C., & Adamowicz, W. L. (2012). The Impacts of Chronic Wasting Disease and its Management on Recreational Hunters. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics, 60(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7976.2011.01232.x

| Characteristic | Definition ^a | General Public Framework | Hunter/Landowne r Framework |
|---|--|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Comprehensivene ss | The number and type of benefit streams conferred to users for holding property rights (Bromley 1991). These benefit streams may be in the form of use or passive-use values. | ~ | ~ |
| Exclusiveness | The extent to which property right holders can exclude others from accessing the benefits of a property right (Luckert et al. 2011) | ~ | ~ |
| Operational Requirements and Controls | The rules that property rights holders must abide by in order to receive, or continue to receive, the benefits of their property rights, as well as how these rules are enforced (Luckert et al. 2011) | ~ | ~ |
| Levies and Fees | Monetary payments that a rights holder must pay in order to obtain or maintain rights (Luckert et al. 2011) | ~ | ~ |
| Security | How certain rights holders are that their rights will be assured and protected in the future (Arnot et al. 2011) | ~ | ~ |
| Social Conditions Surrounding Passive-Use Values | The influence of social conditions, which while directly affecting other stakeholder's use values, indirectly affect the passive-use values of the general public. | ~ | |
| Initial Allocation | The way in which property rights are first allocated to property rights holders (Luckert et al. 2011) | | ~ |
| Residency/Age Requirements | Necessary age and residency requirements that an individual must meet in order attain and hold property rights | | ~ |

Appendix 1: Property right characteristics used for describing cervid benefit streams for the General Public and Hunter/Landowners (Source: Durocher and Luckert, 2020).

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute

Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

| Size Specification | An indication of the size of the property right (Haley and Luckert 1990) | ~ |
|--------------------|---|---|
| Allotment Type | Whether the property rights are granted on an area or volume basis (Haley and Luckert 1990) | ~ |
| Transferability | Whether or not rights can be reassigned or sold between individuals or groups (Haley and Luckert 1990) | ~ |
| Duration | The period over which rights can be exercised, and whether, and under what conditions, the rights can be renewed or replaced with similar rights agreements (Luckert et al. 2011) | ~ |

^a The sources provided here do not, necessarily, reflect the original source for each of the property right characteristics. Instead the sources document the definitions used here.

Appendix 2: Cervid Property Rights in Alberta

| Appendix 2a: Cervid Pro | perty Rights Frameworl | k for the General | Public in Alberta |
|-------------------------|------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| | | | |

| Property Right | Content of the Property Rights Framework |
|--------------------|---|
| Characteristic | |
| Comprehensiveness | Property rights held by the general public include non-consumptive benefit streams such as passive-use values, which are |
| | associated with an appreciation for wildlife and having it exist on the landscape. The passive-use values have public good |
| | properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from |
| | benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be |
| | considered a non-consumptive use value. |
| Exclusiveness | The passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals |
| | on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in |
| | viewing wildlife would be if the fees associated with entering National Parks prevented some individuals from viewing |
| | wildlife in the Parks. ^a |
| Levies and Fees | Management of public land requires tax revenue from the general public in addition to funding derived from hunting and |
| | fishing licenses. There may also be fees that users must pay in order to access the property right; for example, members |
| | of the public must pay National Park entrance fees in order to enter the parks. ^a |
| Operational | Laws and regulations apply for public interactions with wildlife. One of these regulations is the restriction on the |
| Requirements and | disturbance of habitat. ^b |
| Controls | |
| Security | Wildlife in Alberta is maintained in perpetuity for the citizens of the province by the federal government in National |
| | Parks and by the provincial government elsewhere. ^{a,b} Security is influenced by both the management of wildlife, the |
| | success of which is uncertain, and the variability in the wildlife resources as a result of ecological pressures. |
| Social Conditions | The passive-use values associated with wildlife and its management may increase or decrease depending on the social |
| Surrounding | conditions established by new regulations or changes to current regulations. |
| Passive-Use Values | |

^a Government of Canada 2017

^b Government of Alberta 2014a

| Property Right | Content of the Property Rights Framework |
|-------------------|--|
| Characteristic | |
| Comprehensiveness | Rights to hunt involve many benefit streams, including: the right to access land, the right to pursue game, the right to |
| | harvest an animal, and the rights to the products derived from the animal. Rights to pursue, harvest and use the products |
| | derived from animals are granted through hunting tags. Hunting tags, which accompany hunting licenses, are specific to |
| | species, and frequently specify sex and size/age of harvested animals. ^a Access rights depend upon whether the land is |
| | privately or publicly held because, while public land typically has open access rights, landowners get to choose who can |
| | access their private land. ^a Specific permits are required to discharge firearms in: Provincial Parks; Provincial Recreation |
| | Areas; Natural Areas (may be subject to access conditions) and Heritage Rangelands (subject to grazing lease access |
| | conditions). ^{b,c} Firearms cannot be discharged in Wilderness Areas, Ecological Reserves or National Parks. ^{c,d} |
| Exclusiveness | Hunters have non-exclusive rights to pursue cervids (along with other hunters) on public lands within wildlife |
| | management units (WMUs). Rights to access land for hunting are non-exclusive on public land, except in the case of |
| | informal norms where one hunter may avoid entering an area if another hunter is already present. ^a Rights to access land |
| | for hunting are exclusive to the landowner on private land. However, the landowner may choose to allow access to |
| | individuals of their choosing, and hunters must ask for permission to access the land even when following a blood |
| | trail. ^{a,e} In the case of a grazing lease, hunters must obtain permission from the leaseholder prior to hunting. ^a Harvest |
| | rights are exclusive to a tag holder who harvests and tags an animal. ^a Harvest rights may sometimes be shared through a |
| | partner license where both hunters must be present. ^a Rights to the products derived from a harvested animal are |
| | exclusive to the hunter/partner. ^a |
| Operational | There are a large number of operational requirements and controls for hunting activities. Examples of operational |
| Requirements and | requirements include: new hunters must pass a hunter education course; bow hunters require a bow hunting permit; no |
| Controls | firing of weapons within 183m of an occupied building, across roads, or within a distance of 20 feet from roads; no |
| | hunting one half hour before sunrise or one half hour after sunset; no hunting from a moving vehicle, boat, etc.; no |
| | shooting an animal while it is swimming; the submission of heads from harvested deer for CWD testing is mandatory in |
| | some WMUs; must abide by weapon and caliber requirements; cannot hunt within 6 hours of disembarking from an |
| | aircraft. ^{a,g} Outfitters cannot hunt recreationally on the same day that they guide. ^f The primary means of controlling |
| | operational requirements in the field is through the deployment of fish and wildlife officers, conservation officers and |
| | RCMP officers who have the authority to impose penalties for infractions. ^g |

Appendix 2b: Cervid Property Rights Framework for Hunters and Landowners in Alberta

| Levies and Fees | Costs for purchasing hunting rights include: \$8 for a WIN (Wildlife Identification Number) card; \$28.22 for a wildlife |
|-----------------------|--|
| | certificate; the purchase of tags (eg. for Alberta residents \$39.95 for a general white-tailed deer (white-tailed deer) |
| | licence, \$39.95 for an antlered white-tailed deer special licence; \$39.95 for a general mule deer (mule deer) licence, |
| | \$39.95 for an antlered mule deer special licence; \$44.95 for an archery moose licence, \$44.95 for an antlerless moose |
| | special licence, \$44.95 for an antlered moose special licence, \$44.95 for a calf moose special licence, \$12.00 for a |
| | special antlered moose partner licence or \$12.00 for a special antlerless moose partner licence; \$39.95 for a general elk |
| | licence, \$39.95 for an antlerless elk special licence, \$39.95 for an antlered elk special licence, \$39.95 for a Cypress |
| | Hills elk archery licence, \$39.95 for an either sex elk special licence or \$39.95 for a WMU 300 elk special licence. ^a \$27 |
| | for a hunter-host license, \$250 (one-time fee) for a big game outfitter permit with a \$25 renewal fee per year). ^{a,f} Fees are |
| | higher for non-residents and vary with choice of weapon. ^a |
| Security | There is a long history of the Alberta government allocating rights to hunt, implying that the allocation of hunting rights |
| | will continue into the future. ^g Hunting and other practices of wildlife utilization are protected under law. ^h However, the |
| | conditions under which rights are granted are continuously changing. For example, whether supplemental white-tailed |
| | deer permits are allowed in a given WMU may vary between years. ^a The accumulation of priority points and the |
| | investments hunters make into their hunting locations show their level of confidence in the continued availability of |
| | hunting rights. |
| Initial Allocation of | Hunting rights are allocated by the province of Alberta with the purchase of a WIN card, wildlife certificate and |
| Rights | licenses/tags (some of which are generally available and some of which are draws). ^a Hunter-outfitters are allocated their |
| | rights by firstly being recommended by an outfitter-guide in their first year and secondly by applying to be a big game |
| | outfitter-guide and becoming a member of the Alberta Professional Outfitters Society. ^f Landowners can be allocated |
| | additional hunting rights through applications for Landowner Special Licenses. ^a |
| Residency and Age | An applicant for a hunting license must be a resident of Alberta and be 12 years of age. In order to hunt without |
| Requirements | supervision an applicant must be 18 years of age. ^e Non-resident Canadians and non-resident aliens can only hunt with |
| | resident hunter-hosts or outfitters. ^{a,t} |
| Size Specification | A single adult resident hunter may firstly hold up to four of the following (allowing the hunting of a single cervid): |
| | either a general white-tailed deer licence or an antlered white-tailed deer special licence; either a general mule deer |
| | licence or an antlered mule deer special licence; an archery moose licence, an antlerless moose special licence, an |
| | antlered moose special licence, a calf moose special licence, a special antlered moose partner licence or a special |
| | antlerless moose partner licence; a general elk licence, an antlerless elk special licence, an antlered elk special licence, a |
| | Cypress Hills elk archery licence, an either-sex elk special licence or a WMU 300 elk special licence. ^a An adult resident |

| | hunter may also apply for other licenses including supplemental white-tailed deer licenses. ^a The number of draws available often depends upon population numbers and meeting specific conservation goals. ^a Landowner Special |
|-----------------|---|
| | Licenses allocate rights for the harvest of additional animals. ^a |
| Allotment Type | Quantities of animals harvested are controlled by the number of licenses/tags issued. ⁱ Allocated licenses/tags specify the WMU(s) within which they may be used. ⁱ |
| Transferability | Licenses and draw applications are non-transferable. ⁱ Outfitters can transfer their tag allotment to another outfitter with approval from the Government of Alberta. ^j There are no regulations that prohibit cash payments for the transfer. ^j Landowners cannot sell access to their land. ^a Some products derived from hunted animals can be transferred between users with a Bill of Lading and processed products may be transferred without a Bill of Lading. ^a However, none of these products may be sold; they may however be gifted if there is no expectation of reciprocity. ^{e,f} |
| Duration | Licenses or draws are allocated annually and subject to set seasons based upon the weapon of choice and the WMU in which rights are granted. ^a Hunting may also be limited to Mon-Sat or Wed-Sat hunting depending on the WMU. ^a Although licenses are granted annually, hunters have expectations of repeated availability. Priority points (which may be accumulated to increase probabilities of being drawn) are allocated on an annual basis and can be accumulated over multiple years. ⁱ Outfitters must renew their allocation each year and may be reviewed every 5 years. ^{e,f} WIN cards are valid for a period of 5 years. ^a |

^a AEP 2017a

^bGovernment of Alberta 2017

^cGovernment of Alberta 2014b

^d Government of Canada 2017

^eCWD and property rights workshop, November 16, 2017

^f Alberta Professional Outfitters Society 2017

^g Government of Alberta 2014a

^hGovernment of Alberta 2008

ⁱ AEP 2017b

^jEmail communication with Anne Hubbs, Government of Alberta (October 13, 2017)

Appendix 3: Cervid Property Rights in Saskatchewan

Appendix 3.1 Cervid Property Rights Framework for the General Public in Saskatchewan

| CharacteristicComprehensivenessProperty rights held by the general public include non-consumptive benefit streams such as passive-use values, which are associated with an appreciation for wildlife and having it exist on the landscape. The passive-use values have public good properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be considered a non-consumptive use value.ExclusivenessThe passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | Property Right | Content of the Property Rights Framework |
|--|--------------------|--|
| ComprehensivenessProperty rights held by the general public include non-consumptive benefit streams such as passive-use values, which ar associated with an appreciation for wildlife and having it exist on the landscape. The passive-use values have public good properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be considered a non-consumptive use value.ExclusivenessThe passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | Characteristic | |
| associated with an appreciation for wildlife and having it exist on the landscape. The passive-use values have public goo properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be considered a non-consumptive use value.ExclusivenessThe passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | Comprehensiveness | Property rights held by the general public include non-consumptive benefit streams such as passive-use values, which are |
| properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be considered a non-consumptive use value.ExclusivenessThe passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | | associated with an appreciation for wildlife and having it exist on the landscape. The passive-use values have public good |
| benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be considered a non-consumptive use value. Exclusiveness The passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | | properties in that one individual's use of their property rights typically does not exclude or prevent others from |
| considered a non-consumptive use value. Exclusiveness The passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | | benefitting from the resource. There is also value associated with viewing animals on the landscape and this can be |
| Exclusiveness The passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | | considered a non-consumptive use value. |
| on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in | Exclusiveness | The passive-use values of cervids held by the general public are generally non-exclusive. The value of viewing animals |
| | | on the landscape is also generally non-exclusive but can be exclusive in some cases. An example of this exclusivity in |
| viewing wildlife would be if the fees associated with entering National Parks prevented some individuals from viewing | | viewing wildlife would be if the fees associated with entering National Parks prevented some individuals from viewing |
| wildlife in the Parks. ^a | | wildlife in the Parks. ^a |
| Levies and Fees Management of public land requires tax revenue from the general public in addition to funding derived from hunting and | Levies and Fees | Management of public land requires tax revenue from the general public in addition to funding derived from hunting and |
| fishing licenses. There may also be fees that users must pay in order to access the property right; for example, members | | fishing licenses. There may also be fees that users must pay in order to access the property right; for example, members |
| of the public must pay National Park entrance fees in order to enter the parks. ^a | | of the public must pay National Park entrance fees in order to enter the parks. ^a |
| Operational Laws and regulations apply for public interactions with wildlife. One of these regulations is the restriction on the | Operational | Laws and regulations apply for public interactions with wildlife. One of these regulations is the restriction on the |
| Requirements and disturbance of habitat. ^b | Requirements and | disturbance of habitat. ^b |
| Controls | Controls | |
| Security Wildlife in Saskatchewan is maintained in perpetuity for the citizens of the province by the federal government in | Security | Wildlife in Saskatchewan is maintained in perpetuity for the citizens of the province by the federal government in |
| National Parks and by the provincial government elsewhere. ^{a,b} Security is influenced by both the management of wildlife | | National Parks and by the provincial government elsewhere. ^{a,b} Security is influenced by both the management of wildlife, |
| the success of which is uncertain, and the variability in the wildlife resources as a result of ecological pressures. | | the success of which is uncertain, and the variability in the wildlife resources as a result of ecological pressures. |
| Social Conditions The passive-use values associated with wildlife and its management may increase or decrease depending on the social | Social Conditions | The passive-use values associated with wildlife and its management may increase or decrease depending on the social |
| Surrounding conditions established by new regulations or changes to current regulations. | Surrounding | conditions established by new regulations or changes to current regulations. |
| Passive-Use Values | Passive-Use Values | |

^a Government of Canada 2017

^b Government of Saskatchewan 1998

| Property Right | Content of the Property Rights Framework |
|-------------------|--|
| Characteristic | |
| Comprehensiveness | Rights to hunt involve many benefit streams, including: the right to access land, the right to pursue game, the right to harvest an animal, and the rights to the products derived from the animal. Rights to pursue, harvest and use the products |
| | derived from animals are granted through hunting licenses. Hunting licenses are specific to species, and frequently |
| | specify sex and size/age of harvested animals. ^a Access rights depend upon whether the land is privately or publicly held |
| | because, while public land typically has open access rights, landowners get to choose who can access their private land. ^a |
| | Specific regulations apply for hunting in Provincial Parks and Recreation Sites. ^b Firearms cannot be discharged in National Parks. ^c |
| Exclusiveness | Hunters have non-exclusive rights to pursue cervids (along with other hunters) on public lands within wildlife |
| | management units (WMZs). Rights to access land for hunting are non-exclusive on public land, except in the case of informal norms where one hunter may avoid entering an area if another hunter is already present. ^a Rights to access land |
| | for hunting are exclusive to the landowner on private land. However, the landowner may choose to allow access to |
| | individuals of their choosing, and hunters must ask for permission to access the land even when following a blood trail. ^a |
| | In the case of leased land, hunters must obtain permission from the leaseholder prior to hunting. ^b Harvest rights are |
| | exclusive to a tag holder who harvests and tags an animal. ^a Rights to the products derived from a harvested animal are |
| | exclusive to the hunter. ^a |
| Operational | There are a large number of operational requirements and controls for hunting activities. Examples of operational |
| Requirements and | requirements include: new hunters must pass a hunter education course; bow hunters require a bow hunting permit; no |
| Controls | firing of weapons within 500m of an occupied building, across or along roads; no hunting one half hour before sunrise |
| | or one half hour after sunset; no hunting from a moving vehicle, boat, etc.; hunters must abide by weapon and caliber |
| | requirements; hunters cannot use vehicles, boats or aircraft to pursue animals. ^b The primary means of controlling |
| | operational requirements in the field is through the deployment of fish and wildlife officers, conservation officers and |
| | RCMP officers who have the authority to impose penalties for infractions. ^a |
| Levies and Fees | Costs for purchasing hunting rights include: \$15 for a wildlife habitat certificate; the purchase of tags (eg. for |
| | Saskatchewan residents): \$40 for a general white-tailed deer licence, \$30 for an antlerless white-tailed deer licence; \$45 |
| | for a mule deer draw; \$40 for a moose licence, \$65 for a moose draw; \$40 for a general elk licence, \$65 for an elk |
| | draw. ^b Fees are higher for non-residents and vary with choice of weapon. ^b |

Appendix 3.2 Cervid Property Rights Framework for Hunters in Saskatchewan

| Security Initial Allocation of Rights | There is a long history of the Saskatchewan government allocating rights to hunt, implying that the allocation of hunting rights will continue into the future. ^d Hunting and other practices of wildlife utilization are protected under law. ^d However, the conditions under which rights are granted are continuously changing. For example, whether licenses will be available in all WMZ may vary between years. ^a The priority pool system and the investments hunters make into their hunting locations show their level of confidence in the continued availability of hunting rights. ^e Hunting rights are allocated by the province of Saskatchewan through signing up for a Hunting and Angling License (HAL) account and by purchasing a wildlife certificate and licenses (some of which are generally available and some of which are draws). ^b |
|---|--|
| Residency and Age Requirements | An applicant for a hunting license must be a resident of Saskatchewan and be 12 years of age. Generally, in order to hunt without supervision an applicant must be 18 years of age, however 16-17 year olds may hunt unsupervised provided that they meet firearms regulations. ^b Resident Canadians and non-residents can only hunt with guides or outfitters, except in the case of resident Canadian hunters (from outside Saskatchewan) who are hunting white-tailed deer, who can do so without a guide if they wish. ^b |
| Size Specification | A single adult resident hunter may hold (allowing the hunting of a single cervid): a first Saskatchewan resident license, first Saskatchewan resident antlerless license and a second Saskatchewan resident antlerless white-tailed deer license; a Saskatchewan resident elk license and a Saskatchewan resident elk draw; a Saskatchewan resident moose license and a Saskatchewan resident archery mule deer license, a Saskatchewan resident mule deer draw, a first Saskatchewan resident antlerless mule deer draw and a second Saskatchewan resident antlerless mule deer draw. ^b However, notwithstanding these allotments, a hunter may not hold both a regular and draw big game license for the same species and they may not hold two licenses of the same license type in any one year. ^b The number of draws available often depends upon population numbers and meeting specific conservation goals. ^b |
| Allotment Type | Quantities of animals harvested are controlled by the number of licenses issued. ^b Allocated licenses specify the WMZ(s) within which they may be used. ^b |
| Transferability | Licenses and draw applications are non-transferable. ^a Landowners may charge for access to their land if they are operating a hunt farm. Some products derived from hunted animals can be moved within the province and out of province with the appropriate license or an export permit. ^f |
| Duration | Licenses or draws are allocated annually and subject to set seasons based upon the weapon of choice and the WMZ in which rights are granted. ^{b,e} Although licenses are granted annually, hunters have expectations of repeated availability. The priority pool system allows hunters to increase in priority as years go by in order to increase draw probabilities. ^e |

- ^a Government of Saskatchewan 1998
- ^bGovernment of Saskatchewan 2019
- ^cGovernment of Canada 2017
- ^dGovernment of Saskatchewan 2010
- ^eGovernment of Saskatchewan 2020
- ^f Government of Saskatchewan 1981
Appendix 4: Potential CWD management actions and the corresponding affected property right characteristics for hunters and landowners (Source: Durocher and Luckert, 2020).

| Management Action | Hunter Property | Landowner Property |
|--|------------------------------|------------------------------|
| | Right Characteristics | Right Characteristics |
| Allowing landowners to charge hunters for access | Levies and Fees; | Comprehensiveness; |
| to private land | Transferability | Transferability |
| Using hunters to increase harvest on public land | Size Specification | |
| Extending the hunting season by 2 weeks | Duration | |
| Doubling the number of available tags | Size Specification | |
| Providing free tags in CWD-endemic areas | Levies and Fees; | |
| | Size Specification | |
| | Operational | |
| Distributing \$50 and a tag to hunters who submit | Requirements and | |
| heads that test positive for CWD | Controls; | |
| | Size Specification | |
| Restricted movement of carcasses and hunted | Operational | |
| products | Requirements and | |
| products | Controls | |
| Requiring unwanted animal parts be disposed of | Operational | |
| | Requirements and | |
| | Controls | |
| Government compensation to landowners for | | Comprehensiveness; |
| providing access to hunters | | Transferability |
| Requiring landowners to allow government | | Operational |
| sharpshooters on private land | | Requirements and |
| | | Controls |
| Increasing the number of available landowner | | Size Specification |
| special licenses | | Size Specification |
| Providing extra tags to landowners who work | | Operational |
| cooperatively with their neighbours to manage | | Requirements and |
| their lands for CWD | | Controls; |
| | | Size Specification |
| Mandatory environmental sampling ^a on private | | Operational |
| land to identify areas in need of CWD | | Requirements and |
| management | | Controls |
| Providing extension services to landowners who | | Comprehensiveness; |
| work cooperatively with their neighbours to | | Operational |
| manage their lands for CWD | | Requirements and |
| | | Controls |

Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute Chronic Wasting Disease and the Canadian Agriculture and Agri-food Sectors: Current Knowledge, Risks and Policy Options

^a The environmental sampling referred to here is dependent on new technology which would allow quick on-site testing of environmental samples such as soil and plants in order to check for the presence of CWD prions. Such technology is currently under development as part of the Genome Canada project that is funding this work.